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Chairman’s Letter

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors
(the “Directors”) of CPMC Holdings Limited (the
“Company”), | am pleased to present the audited
annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group” or “CPMC”) for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”).

Over the past three years, development of the world
has been marked by the global pandemic, conflicts,
inflation, and monetary contraction, all of which led
to a volatile and unpredictable international situation.
The overlapping of multiple factors has caused
the consumer market to undergo repeated shocks,
thereby undermining confidence of consumers. In
2023, as a return to normalcy gradually took shape,
“stimulating consumption” emerged as a central theme
for development. One after another, governments
worldwide introduced policies to encourage
consumption, rebuild confidence and inject vitality
into the economy. Although the overall consumption
recovery missed expectations in the Year, CPMC,
with a focus on market-oriented, risk-prevented
and high-quality development, was able to foster
a new development mode that is of higher quality,
more efficient and more competitive by acting on
the principle of seeking progress while maintaining
stability, seizing opportunities and rising to challenges. The Group achieved a sales volume of over RMB10
billion and a record net profit during the Year, which represented another satisfactory report card to the general
investors.

Adhering to high-quality development, the Group continuously improved its core competitiveness and
coordinated both domestic and international markets with a focus on core businesses, while promoting R&D
and innovation in an effort to become an internationally renowned “leader of the comprehensive consumer
goods packaging industry”. CPMC continued to leverage on its diversified business advantages in aluminium
packaging, tinplate packaging and plastic packaging and take the initiative in practical work to improve its
strategic layout and consolidate its leading position in the industry. By taking the initiative in practical work,
we will expedite the implementation of key strategic projects in a high quality manner. The newly-built two-
piece can production line projects in Kunming and Shenyang all achieved profitability in the same year of
putting into production; and the newly-added third two-piece can production line project in Chengdu initially
produced fruitful results in the second half of the Year. In cooperation with Wanhua Chemical, a leading player
in the domestic new chemical material industry, CPMC continued to accelerate its production capacity layout.
Following the projects in Yantai and Fujian, new cooperation has been established, which left our footprints
in Xinjiang swiftly in July this year, further expanding our layout. We have also proactively innovated in new
business co-operation mode through the establishment of Yangzhou Company, which promptly filled the gap
of the Group’s steel barrels business in the Ningbo-Zhenjiang-Yangzhou region. On top of its ongoing efforts
in improving its strategic layout and consolidating its leading position in the metal packaging industry, the
Group also placed emphasis on product diversification by successively launching the 1L fresh beer cans and
Heineken 5L abnormal-shaped beer cans projects, both of which have already been put into mass production.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Chairman’s Letter

The Group is deeply engaged in the field of metal packaging manufacturing. In recent years, the Group has
made great efforts to build a “3+N” technology innovation platform, completely mastered the domestically
leading digital development technology for new packaging products, promoted the digital transformation
of flexible packaging design of new products, and realised in-depth bonding with major customers. The
Group improved and optimised the intelligent visual inspection system, and independently developed core
algorithms and hardware and software to enhance the accuracy of inspection and meet the high requirements
of customers on product quality. It also explored the research and development of new packaging material
solutions, taking new materials as an important engine for the Company’s high-quality development. Taking the
plastic business as a pilot project of intelligent manufacturing, the Group insisted on the independent research
and development of innovative software and Internet of Things (loT) data acquisition framework structure,
which resulted in fundamental changes in the mode of plant management and control, and helped to realise the
goals of “safe production, energy saving and consumption reduction, quality improvement, cost reduction and
efficiency enhancement, and environmental protection”. Innovative research and development and intelligent
manufacturing have become a key element in the industry’s transition towards high-end safe and eco-friendly
production, as well as a manifestation of the long-term quality improvement and efficiency enhancement and the
improved core competitiveness of an enterprise. The Group will keep on building up its technology innovation
capability to consolidate its competitive advantages in the industry in terms of technology, product, customer,
influence, etc.

Looking ahead in the new year, high-quality development and risk prevention and control remain the key to the
development of the Group. Focusing on its core business, CPMC endeavours to create value for customers
and shareholders, and continuously improves and promotes manufacturing upgrades to achieve green carbon
reduction.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | wish to express our sincere gratitude to the management and all the staff of the
Group for their valuable service and contribution during the past year. | would also like to express our heartfelt
gratitude to our customers, suppliers, business partners, and shareholders for their continuous support to the
Group.

Zhang Xin
Chairman of the Board
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General Manager’s Report

In 2023, CPMC made a determined effort to rise to the
challenges of market environment and the pressure
of industry competition. With the concerted efforts
of the team, CPMC continued to maintain a good
development trend, and its sales revenue continued to
exceed the RMB10 billion threshold.

Against the backdrop of intensified competition
in the industry, CPMC clarified its development
strategy to focus on market demands, strengthen
innovation-driven development, optimise the quality of
services and expand its business areas. The Group
concentrated on enhancing its core competitiveness
to cope with turbulence in the market. In this regard,
it endeavoured to reinforce and enhance the “3+N”
technology innovation system, increase investment in
technology innovation and talent cultivation, refine the
direction of research and development (R&D), and
promote R&D achievement application and product
quality upgrading. Moreover, the Group further
optimised production processes, reduced costs and
improved capacity utilisation through quality and
efficiency enhancement and benchmarking exercises,
to generate benefits from R&D achievements and
continuously improve gross profit margins.

The profitability of aluminium packaging business grew
steadily. In the two-piece can segment, competition
in the industry intensified. However, through the refined management efforts of the team, strict internal control
over product quality and the improvement of customer service quality, the Group further deepened its co-
operation with major customers, stabilised product prices, and maintained the growth in supply to major
customers. During the Year, the new plant in Yunnan, the third production line in Chengdu and the new plant
complementary can types in Shenyang were put into operation successively, which effectively expanded
production capacity, realised in the southwest region, and filled the production capacity gap in the northeast
region. The Hungary project, as an important step in the further implementation of the “Going global” strategy,
commenced construction officially during the Year, expanding the Group’s business footprint in Europe and
fostering the formation of meaningful synergies in the European market. In the aluminium single-piece can
segment, the Group actively coped with market changes and promoted the development of new customers and
new products, thereby maintaining a high level of profitability.

e

The Group’s tinplate packaging business has a wide range of product lines, which recorded different
performance in the niche markets. In order to achieve sustainable business development, the Group took
multiple measures to explore products that meet market expectations and cater for market demands, attract
customers with high-quality and differentiated products, optimise the demand order structure and vigorously
promote cost reduction. Meanwhile, the Group set up a key account management team and established an
integrated service model for strategic customers, in order to maintain its market share with major customers and
keep its leading position in multiple market segments such as milk powder cans, spray cans, twist caps, steel
barrels, etc. The steel barrel business followed the market-oriented development path, explored new modes
of cooperation with private enterprises, and successfully promoted the implementation of the light-asset steel
barrel project in Yangzhou, which is bound to optimise our integrated business layout in the Yangtze River Delta
region.

CPMC Holdings Limited



General Manager’'s Report

The Group’s plastic business endeavoured to optimise its customer and product structures, and consolidate
its cooperation with customers of household chemical products. As a result, its market shares with customers
including Blue Moon and Unilever all achieved growth. Besides, this segment further expanded the proportion
of food product customers to enrich its multi-category product portfolio. Driven by technology, the smart plastic
packaging manufacturing system has made remarkable progress. Since the trial run of the system, production
efficiency, loss control and abnormality control have all been significantly improved, and the traditional
production site management has undergone a subversive change from relying entirely on site managers to a
digitalised control model.

CPMC actively addressed the call of green and environmental protection policies, aligned itself with
international standards, and took practical actions to honour the concept of green development. The Group
actively advanced the implementation of photovoltaic projects and successfully completed the installation of
11 megawatts of photovoltaic systems, bringing its annual power generation capacity to 13 million kWh. At the
same time, the Group has been promoting its energy-saving and carbon reduction projects by exploring and
piloting technologies such as energy-saving air compressors, energy-saving exhaust gas treatment and energy-
saving drying rooms, in each case being attentive to details, and eliminated outdated electrical and mechanical
equipment to improve energy efficiency. The Group has always insisted on risk monitoring and systematic
control over the entire process from source to product, and has continuously improved its quality management
system to ensure the entire-process compliance of its products and the controllability of food safety risks.

In 2024, the Group will monitor market changes closely, remain confident and enterprising, capitalise on the
trend of industry development to expand its market and stabilise its growth. The Group will also innovate in
development model, increase its investment in R&D to enhance the core competitiveness of its products,
improve its profitability and return on investment, and reward customers with high-quality products and services,
thus creating greater value for its shareholders.

Zhang Ye
Executive Director and General Manager
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sale of packaging products used for consumer
goods such as food, beverages and household chemical products, extensively covering the packaging markets
of tea beverages, carbonated beverages, fruit and vegetable beverages, beer, dairy products, household
chemical products and other consumer goods. In addition, the Group provides comprehensive packaging
solutions including high technological packaging design, printing, logistics and comprehensive customer
services. As a leading metal packaging provider in the PRC, the Group is committed to developing into the
leader of the comprehensive consumer goods packaging industry in the PRC. The products of the Group mainly
include aluminium packaging, tinplate packaging and plastic packaging. The Group carries out operations
through 38 operating subsidiaries and their branches and 3 joint ventures (which are strategically located in
different regions of the PRC), an offshore operating subsidiary and an offshore joint venture in order to serve
customers more efficiently. Ranking first in multiple market segments, the Group has earned the appreciation
and trust of many well-known brands domestically and abroad, and established a solid customer base,
including domestically and internationally renowned enterprises in the high-end consumer goods industry.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Aluminium Packaging

The Group uses aluminium as the main raw material for its aluminium packaging products, which mainly
include two-piece beverage cans (two-piece cans) and one-piece cans. Aluminium packaging products
are characterised by a high degree of automatic production and full product recyclability, etc., and has
been one of the Company’s core businesses in recent years.

In 2023, the Group proactively optimised its regional production capacity layout, and had its new plants
and production lines commissioned one after another, laying a solid foundation for its development.
In addition, it continued to promote internal tapping and efficiency enhancement, steadily releasing
new production capacity, building regional multi-type can supply capacity and enhancing core
competitiveness. In 2023, the Group’s sales revenue from aluminium packaging was approximately
RMB5,346 million (2022: approximately RMB5,368 million), which was basically flat from 2022, accounting
for approximately 52.1% of the overall sales (2022: approximately 52.3%). The gross profit margin of the
aluminium packaging business was approximately 14.6% in 2023 (2022: approximately 12.4%).

Two-Piece Beverage Cans (Two-Piece Cans)

Two-piece cans products are primarily used for the packaging of beer, carbonated drinks and tea
beverages. In 2023, the Group’s sales revenue from the two-piece can business was approximately
RMB5, 146 million (2022: approximately RMB5,186 million), which was basically flat from 2022. Renowned
customers of the Group’s two-piece can business include Anheuser-Busch InBev, Coca-Cola, CR Snow
Breweries, JDB, Carlsberg and Tsingtao Brewery.

One-Piece Cans

One-piece cans products are primarily used for the packaging of household chemical products, beers,
carbonated drinks and medical products. In 2023, the Group’s sales revenue from one-piece can products
was approximately RMB200 million (2022: approximately RMB182 million), representing an increase of
9.9% over 2022. Renowned customers of the Group’s one-piece cans business include Anheuser-Busch

J=ENE

InBev, Sinochem Group and Qingyuan Laptop (F#&7#8), etc.

Tinplate Packaging

The Group uses tinplate as the primary raw material for its tinplate packaging, the products of which
include milk powder cans, aerosol cans, metal caps, steel barrels and other metal packaging. The Group
is in a leading position in a number of market segments, with milk powder cans, twist caps, aerosol cans
and steel barrels ranking No. 1 in market shares nationwide.

In 2023, the Group continued to promote internal tapping and achieved profitability enhancement through
optimisation of supply chain management. In the meantime, the Group placed emphasis on the innovation
and commercialization of new products to explore new avenues for growth in a proactive manner. In
addition, the Group continued to consolidate its cooperation with core customers and maintained the
leading position of its milk powder can business in the respective market segment. Steel barrels business
further improved its regional business layout, thereby beefing up its scale advantage, and steadily
increased its gross profit margin through integration and standardisation efforts as well as optimisation of
its customer structure. In 2023, sales revenue from the Group’s tinplate packaging business amounted to
approximately RMB4,210 million (2022: approximately RMB4,213 million), which was basically flat from
2022, accounting for approximately 41.0% of the overall sales (2022: approximately 41.1%). The gross
profit margin of the tinplate packaging business in 2023 was approximately 17.1% (2022: approximately
12.4%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Milk Powder Cans
MANAGEMENT Milk powder cans are mainly used for the packaging of infant formula milk powder, health food and other
DISCUSSION products. The Group is the largest milk powder can manufacturer in the PRC. In 2023, the sales revenue

AND ANALYSIS

from the milk powder can business amounted to approximately RMB774 million (2022: approximately
RMB806 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 4.0%. Renowned customers of
the Group’s milk powder cans business include Feihe, Yili, Mengniu, Unilever and Nestle.

Aerosol Cans

Aerosol cans products are primarily used for the packaging of household chemical products (e.g. car
maintenance products, alcohol disinfectant, air fresheners, personal care products and pesticides) and
other chemical products. In 2023, the Group recorded sales revenue of approximately RMB568 million
(2022: approximately RMB523 million), representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 8.6%.

CORPORATE

GOVERNANCE Renowned customers of the Group’s aerosol cans business include Gunuo Tianjin, Zhongshan Aestar,
REPORT Guangdong Theaoson, Johnson Shanghai and Shanghai Daizo.
Metal Caps

Metal caps products include twist caps and crown caps. In 2023, the Group’s sales revenue from the
metal caps business amounted to approximately RMB472 million (2022: approximately RMB548 million),
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 13.9%. Renowned customers of the Group’s metal
caps business include Haiday, Huanlejia, Jiajiahong, Leasun Food, Snow Breweries and Anheuser-Busch

InBev.
ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND Steel Barrels
GOVERNANCE The Group produces steel barrels with a volume of 200 litres or above, which are mainly used for

REPORT carrying chemical products and raw food ingredients (e.g. bulk edible oil). In 2023, the sales revenue

was approximately RMB1,508 million (2022: approximately RMB1,387 million), representing a year-on-
year increase of approximately 8.7%. Renowned customers of the Group’s steel barrels business include
Wanhua, Shell, Sinopec, ExxonMobil and Covestro, etc.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

o Plastic Packaging

The Group’s plastic packaging products are mainly used for the packaging of personal care, household
chemical and food and beverage products. In 2023, the customer structure was continuously optimised
and the sales proportion of food and beverage customers was increased. In terms of production
operations, as application of intelligent manufacturing was promoted, the degree of automation of
production processes continued to increase with the average length of production cycle and per capita
output efficiency improved significantly. The sales revenue from the plastic packaging business was
approximately RMB709 million in 2023 (2022: approximately RMB674 million), representing a year-on-
year increase of approximately 5.2%, accounting for approximately 6.9% of the total revenue (2022:
approximately 6.6%). The gross profit margin of the plastic packaging business in 2023 was approximately
14.4% (2022: approximately 13.8%). Renowned customers of the Group’s plastic packaging business
include P&G, Blue Moon, Unilever, Reckitt Benckiser, Haiday, Mengniu and Yili.

OUTLOOK FOR 2024

Looking ahead to 2024, the government remains committed to fostering the healthy development of the
consumer market. The Ministry of Commerce has set the tone for 2024 as the “Consumption-Promoting Year (8
B{EES)", in which it will adhere to the dual-wheeled drive of “policies + activities” and organise a series of
consumption-promoting activities to promote a gradual transition of consumption from post-pandemic recovery
to sustained expansion. The orderly implementation of these initiatives will boost China’s consumer market,
especially sectors of service consumption such as catering, cultural tourism and hospitality.

As the government champions the principles of sustainability and low carbon footprint, a discernible inclination
towards eco-friendly consumption is emerging among young people. This evolution in consumption philosophy
mirrors the more rational and mature consumption attitude of young people, which is in harmony with the
prevailing consumer patterns in society. To cater to the dynamic desires of young people, we need to keenly
observe and respond to their evolving consumption preferences and psychological shifts, ensuring that we
deliver products and services that are more eco-conscious and of superior quality.

The Group is capitalizing on the “3+N” technology innovation system to step up its efforts in innovation and
research and development, ensuring that we address the increasing consumer demand for low-carbon and
environmentally responsible packaging. Meanwhile, we will enhance our existing domestic market share and
explore opportunities in overseas markets by focusing on the domestic market and synchronising our efforts in
overseas markets. In addition, we will intensify the application of intelligent manufacturing and digitisation in our
production and operation activities to achieve a higher rate of return on investment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue of the Group amounted to approximately RMB10,265 million
(2022: approximately RMB10,255 million), which was basically flat from 2022. Gross profit margin reached
approximately 15.6% in the year of 2023 (2022: approximately 12.5%), representing an increase of 3.1% as
compared with the same period in the previous year. The increase which was primarily beneficial from the
impact of technology cost reduction and the prices of raw material dropped.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, net profit amounted to approximately RMB485 million (2022:
approximately RMB485 million), which was basically flat from 2022.

GROUP’S PROFIT

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s profit before income tax was approximately RMB626 million
(2022: approximately RMB596 million), representing an increase of approximately RMB30 million or 5.1% as
compared to the same period in the previous year.

Finance costs were approximately RMB238 million (2022: approximately RMB88 million), representing an
increase of approximately RMB151 million or 171.9% as compared to the same period in the previous year,

which was mainly due to the increase in integrated financing interest rate.

Income tax expenses were approximately RMB141 million (2022: approximately RM111 million). The effective
income tax rate of the Group in 2023 was approximately 22.5% (2022: approximately 18.7%).

CASH FLOW, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING RATIO

In 2023, the Group’s main sources of funding were cash generated from operating activities and bank loans.

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

RMB (million) RMB (million)
Net assets 5,928 5,728
Cash and cash equivalents 2,392 2,380
Total borrowings 5,281 5,211
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 5,555 5,379
Current ratio 0.9 1.1
Gearing ratio* 52.0% 52.6%

* The gearing ratio is calculated as net borrowings divided by equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, in

which the net borrowings are calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had net assets of approximately RMB5,928 million (31 December 2022:
approximately RMB5,728 million). Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company was approximately
RMB5,555 million, which has slightly increased as compared to approximately RMB5,379 million as at 31
December 2022.

The current ratio and gearing ratio as at 31 December 2023 were approximately 0.9 and approximately 52.0%,
respectively (31 December 2022: approximately 1.1 and approximately 52.6%, respectively). The current ratio
as at 31 December 2023 was approximately 0.9 decreased by 0.2 as compared to 31 December 2022. The
decrease in gearing ratio from approximately 52.6% as at 31 December 2022 to approximately 52.0% as at
31 December 2023 was mainly due to the increase in equity attributable to equity holders of the Company.
Interest-bearing bank loans were approximately RMB5,281 million as at 31 December 2023. As at 31 December
2023, certain of the Group’s bank loans are secured by mortgages over the Group’s properties, plants and
equipments, which had a net carrying value at the end of the reporting period of approximately RMB344 million
(81 December 2022: RMB325 million).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s capital expenditure was approximately RMB571 million,
which was as follows:

Percentage of
RMB million capital expenditure

Two-piece cans project 383 67.1%
Tinplate project 69 12.1%
Plastics project 36 6.3%
Steel barrels project 20 3.5%
Other equipment purchases 63 11.0%
Total 571 100.0%

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had the following capital commitments:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
Contracted for, but not provided for in the
consolidated financial statements:
property, plant and equipment 225,667 463,023
Capital contribution payable to a joint venture 51,242 -

As at 31 December 2023, save as mentioned above, the Group had no other significant commitments and
contingent liabilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group’s main operations are located in China. Other than some of the bank loans and bank deposits which
are denominated in U.S. dollars, Euros and Hong Kong dollars, most of the assets, income, payments and cash
balances are denominated in RMB. The Directors consider that exchange rate fluctuations have no significant
impact on the Group’s results.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 6,252 full-time employees (2022: 5,945), of which approximately 1,739
were engineers and technical staff or employees with higher education backgrounds. The table below shows
the number of employees of the Group by function as at 31 December 2023:

Percentage of total

Function No. of employees  no. of employees
Management and Administration 651 10.4%
Sales and Marketing 221 3.5%
Research and Development in Technology and Engineering 892 14.3%
Production and Quality Control 4,488 71.8%
Total 6,252 100.0%

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total staff cost was approximately RMB877 million, as compared to
RMB799 million in the same period last year. The Group determined the salary of the employees based on their
performance, the standard of salary in the respective regions, and the industry and market conditions. The
benefits of the employees in the mainland China included pension fund, medical insurance, unemployment
insurance, maternity insurance and employment-related injury insurance and housing fund contributions. In
addition to the requirements of the PRC law, the Group has made voluntary contributions to an annuity plan,
which was implemented with effect from 1 January 2009, for the benefit of the Group’s employees when they
reach certain seniority. The benefits of the employees in Hong Kong included mandatory provident fund, life
insurance and medical insurance.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Management Discussion and Analysis

MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

In order to stabilise business operation, the Company’s management shows great concern for the risk factors
which the Company may face in its operation. Based on critical risk indicators and through assessment and
analysis, the following major possible risks are identified:

1.

Operational risks from macroeconomic control:

Macroeconomic control has a considerable impact on downstream companies and will indirectly affect the
sales and profits of packaging companies (including the Group).

Operational risks from fluctuations in raw material prices and exchange rates:

Raw material costs represent a relative high proportion of our production costs, hence, fluctuations in raw
material prices will have a considerable impact on the generation of profits.

Risks from market competition:

With a relatively low concentration in our sector, companies with considerable scale and capacity have
viewed the further expansion of their production and marketing scale and maximisation of market share as
their main objectives. This will give rise to keen market competition.

Risks from food safety:

Failure to meet the national or industrial safety standards in food production will cause food safety issues
to customers. This will give rise to the risks of return of goods or financial losses.

Quality risks:

Failure to satisfy the statutory standards or customers’ needs in relation to product quality or performance
will give rise to lot quality problem, of which defective lots or inventories will result in losses.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

v
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Board of Directors
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Committee Committee Committee Committee

External Auditor

The Board is fully aware of the importance of corporate ethics in running a successful company and believes
that a good and solid corporate governance framework has given the Company the edge in attracting and
retaining talent, enhancing customers’ loyalty and reinforcing relationships with suppliers, and retaining its
position as a leading manufacturer of packaging products of integrated consumer goods. During the Year, the
Company had adopted all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”) as its own code of corporate governance. The Directors consider that since the listing of the
shares of the Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
on 16 November 2009, save for those disclosed in this annual report, the Company has complied with the code
provisions under the CG Code.

The Board will continue to review and monitor its current corporate practices and procedures of the Company
from time to time and will maintain and further enhance the standard of corporate governance practices of the
Company in order to ensure that formal and transparent procedures are in place to protect and maximise the
interests of the current and potential shareholders, investors, employees, business partners and the community
as a whole.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries to all Directors, all the
Directors have confirmed that they had complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

The Board is responsible for leading and controlling the business operations of the Group. Decisions made
are in the best interests of the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”) and for maximising the
Shareholders’ return. The Directors formulate strategic directions, oversee the operations and monitor the
financial and management performance of the Group as a whole. During the Year and up to the date of this
annual report, the Board comprise a combination of two executive Directors, four non-executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors as follow:

Executive Directors:
— Mr. Zhang Xin (Chairman)
—Mr. Zhang Ye (General Manager)

Non-executive Directors:
= Dr. Zhao Wei

= Mr. Meng Fanjie

—Mr. Zhou Yuan

— Mr. Shen Tao

Independent non-executive Directors:
—Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo

—Mr. Pun Tit Shan

—Mr. Chen Jihua

The members of the Board are well-balanced in abilities with each Director having sound industry knowledge,
extensive corporate and strategic planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the Group.

The biographical information of the Directors is set out on pages 91 to 95 of this annual report. Save as
disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management Profile” in this annual report, there is no
financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationship among members of the Board and senior
management.

The Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors representing one-third of the Board.
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo, being one of the independent non-executive Directors, has professional qualifications
in accountancy. One of the important duties of the independent non-executive Directors is ensuring and
monitoring the basis for an effective corporate governance framework. Their participation provides adequate
checks and balances to safeguard the interests of the Group and its shareholders, including the review of
continuing connected transactions described in other sections of this annual report. The Board confirms that the
Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors a confirmation of independence
for the year ended 31 December 2023 pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers such Directors
to be independent.

Although Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo served as an independent non-executive Director for more than nine years, the
Board considers that Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo is a person of integrity and independent in judgement and character.
He is independent of management and free from any business or other relationships or circumstances which
could materially interfere with the exercise of his independent judgement. The Board considers that Mr. Cheng
Yuk Wo meets the independent guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and is of the view that his
independence is not affected by his long service with the Company.

Annual Report 2023

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

21



MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL,

SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

22

Corporate Governance Report

Functions of the Board
The Board is responsible for overseeing the management of the Company’s business and affairs with the goal of
maximising the Shareholders’ return. The Board has the following major duties:

o determination of all the corporate matters;

o be responsible for the management, direction and supervision of the business of the Group;
o to ensure the effectiveness of the Group’s financial reporting and compliance;

o formulation of business strategies and business plans;

o planning and overseeing mergers, acquisitions or divestments and other major capital expenditure
projects;

o internal control and risk management;
o evaluation of the performance of the Group and the senior management; and
o be responsible for the annual and interim financial results and shareholder communications.

The Board, led by the chairman of the Company (the “Chairman”), is responsible for the leadership and control
of the Company, formulation of overall strategies and policies, evaluation of the performance of the Group and
management, and approval of matters or transactions of a material nature or those requiring disclosure under
the Listing Rules.

The management, under the leadership of the general manager of the Company (the “General Manager”), is
responsible for the business and day-to-day operations of the Group and implementation of the strategies and
policies set by the Board. The General Manager is responsible for overseeing and monitoring the operations of
business units or functional divisions.

Delegation by the Board

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties and facilitate effective management, certain functions of the
Board have been delegated by the Board to an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), a remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), a nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”), a risk
management committee (the “Risk Management Committee”) and the senior management. On 23 October 2009,
the Board approved the forming of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
upon the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange. On 22 December 2016, the Board approved the formation
of the Risk Management Committee. The Board delegates the authority and responsibility of the daily operations,
business strategies and day-to-day management to the General Manager and senior management. The final
decision(s) are still under the control of the Board unless otherwise provided for in the terms of reference of the
four committees.

Chairman and General Manager

Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of Chairman and General Manager should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual. In effect, the Chairman, Mr. Zhang Xin, had
been responsible for the Group’s business strategic and effective operation of the Board during the Year.
Furthermore, the role of the Chairman is to encourage and facilitate active contribution of Directors in Board
activities and constructive relations between executive and non-executive Directors. With the support of the
executive Directors and the senior management, Mr. Zhang Xin had ensured the Directors to have receive
adequate information, which is complete and reliable, in a timely manner during the Year. The General Manager,
Mr. Zhang Ye, is primarily responsible for the executive management of the Group’s daily operations and to
ensure the Group’s business plans and strategies are effectively implemented to achieve the goals of the Group
during the Year.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Directors’ Appointments, Re-election and Removal
Each of the Directors has a specific term of appointment for three years.

The Articles of Association (the “Articles”) of the Company provides that any Director appointed by the Board,
either to fill a casual vacancy in the Board or as an addition to the existing Board, shall hold office only until
the next following general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. Further, under the
Articles, one-third of all Directors (whether executive or non-executive) is subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at each annual general meeting provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at least
once every three years, and a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

Members of the Company may, at any general meeting convened and held in accordance with Articles, remove
a Director at any time before the expiration of his period of office notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the
Articles or in any agreement between the Company and such Director.

Board meetings and Board practices

Under code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, the Board shall meet regularly and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. The Board has scheduled to meet at least four times a year in approximately
quarterly intervals in accordance with the Articles. The Board meets physically and regularly. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, 7 Board meetings were held. The Directors attended the meetings in person or by
telephone in accordance with the Articles. A summary of the Directors’ meeting attendance during the Year is
as follows:

Attendance/Total board
meetings held during the Year*

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Xin 7[7
Mr. Zhang Ye 7[7

Non-executive Directors

Dr. Zhao Wei 717
Mr. Meng Fanjie 7/7
Mr. Zhou Yuan 7/7
Mr. Shen Tao 7/7

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo 7/7
Mr. Pun Tit Shan 77
Mr. Chen Jihua 77

*

During the Year, there was 1 out of the 7 Board meetings related to continuing connected transactions, in which
Directors who were deemed to have material interest had abstained from voting at that Board meeting.
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Corporate Governance Report

According to the current Board practice, notices of the Board meetings are served to all Directors before the
meeting. Generally, at least 14 days’ notice is given for regular Board meetings by the Company to all Directors.
Reasonable notice is given for all other Board meetings. The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) assists the Chairman to prepare Board meeting agenda and papers together with all appropriate,
complete and reliable information. Each Director may request the Company Secretary to include any matters
in the agenda during the Board meetings. All substantive agenda items together with comprehensive briefing
papers will be sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board meeting or committee meeting to keep
the Directors apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the Company and to enable them to
make informed decisions.

General meetings with the Shareholders

The 2023 annual general meeting (the “2023 AGM”) was held on 29 May 2023 and one extraordinary general
meeting was held on 20 December 2023. A summary of the general meeting attendance during the Year is as
follows:

Attendance/Total general
meetings held during the Year

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Xin 2/2
Mr. Zhang Ye 2/2

Non-executive Directors

Dr. Zhao Wei 0/2
Mr. Meng Fanjie 0/2
Mr. Zhou Yuan 0/2
Mr. Shen Tao 0/2

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo 2/2
Mr. Pun Tit Shan 2/2
Mr. Chen Jihua 0/2

Code provision C.1.6 of the Code stipulates that the independent non-executive Directors and other non-
executive Directors should attend general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
the shareholders of the Company. Dr. Zhao Wei, Mr. Meng Fanjie, Mr. Zhou Yuan, Mr. Shen Tao and Mr. Chen
Jihua were unable to attend the general meetings of the Company held on 29 May 2023 due to other business
engagement. Dr. Zhao Wei, Mr. Meng Fanjie, Zhou Yuan, Shen Tao and Chen Jihua could not attend the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 20 December 2023 due to other business engagement.
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Supply of and access to information

All Directors may access the advice and services of the Company Secretary. Minutes of the Board and meetings
of the Board committees are kept by the Company Secretary and such minutes are open for inspection at any
reasonable time upon reasonable notice by the Directors. Any Director may request the Company to provide
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense to discharge his duties to the Company.

Important matters are usually dealt with by way of written resolutions so that all Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) can note and comment on, as appropriate, the matters before approval is granted.
Moreover, a Director must declare his interest in matters or transactions to be considered and approved by
the Board. If a substantial Shareholder or a Director has an interest in a matter to be considered by the Board
which the Board has determined to be material, the Company will not deal with the matter by the way of written
resolution. The independent non-executive Directors shall take an active role and make an independent
judgment on all issues relating to such matter. If any Director or his close associates have any material interest
in any proposed Board resolutions, such Director shall not vote (nor shall be counted in the quorum) at a
meeting of the Directors on any resolutions approving any contract or arrangement or concerning a matter in
which he or any of his close associates has directly or indirectly a material interest (save as provided under the
Articles).

Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance

The Company has arranged directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for all Directors and senior management
of the Company for the year 2023/2024. The insurance covers the corresponding costs, charges, expenses and
liabilities for legal action of corporate activities against them.

Responsibilities of directors

The Company ensures that every newly appointed Director has a proper understanding of the operations and
business of the Group and that he or she is fully aware of his or her responsibilities under statute and common
law, the Listing Rules, applicable legal requirements and other regulatory requirements and the business and
governance policies of the Company.

The non-executive Directors exercise their independent judgement and advise on the business direction
and strategic plans of the Company. The non-executive Directors also review the financial information and
operational performance of the Company on a regular basis.

The independent non-executive Directors take an active role in Board meetings and make independent
judgment on issues relating to matters or transactions of a material nature. They will take the lead where
potential conflicts of interest arise. In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, there are three
independent non-executive Directors, representing one-third of the Board. Among the three independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo has the appropriate professional qualifications in accounting or related
financial management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Company secretary
Mr. Yim Ming Chung had been appointed as the Company Secretary with effect from 6 March 2016. He has
complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules in relation to the professional training requirements.

Corporate Governance Duties

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties as set out in the Code Provision A.2.1.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board had reviewed and discussed the corporate governance
policy of the Group and was satisfied with the effectiveness of the corporate governance policy of the Group.

Annual Report 2023

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

25



Corporate Governance Report

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

MANAGEMENT All Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Company’s operation performance, position and
DISCUSSION prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties. Furthermore, all Directors
AND ANALYSIS acknowledge the needs to continue to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills for making contributions
to the Company. The table below shows the participation of individual directors in continuous professional
development during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Attending
Reading external
regulatory seminars/
updates programmes
zgc:g::;; Executive Directors
EPORT Mr. Zhang Xin v v
Mr. Zhang Ye v v
Non-executive Directors
Dr. Zhao Wei v v
Mr. Meng Fanijie 4 v
Mr. Zhou Yuan v v
Mr. Shen Tao (% v
ENVIRONMENTAL, Independent non-executive Directors
SOCIAL AND Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo v v
GOVERNANCE N
REPORT Mr. Pun Tit Shan v v
Mr. Chen Jihua v v

Audit Committee

On 23 October 2009, the Company approved the formation of the Audit Committee upon the listing of the Shares
on the Stock Exchange with written terms of reference stating its authority and duties. A majority of the members
of the Audit Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

DIRECTORS AND The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the year ended 31 December 2023. The composition and the

SENIOR
MANAGEMENT details of the attendance records of members of the Audit Committee are as follows:
PROFILE
Members of Audit Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Committee Chairman) (Note 1) 3/3
Mr. Zhou Yuan (Note 2) 3/3
Mr. Chen Jihua (Note 1) 3/3
Notes:
REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS 1. Independent non-executive Director
2. Non-executive Director
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The Company Secretary also attended the meetings. Minutes drafted by the Company Secretary had been
circulated to members of the Audit Committee within a reasonable time after the meetings. No member of the
Audit Committee is a former partner of the existing auditing firm of the Company.

The Board has adopted the terms of reference for the Audit Committee, which follow closely the requirements
of the code provisions of the CG Code, details of which are published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company'’s website.

The Audit Committee’s main responsibilities include the following:

° review and supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process and completeness of financial reports;

° monitor the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems; and

° consider the independence of the external auditor.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee had performed the following work:

° reviewed with the senior management the accounting policies and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed auditing and internal control systems and financial reporting matters;

° reviewed the financial statements of the Company and the Company’s interim and annual reports, the
letter to the management from the auditor of the Company, the audit scope and fees for the year ended 31
December 2023;

° approved the internal audit plan for the year of 2023;

° reviewed Environmental, Social and Governance Report;

o reviewed continuing connected transactions; and

° met with the external auditor to discuss the general scope of their audit work for the year ended 31
December 2023.

The Audit Committee has also recommended to the Board that, subject to the Shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited be re-appointed as the Company’s external
auditor for the year ending 31 December 2024.

The senior management of the Group is required to provide adequate and timely support to the Audit
Committee to discharge its duties. The Audit Committee has also been advised that the Company Secretary can
arrange independent professional advice at the expense of the Company should the seeking of such advice be
considered necessary by the Audit Committee.
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Nomination Committee

On 23 October 2009, the Company approved the formation of the Nomination Committee upon the listing of
the Shares on the Stock Exchange. The Board has also adopted the terms of reference for the Nomination
Committee which are in line with the code provisions set out in the CG Code and are published on the Stock
Exchange’s website and the Company’s website. A majority of the members of the Nomination Committee are
independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee are mainly to (i) review the structure, size and composition
of the Board and make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed changes; (ii) make
recommendations to the Board on the nominees for appointment as Director and senior management of the
Group; and (iii) assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee had performed the following work:

o reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of skKills,
knowledge and experience appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Group;

o made recommendation to the Board for the re-election at the 2023 AGM; and

o assessment of the independence of all the independent non-executive Directors.

Nomination Policy

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate as a member of the Board, the Nomination Committee
would consider factors including:

(a) Reputation;

(b) Skills, knowledge, experience, cultural and educational background, gender, age and other qualities
required, with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board;

(c) The extent to which the proposed candidate is likely to contribute to the overall effectiveness of the Board
and work constructively with the existing Directors;

(d) The skills and experience that the proposed candidate brings to the role and how they will enhance the
efficiency and performance of the Board as a whole;

(e) The nature of existing positions served by the proposed candidate including directorships or other
relationship with the Company and/or its Directors and impact they may have on his ability to exercise
independent judgment; and

(f)  Factors which may affect the proposed candidate’s time commitment to the Company.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee
has the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has reviewed its board diversity policy and discussed all measurable objectives set for implementing
the policy during the year ended 31 December 2023. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits
of diversity of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. Pursuant to the
board diversity policy, all Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis with due regard for
the benefits of diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, experience
(professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits and
contributions that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

As at the date of the annual report, the Board comprises 9 directors and all of them are male. The Board targets
to appoint at least 1 female director by 2024.

As at 31 December 2023, male employees accounted for 65.9% and female employees accounted for 34.1%
of all employees (including senior management) of the Group. To achieve gender diversity, we are committed
to creating favorable conditions in our working environment to attract more women to join the Group, and thus
increase the proportion of female employees (including senior management) by years, making us a gender-
balanced company. The gender balance scheme includes hiring and promoting more women to hold senior
management positions based on the qualifications, experience and skills required for those positions. In
addition, we may face the issue of whether the supply of female personnel in the human resources market
matches the academic qualifications, experience and skills required for positions within the Group. Despite
these challenges, we are still moving towards gender balance.

The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the year ended 31 December 2023. The composition and the
details of the attendance of the members of the Nomination Committee during the Year are as follows:

Members of Nomination Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Zhang Xin (Committee Chairman) (Note 1) 171
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Note 2) 171
Mr. Pun Tit Shan (Note 2) 171
Notes:
1. Executive Director
2. Independent non-executive Director

Remuneration Committee

On 23 October 2009, the Company approved the formation of the Remuneration Committee upon the listing of
the Shares on the Stock Exchange with written terms of reference to state its authority and duties. A majority of
the members of the Remuneration Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee are mainly to (i) make recommendations to the Board on the
Company'’s policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management to ensure that no
Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; (ii) determine the specific
remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management; and (iii) review and approve performance
based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board. The Remuneration
Committee may have access to independent professional advice at the Company’s expense if considered
necessary.

Annual Report 2023

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

29



MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL,

SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

30

Corporate Governance Report

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee had performed the following work:

o review and discuss the remuneration policy of the Group and the remuneration packages of the Directors
and senior management of the Company; and

° made recommendation to the Board on the emolument of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors,
independent non-executive Directors and senior management of the Group.

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 9 to the
financial statements.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, which closely follows the requirements of the code
provisions of the CG Code, are published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The human resources and administration department of the Company provides administrative support to the
Remuneration Committee, and implements the approved remuneration packages and other human resources
related decisions.

The Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting during the year ended 31 December 2023. The composition and
the details of the attendance of members of the Remuneration Committee during the Year are as follows:

Members of Remuneration Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Pun Tit Shan (Committee Chairman) (Note 1) 11
Mr. Shen Tao (Note 2) 11
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Note 1) 11
Notes:
1. Independent non-executive Director
2. Non-executive Director
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Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee was established on 22 December 2016 and the Board has adopted the terms
of reference for the Risk Management Committee which are in line with the code provisions set out in the CG
Code and are published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The principal duties of the Risk Management Committee are mainly to (i) review the Group’s enterprise risk
management framework, and the guidelines, policies and procedures for risk assessment and risk management;
(ii) review the Group’s major risks and key emerging risks and the controls in place to mitigate such risks; and (iii)
review the effectiveness of the enterprise risk management function.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Risk Management Committee had performed the following work:

° review and discuss the overall risk management framework, and the guidelines, policies and procedures
for risk assessment and risk management;

° review and discuss the major risks of the Group such as credit risk and market risk; and
° review the effectiveness of the overall risk management function.
The Risk Management Committee held 1 meeting during the year ended 31 December 2023. The composition

and the details of the attendance of the members of the Risk Management Committee during the Year are as
follows:

Members of Risk Management Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Chen Jihua (Committee Chairman) (Note 1) 171
Mr. Meng Fanijie (Note 2) 171
Mr. Zhang Ye (Note 3) 171
Notes:
1. Independent non-executive Director
2. Non-executive Director

3. Executive Director
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and Auditor’s Acknowledgement

The Audit Committee and the Board have reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2023. The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing accounts, the
financial statements, performance position and prospects of the Group. Management has provided information
and explanation to the Board to enable it to make an informed assessment of financial and other information
put before the Board for approval. The Directors believed that they have selected suitable accounting policies
and applied them consistently, made judgment and estimates that are prudent and reasonable and ensured the
financial statements are prepared on a “going concern” basis.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, the auditor of the Company, acknowledged their reporting responsibilities in the
Independent Auditor’'s Report on the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board has the responsibility to maintain appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems in order to safeguard the interest of the Group and the Shareholders, review and monitor
the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems on a regular basis to ensure that the
systems in place are adequate. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems comprise, among others, the relevant financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management procedures, a well-established organisational
structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility and authority. Each department is accountable for its daily
operations and is required to implement the business strategies and policies adopted by the Board from time to
time.

The internal audit department and the risk management department of the Company supported the Board, the
Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee in reviewing the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems and performed its functions during the Year following annual plans and submitting their
reports of their findings to the Board, the Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee at the meetings.
The Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee provide independent review on effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group and gives their recommendation to the Board. The
Board is responsible for reviewing the internal audit report and approving policies and procedures designed by
the management.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy,
completeness and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group has adopted and implemented an inside
information procedure. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from time to time to ensure that proper
safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which include the
maintaining of a good control environment with defined organisational structure, limit of authority, reporting lines
and responsibilities in accordance with the Company’s guidelines and the regulatory requirements. Appropriate
control measures have been taken place to facilitate a good control environment for handling and dissemination
of inside information. The access of information is restricted to a limited number of employees on a need-to-
know basis. Employees who are in possession of inside information are fully conversant with their obligations to
preserve confidentiality.

Through the Group’s Code of Conduct, employees are encouraged (and instructed as to how) to report control
deficiencies or suspicions of impropriety to those who are in a position to take necessary action. The Company
has an Anti-Corruption Policy and a Whistleblowing Policy for employees and those who deal with the Group
to raise concerns, where desired, about actual or suspected cases of impropriety in any matter related to the
Group. Details please refer to section 1.2 to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
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The Board conducted a review and assessment of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and procedures during the financial year ended 31 December 2023 by way of
discussions with the management of the Group, members of the Audit Committee, members of the Risk
Management Committee and the external independent auditor. The Board considered major investigation
findings of the external consultant on risk management and internal control matters and management’s
response to these findings.

The Board believes that the existing risk management and internal control systems are adequate and effective.
The Board also reviewed the resources, qualification and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting function and their training schemes and budget and was satisfied with their adequacy.

The Board also assessed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function and external audit process, and
satisfied itself, through the work of its Audit Committee, that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and is effective at providing assurance to the Board on the relevant risks faced by the Company, and that the
external audit process is effective.

Furthermore, the Group also implemented the SAP system to enhance the efficiency of the operational process
and improving segregation of duties and better internal control system.

Auditor’s Remuneration
An analysis of the remuneration of the Company’s auditor, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, for the year ended 31
December 2023 is set out as follows:

Services rendered Fee paid/payable

RMB’000
Audit service 1,800
Non-audit services 700
Total 2,500

Annual Report 2023

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

33



MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL,

SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

34

Corporate Governance Report

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely and effective communication with
shareholders of the Company and investors; and also recognises the effective communication with investors is
the fundamental element to build up the Shareholders’ confidence and attract more new investors.

The Company communicates with the Shareholders mainly in the following ways:

(iy  the holding of annual general meeting which provides an opportunity for the Shareholders to communicate
directly to the Board;

(i)  the publication of announcements, annual reports, interim reports and/or circulars of the Company as
required under the Listing Rules and press releases providing updated information of the Group;

(i) updating the Company’s website regularly and disclosure of information on a timely basis via the
Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s website;

(iv) the holding of face to face meetings or teleconferences with analysts and fund managers from time to
time. There is regular dialogue with institutional Shareholders and presentations are made when financial
results are announced. Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit the Company’s website and raise
enquiries through our Investor Relations Department whose contact details are available on the Company’s
website; and

(v) Shareholders can contact Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the share registrar of the
Company, for any enquiries of their shareholdings and dividend entitlements.

Shareholders’ Right

The annual general meeting of the Company which is proposed to be held on Monday, 3 June 2024 (the
“2024 AGM”) will provide opportunities for the Shareholders to meet and raise questions to our Directors, the
management and the external auditor. At the 2024 AGM, the chairperson of the annual general meeting and
the chairman/member of each of the Audit Committee, the Risk Management Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee will be available to answer questions from the Shareholders.

Pursuant to the Articles, the Company should send a notice to the shareholders at least 21 clear days or 14
clear days before the annual general meetings or all other general meetings respectively.

Pursuant to the Articles, any two Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the issued Share carrying the
right of voting at general meetings may request the Company to convene an extraordinary general meeting by
sending a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary. The objects of the meeting must be stated
in the written requisition.
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The Group values feedback from shareholders on its efforts to promote transparency and foster investor
relationship. Shareholder(s) may send written enquiries to the Company for putting forward any enquiries or
proposals to the Board. Contact details are as follows:

Address: 33/F, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2833 0554

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send or fax the original duly signed written
requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address or fax number and
provide their full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information
may be disclosed as required by law.

The Board receives updates from the Company Secretary from time to time on key issues raised by
shareholders and investors. In developing and formulating Group strategy, the Board considers such key issues
raised and independent views. The Board conducted a review and assessment of the implementation and
effectiveness of the Group’s shareholders’ communication policy during the financial year ended 31 December
2023 by way of discussions with the management of the Group and considered the policy effective.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has not made any changes to the Articles. An up-
to-date version of the Articles is available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
Shareholders may refer to the Articles for further details of their rights.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll
voting results will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.cofco-pack.com) immediately after the relevant general meetings.

Voting by Poll

Pursuant to the Articles, all resolutions will be conducted by poll at the 2024 AGM. The Shareholders will be
allowed to have one vote for every Share they hold. The results of the voting by poll will be declared at the
meeting and published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company, respectively.

Policy on Payment of Dividends

The Company will declare and/or recommend the payment of dividends to Shareholders after considering
the Company’s ability to pay dividends, which will depend upon, among other things, its actual and expected
financial performance, its current and future business operation, level of liquidity, capital requirements,
contractual and regulatory restrictions and so on. The Board has complete discretion on whether to pay a
dividend, subject to Shareholders’ approval, where applicable. Even if the Board decides to recommend and
pay dividends, the form, frequency and amount will depend upon its actual financial performance, its current
and future business operation, level of liquidity, capital requirements, contractual and regulatory restrictions of
and affecting the Group. The Board may also consider declaring special dividends from time to time, in addition
to the interim and/or final dividends. The Company would review and reassess the Dividend Policy and its
effectiveness on a regular basis or as required.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Description of the report: This report is the eighth Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) report issued
by CPMC Holdings Limited, with an aim to give an objective and fair picture of CPMC and its subsidiaries’ ESG
performance in 2023.

Reference: For the convenience of expression and reading, “CPMC Holdings Limited” may also be referred to
as “CPMC” or the “Company” or “we”/’us” in this report.

Reporting scope: The reporting period of this report is from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (the “Year”).
In order to enhance the comparability and completeness of the report, some disclosures also cover other
periods.

Basis of preparation: This report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2 to the Listing
Rules on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The report has
been prepared based on the principles of “materiality”, “quantitative”, “balance” and “consistency”, to define

the content of the report and the information presentation of the consultation.

Materiality: During the preparation of this report, major stakeholders and ESG issues of concern have been
identified, and targeted disclosures have been made in this report according to the relative importance of the
issues.

Quantitative: This report uses quantitative methods to measure and disclose applicable key performance
indicators. The standards, methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation tools to measure the key performance
indicators in this report, as well as the source of the conversion factors used, have been explained in the
corresponding context, where applicable.

Balance: This report discloses both positive and negative information objectively to ensure that the contents
provide an unbiased picture of the Company’s ESG performance during the reporting period.

Consistency: The data disclosed in this report adopt the same statistical method as that of the previous year,
and individual changes have been explained to ensure the principle of consistency.

Source of information: The information and cases in this report are derived from the statistical data, relevant
documents and internal communication documents of CPMC during its operation. CPMC undertakes that there
are no false records and misleading statements in this report, and is responsible for the truthfulness, accuracy
and completeness thereof.

STATEMENT OF THE BOARD

The board of directors (“Board”) of CPMC makes the following statement in accordance with the requirements
of the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide set out in Appendix C2 to the Main Board Listing
Rules of the Stock Exchange.

The Board is ultimately responsible for the ESG governance of CPMC and the Company’s ESG strategies.
The Audit Committee of the Board supervises ESG-related matters of CPMC and guides the development of
ESG practices. The ESG task force established by the Company is responsible for the implementation of ESG
strategies and reports to the Audit Committee.

CPMC attaches great importance to the potential material impact of ESG risks on the Company, and incorporate
them into the risk management system. The Board assesses, prioritises and manages material ESG issues
every year through ESG risk identification, macro policies and hot topics as well as communication results
with stakeholders, so as to monitor the assessment of the risks and opportunities associated with ESG factors,
clarify the ESG governance priorities of the Company and review ESG management strategies regularly. The
assessment results of CPMC’s material issues for the Year have been submitted to the Board for approval.

The Company has set environmental targets related to business operations, and the Board and the Audit
Committee have reviewed and examined the establishment and progress of the targets in their annual meeting.

This report discloses in detail the ESG-related issues, which have been reviewed and approved by the Board on
13 March 2024.
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1. ESG GOVERNANCE

CPMC has always practised the concept of sustainable development, constantly enhances ESG
management, continuously communicates with stakeholders, and promotes sustainable development.

1.1. ESG Governance Structure
CPMC integrates the concept of sustainable development into its operational practices, implements
effective ESG strategies to steer its operations, thereby fostering the ongoing generation of both
economic and societal value for the Company. CPMC’s ESG strategies primarily focus on business
ethics, green operation, employee growth, quality innovation and social contribution. The Company
actively garners feedback from relevant internal and external stakeholders and collaborates with
them in building a responsible organisation.

In order to fully implement ESG strategies, the Company has established an ESG governance
structure covering three levels of the Board, the Audit Committee and ESG task force. The division of
responsibilities at each level is as follows:

e As the highest decision-making body for ESG governance, the Board
controls the overall direction of the Company’s ESG strategy and is
ultimately responsible for ESG-related matters.

Audit e The Board authorises the Audit Committee to supervise the
Committee implementation of the Company’s ESG work and report to the Board.

e According to CPMC’s overall ESG strategy and annual goals, the

ESG Task ESG task force formulates specific ESG annual work plans and
Force' annual goals for each department, implements relevant key tasks,
manages daily ESG risks, and regularly reports to the Audit Committee.

1. The ESG task force is formed by 11 departments, namely the Finance Department, the Party-Masses
Work Department, the Discipline Inspection Commission Office, the Legal Department, the Risk Control
Department, the Supply Chain Management Department, the Technology Centre, the Human Resources
Department, the Audit Department, the Strategy Department, and the Quality and Safety Management
Department.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Communication with Stakeholders

CPMC attaches great importance to the communication and cooperation with stakeholders, and MANAGEMENT

has established a normalised communication mechanism for stakeholders to proactively respond to DISCUSSION

stakeholders’ expectation and demands, striving to realise the recognition of the interests and the AND ANALYSIS

value between the Company and stakeholders.

In 2023, the Company has identified the stakeholders listed in the table below, taking into

consideration its business and operation characteristics:

Major stakeholders Key concerns Communication and
responding channels
Operation in compliance with laws . . CORPORATE

Policy consultation GOVERNANCE

Government and
regulatory bodies

Real economic development
Job creation
Tax payment according to law

Incident reporting
Information disclosure

Shareholders and investors

Corporate governance
Consistent return
Transparent operation
Sustainable development

Shareholders’ general
meetings

Annual reports

Periodic announcements

Official website

Good career development
Friendly working atmosphere

Employee training

) ff i
Srpleyees Wages and benefits Ei;e-?oe-fe;?g Zxchan e
Work-life balance 9
High-quality products Information disclosure
Reasonable price Social media
Customers

High-quality services
Smooth communication channel

Face-to-face communication

Meetings

Suppliers and other partners

Fair procurement

Green procurement

Integrity and fulfilment of
agreements

Supplier meetings
Phones and emails

Media and charity
organisations

Operation in compliance with laws
Environmental protection
Product quality

Press conference and
exchange meetings
Social media

Charity Official website
Environmental protection Community interaction
Community and public Charity Charity activities

Community development

Social media

Annual Report 2023

REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

41



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Materiality Assessment

MANAGEMENT Based on the communication with stakeholders and taking into consideration the Company’s
DISCUSSION business and operation characteristics, we conducted a materiality analysis on the ESG issues in 12
AND ANALYSIS aspects listed in the ESG Reporting Guide, which was expected to offer a more comprehensive and
systematic understanding of the assessment and expectations of various stakeholders on CPMC in
terms of ESG management, and served as a guide for our actions and disclosures, so as to better
respond to the needs of stakeholders.

During the Year, we identified product responsibility, employment, emissions, labour standards,
environmental and natural resources as the “highly material issues”; “material issues in general”
included health and safety, development and training, integrity construction, supply chain

CORPORATE management, use of resources, climate change and community investment. We shall discuss the
GOVERNANCE content of each issue separately in each chapter of this report.
REPORT

High

Product
responsibility

Environmental and  Emissions

natural resources
Health and
safety
Employment
@ @ Labour
Community standards
® investment  Climate
change
Integrlty Use of resources
construction

Supply chain
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1.2. Business Ethics Construction

CPMC is committed to integrity in its operations, upholds business ethics, and strictly complies MANAGEMENT
with relevant national laws and regulations, adopting a zero-tolerance attitude towards corruption, DISCUSSION
fraud, deceit and other acts that violate business ethics. Attaching great importance to internal AND ANALYSIS
integrity system construction, CPMC regularly sorts out the “Implementation Opinions on Promoting
the Reform of the Disciplinary Inspection and Supervision System of Central Enterprises”, the
“Work Rules for Disciplinary Inspection and Supervision Organs Stationing at Institutions” and the
“Administrative Measures for Clues of Problems by Discipline Inspection and Supervision Organs’
issued by the General Office of the Central Commission for Discipline Inspection, formulates and
updates the “Key Points and Division of Tasks for Construction of Party Conduct and Integrity and Anti-
Corruption of CPMC in 2023", the “Administrative Measures for Joint Supervision and Management
of CPMC”, the “CPMC Integrity Risk Prevention and Control Manual (2023 Revision)” and other CORPORATE
rules and regulations, establishes and improves the “1233” dedicated supervision work system, GOVERNANCE
continuously strengthens the compliant management system, and implements the construction of the REPORT

party conduct and integrity during the daily work and business activities.

Integrity Risk Prevention and Control

CPMC constantly improves the integrity risk prevention and control system, and establishes the
CPMC Coordination Team for Construction of Party Conduct and Integrity and Anti-Corruption
(thereafter referred to as the “Coordination Team”), which CPMC’s Party Committee Member and the
Secretary of the Disciplinary Inspection Committee shall act as the team leader, the main persons
in charge of each department shall be the team members, and a liaison officer shall be designated

ENVIRONMENTAL,

to each member department to be responsible for the relevant specific work, and work coordination SOCIAL AND

meetings are held regularly. In 2023, the Company held four work meetings of the Coordination Team GOVERNANCE
REPORT

for construction of party conduct and integrity and anti-corruption to promote interdepartmental
communication, coordination and information exchange, further broaden the sources of clues of
problems and strengthened the governance at source.

The Company continuously strengthens its daily integrity risk prevention and control, proactively
identifies points of integrity risk, actively carries out special supervision on integrity, and effectively
reduces the occurrence of violations and disciplinary breaches. In order to strengthen the primary
responsibility of the Disciplinary Inspection Committee at all levels and promote the efficient
advancement of disciplinary inspection work, the Company conducts a special assessment of the

DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR
performance of the Disciplinary Inspection Committee monthly. The assessment results are included MANAGEMENT
in performance evaluations to fully redeploy initiative for disciplinary inspection work, thereby PROFILE
promoting construction of party conduct and integrity within the Company.
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Cultivation of Integrity Awareness

CPMC adopts a “zero-tolerance” attitude towards any behavior that violates business ethics, insists
on strict handling, and strives to create a workplace environment with integrity and fairness. The
Company promotes the cultivation of employees’ integrity awareness and boosts the construction
of integrity culture of the Company by conducting integrity educational training, publishing warning

education briefings, sending emails, establishing WeChat corporate groups and organising warning
education meetings.

Issue 6 % @ Issue 48
e Publishing warning e Weekly anticorruption

education briefings exercise book

390 participants

e Young cadre ntegrity )
warning education °
meeting

Integrity meetings and
trainings

Trainings on integrity education

The Company is proactive in conducting various trainings on integrity awareness. During the Year,
CPMC'’s trainings on integrity education covered all management and general staff, with a total of
62 trainings on integrity construction conducted, covering 3,217 people, and a total training hours
of 21.5 hours. In particular, warning briefing, weekly anti-corruption exercise book and warning
education meetings covered two executive directors, with a total of 57 times and 14 hours.

On-site Integrity Training Regarding Integrity Training for New Managers
the Engineering Field

Anti-Money Laundering

CPMC strictly complies with the “Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
“Administrative Measures for Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing of Payment
Institutions” and other relevant laws and regulations. In respect of business transactions, the Finance
Department strictly executes the business contracts, and the Audit Department supervises whether
the receipt and payment of funds during the contract execution process are in compliance with the
laws and regulations and the Company’s provisions.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Whistle-blowing channels
CPMC encourages employees and any third parties to truthfully report any violations of discipline MANAGEMENT
and regulations in connection with the Company’s business activities. The Company adheres to DISCUSSION
the principle of confidentiality, real-name reporting priority and rewards once verification, sets AND ANALYSIS
up multiple whistle-blowing channels including mailbox and hotline, expands the whistle-blowing
channels for employees, and discloses the public whistle-blowing channels through a public address
and phone number, suggestion box, supplier notification letters, various cooperation agreements,
video presentations and other methods.

According to the “Administrative Measures for the Disposal of Clues of Problems by Disciplinary
Inspection Committee of CPMC” and other provisions, the CPMC Disciplinary Inspection Committee
shall put forward disposal opinions, formulate a disposal plan, and perform approval procedures CORPORATE
within one month from the date of receiving the problem clues. The Company keeps the whistle- GOVERNANCE
blower’s personal information and the content of reporting and accusation strictly confidential, and REPORT
severely punishes the one who infringes the privacy of whistle-blowers or retaliates against whistle-
blowers.

During the Year, there were no corruption lawsuits against CPMC and its employees which have
been concluded.

Whistle-blowing channels
ENVIRONMENTAL,

Telephone: 0571-87388127 523:;:::22
Letters: No. 160, Weiken Street, Baiyang Street, Qiantang District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, REPORT

Office of the CPMC Disciplinary Inspection Committee, postal code 310018

ENSURING QUALITY AND CUSTOMER FIRST

CPMC consistently implements the service concept of “full dedication to best customer service, progress
together with customers”, and builds up a safety quality culture of people orientation, full participation and
unremitting improvement. CPMC continuously advances product innovation drivers, practises responsible
and sustainable procurement, and orients our efforts around customer needs, striving to provide safe and

DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR
high-quality products and satisfactory services. MANAGEMENT
PROFILE
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2.1.

Quality Guarantee

CPMC values quality and safety management, and complies with the relevant laws, regulations
and national standards including the Food Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China and
National Food Safety Standards — General Rules for the Labeling on Prepackaged Foods. CPMC
fulfills internal regulations such as the Administration Regulations of CPMC on Food Safety, the
Administration Measures of CPMC on Quality and Safety Risk and the Administration Measures of
CPMC on Benchmarking. CPMC consistently adheres to the quality and safety risk management
principles of “system management, prevention orientation, categorisation and classification and
full participation”, and incorporates them into the entire process of daily operation management,
realising the compliance of the whole process of packaging products, the monitoring of the whole
process and the traceability of the whole process of CPMC. Currently, all subsidiaries of CPMC have
passed the ISO 9001 Quality Management System certification, and all subsidiaries involved in the
production of food packaging products have passed the ISO 22000 or FSSC 22000 Food Safety
Management System certification.

Quality Management and Control

CPMC continuously improves its quality and safety risk management and control mechanism,
adheres to a customer-oriented and result-oriented management philosophy. By upholding the core
management principles of risk management and continuous improvement, CPMC effectively ensures
the quality and safety of its products.

The quality and safety risk management and control mechanism of CPMC
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In addition, CPMC has also established a quality and food safety monitoring and inspection process.
The CPMC headquarters, business division, branches and external parties of CPMC jointly monitored
the product quality, striving to meet customers’ requirements on quality.

The quality and food safety monitoring and inspection process of CPMC

Internal inspection by branches

System internal audit and Product examination

LRalinspsction follinglreview management assessment and testing

Sampling and assessment by management headquarters

Regular monitoring and inspection, Regular monitoring and inspection, Supplier review and food safety
special review and flight inspection special review and flight inspection sampling tests coordinated by
by each business division by CPMC headquarters CPMC headquarters

External monitoring

Sampling and flight inspection

Customer review Third-party review by government authorities

In 2023, government regulatory authorities at all levels conducted 34 inspections, involving 38
batches of products of 15 branches, including 13 flight inspections, with a passing rate of 100%.
Management headquarters strictly conducted sampling on 394 batches of products, involving 1,749
indicators, with a passing rate of 100%. During the Year, the Company had no food safety incidents.

Two-piece can conductivity online detection automation

The two-piece can conductivity online detection automation technology has enhanced product
quality and traceability through achievement of online automatic conductivity detection by can
bottom coding, automatic can retrieval, can bottom vision-based recognition and conductivity
automatic detection modules. The technology is the first of its kind developed and applied within
the industry, offering value for industry replication and promotion. In 2023, the technology has
been successfully implemented in several branches of CPMC, such as Tianjin Canmaking and
Fujian Canmaking.

Conductivity Automatic Detection Equipment
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MANAGEMENT Independent development of and application for intelligent vision detection system of milk
DISCUSSION powder cans

AND ANALYSIS
CPMC has successfully developed an intelligent vision detection system through independent
design and development of equipment, independent development of software and development
of deep learning of algorithms. The system has been successfully piloted on the production lines
of milk powder cans at the Tianjin branch. The precision of defect detection by this system is
much higher than that of traditional vision detection equipment, solving the bottleneck in online
quality control for high-end milk powder cans, and filling the gap in the industry. The technology
has obtained 1 utility model patent and 1 software copyright.
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Utility model patent certificate, software copyright certificate and independently developed
equipment of the online intelligent vision detection system of milk powder cans

Improved online detection capacity for steel drums
DIRECTORS AND

;i“i:ggEMENT CPMC has fully promoted the application of steel drum body appearance online detection device

PROFILE and continuously improved the detection capability. CPMC has successfully developed double-
cap detection devices and anti-vibration performance testing equipment, solving issues with
robotic cap stacking and separation of caps. By simulating transportation conditions, CPMC has
improved quality issues such as bottom cap cracking, and has obtained 1 invention patent. The
technology has reached a leading position in the industry.
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Invention patent of double-cap detection devices and
anti-vibration performance testing equipment
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Informatisation system for plastic intelligent manufacturing

In 2023, CPMC upgraded the informatisation system for plastic intelligent manufacturing, and
adopted a digitalised and intelligent control model. The system achieved automatic data collection
through automatic sensing of equipment abnormalities, production condition abnormalities, key
process parameters abnormalities and quality abnormalities. It also marked the corresponding
levels of impact on quality for abnormal data, achieving automated abnormal control and
enhancing the standard of quality management and production efficiency.

AA-Grade Integration of Informatisation and Industrialisation Management System
Certificate

In 2023, CPMC Wuxi company successfully passed the on-site review and assessment of the
integration of informatisation and industrialisation management system. After a comprehensive
review by the local government and professional institutions on the current status, construction
planning and objectives, strategic implementation and control plans and expected benefits of
Wuxi company’s industrialisation and informatisation manufacturing capabilities, it was determined
that Wuxi company meets the requirements of the “Requirements for the Integration Management
System of Informatisation and Industrialisation” (GB/T23001-2017) and “New Capability Grading
Requirements for the Integration Management System of Informatisation and Industrialisation” (GB/
T23006-2022) standards. Wuxi company was awarded the AA-Grade Integration of Informatisation
and Industrialisation Management System Certificate, promoting the company’s intelligent, digital,
green transformation and high-quality development.
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Integration of Informatisation and Industrialisation Management System Certificate
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Honorary Awards

In 2023, CPMC won numerous awards issued by customers for its reliable quality, timely delivery
and satisfying services.
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“Excellent Quality Award of the Budweiser APAC Supplier Strategic Alliance”,
“Budweiser SSA Best BP Sharing Supplier”, “Best Supplier of Budweiser”
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“Best Partner of Mengniu”, “Coca-Cola Outstanding Supplier Award”,
“Outstanding Supplier of Carlsberg”, “BASF Annual Supplier Award”
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Participation in formulation of industry standards

In 2023, the Company participated in or presided over the formulation of 7 national standards/
industry standards/group standards organised by units such as the China Packaging Federation
and the National Standardisation Technical Committee for Packaging, including the Quality
Grading and “Leader” Evaluation Requirements — Claw-type Twist Cover, the Quality Grading
and “Leader” Evaluation Requirements — Tinplate Printing Products, the Technical Specifications
for Evaluation of Green Design Products — Tin (Chrome) Coated Plate Printing Products and the
Technical Specifications for Evaluation of Green Design Products — Coated Iron Cans.

In addition, CPMC serves as a member of 5 industry authoritative organisations, including the
Metal Articles Technical Sub-committee of the National Standardisation Technical Committee
for Materials and Articles in Contact with Foodstuff and the National Standardisation Technical
Committee for Packaging.

Quality Improvement

CPMC attaches great importance and continues to improve product quality. Through various
channels such as customer feedback, separation of abnormal products, review and discovery
and quality communication, it carries out quality improvement activities such as benchmarking
management, quality team improvement, typical defect correction, “a little lesson” and “a little
improvement”, encouraging the participation of all employees, striving to create a lean quality
atmosphere, continuously innovating activity mechanisms, so as to enhance the quality awareness of
all employees and reduce quality risks, thereby promoting the Company’s high-quality development.
In 2023, the Company organised 32 quality improvement benchmarking projects, 38 typical defect
corrections, 631 items for “a little lesson”, and 2,807 items for “a little improvement”, which effectively
reduced process waste, achieving improvement benefits of RMB8.67 million during the project
period.

“A little lesson”

“A little lesson” is the course independently compiled by workshop team leaders or frontline
workers for the purpose of exchanging experiences and self-study. The content mainly includes
basic knowledge, improvement cases and summaries of everyday problems, with the typical
course study time being 5 to 10 minutes.

“A little improvement”

“A little improvement” is the targeted improvement aimed at addressing the difficult problems
encountered in daily work. It primarily involves content such as basic principles, operating
methods, detection technologies and experience sharing.
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Product Tracing

MANAGEMENT In order to achieve the whole-process management and control of production of various packaging
DISCUSSION products in production and operation, CPMC has formulated relevant systems such as the Technical
AND ANALYSIS

Specifications for Traceability System Construction of CPMC, constructing a product tracing system
under the framework of ISO9001 and FSSC22000 systems. During the Year, CPMC has substantially
achieved whole-process control and two-way rapid tracing from raw materials to finished products,
continuously improving the efficiency and quality of product traceability

The informatisation system for the whole product process

Barcode System

CORPORATE '
GOVERNANCE
SPC System
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CPMC has formulated and strictly complies with the Administrative Measures on Product Recall of
CPMC and other related systems to carry out product recall drills on a regular basis, standardise
recall procedures, establish emergency response plans, and minimise the losses to customers
caused by product recall issues. During the Year, CPMC had no recalls of sold or shipped products
due to safety and health reasons.
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Product recall procedure flow chart of CPMC
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2.2. Driven by Innovation

CPMC actively promotes scientific and technological innovation to realise timely transformation of
innovation achievements through product and technology innovation and intellectual property rights
protection, helping the Company’s high-quality development.

Product and Technology Innovation

During the Year, CPMC revised four systems, namely the Administrative Measures of CPMC for
Technology Innovation, the Technology R&D Projects Management Process of CPMC, the Incentive
Measures of CPMC for Technology Innovation and the Administrative Measures of CPMC for
Benchmarking Management, to improve the management systems on establishment of research and
development projects, and technical achievement evaluation and awards, striving to enhance the
enthusiasm for technological innovation.

The Company has set up the CPMC working group of technological experts, relying on the
information technology centre, technology centre, engineering & equipment centre and the
manufacturing departments of various product lines of the headquarters (hereinafter referred to as
the “3+N’ technology innovation system”). CPMC has continuously increased its efforts in tackling
key core technologies, established and improved multi-level and systematic incentive systems for
scientific and technological innovation talents, and promoted synergistic innovation among different
technical departments, business divisions, and product lines in the aspects of product innovation,
intelligent manufacturing, technology development, and science and technology management.

CPMC continues to promote product innovation through technological means. In 2023, the Company
completed the research and development of intelligent ink levels adjustment system for two-piece
cans, digital chain coding technology and other products, and continued to promote research on
digital simulation technology and exploration on cutting-edge Al design.

Intelligent ink levels adjustment system for two-piece cans

In 2023, CPMC independently developed an intelligent ink levels adjustment system for two-
piece cans, with an innovative design on the mechanical structure and the upper computer
control program. Compared with the existing traditional ink adjustment technology, the system
was featured with the technical advantages of fast ink adjustment, high efficiency, high precision,
simple operation, and visualisation of ink key opening degree, which significantly reduced the
production cost and the operational intensity of manual plate changing.

Digital chain coding technology

Digital chain coding technology was developed for three-piece cans, which for the first time
realised online asynchronous coding on both internal and external coding of the centre, as well as
100% correlation between internal and external coding. The technology realised integrative code
marking on the aluminum foil centre and reduced the potential risk of foreign materials generated
in the inner code.

New type of vibration-resistant and easy-to-separate material-saving steel drum caps

CPMC has developed new type of vibration-resistant and easy-to-separate material-saving steel
drum caps that eliminated the industry pain point of cracked bottom of drums. The technology
significantly improved the vibration-resistant performance of the bottom of drums by optimising
the shape of the stiffeners, thereby leading the industry.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Blow molded follow-through cooling mold design

CPMC designed a blow molded follow-through cooling mold. The technology enabled a molding
form in less than 15 seconds, which is an industry-leading level.

Intellectual Property Rights

CPMC has actively responded to and complied with the Implementation Rules of the Patent Law of
the People’s Republic of China (Revised in 2023), the “14th Five Year” National Intellectual Property
Protection and Application Plan and other relevant national laws and regulations on intellectual
property rights protection, and has established and improved the intellectual property management
system, clarifying intellectual property management organisational structure and responsibilities.
CPMC has formulated internal management systems such as the CPMC Patent Administrative
Measures, the CPMC Trademark Administrative Measures and the CPMC Copyright Administrative
Measures to continuously optimise its patent and trademark management system and strengthen
its efforts in intellectual property rights protection, so as to encourage and protect technological
innovations from the origins.

CPMC is determined to protect its own intellectual property rights. Intellectual property protection
is strengthened at the beginning of project establishment, and technology novelty search reports
are required for researches involving cutting-edge technologies, so as to reserve evidence for
cracking down on infringement by other parties while ensuring the project innovativeness. For joint
development projects, the Company communicates with the partners in advance to confirm the
ownership of intellectual property rights and signs cooperation agreements to avoid subsequent
conflicts and disputes. The Company has strictly regulated and implemented the process of patent
disclosure application (OA) in accordance with the Patent Disclosure Application Form to realise
hierarchical approval of patents and strengthen management of intellectual property rights. In order
to raise employees’ awareness of intellectual property protection, during the Year, CPMC engaged
external experts to conduct patent exploration and deployment, and planed the “3+N” innovation
system patent exchange and training. A total of more than 120 people participated in the exchange
and training.

CPMC also respects the intellectual property rights of others, and guards against the infringement
risks of trademark rights, copyrights, patent rights and trade secrets at all times in the process of
product design, R&D and publicity. Before a R&D project is established, CPMC will leverage its
professional platform to conduct a search and analysis on the patent applications and authorisations
of each product line, and focus on the investigation of the peer patent projects, so as to mitigate the
risk arising from infringement. CPMC requires that proprietary software installed and used on office
computers shall be legally authorised according to the Regulations on the Use and Management of
Proprietary Software Products of CPMC (Trial). Furthermore, the Company carries out a special self-
inspection on “font use infringement” in respect of the process of product design, R&D and publicity
to strictly review the compliance of fonts used on the promotional website, product brochures and
other publicity materials

In 2023, CPMC added 7 granted invention patents and 45 utility model patents. By the end of 2023,
CPMC has been granted 367 patents and 4 software copyrights.
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2.3. Quality Services

CPMC provides customers with pre-sale, in-sale and after-sale whole-process services in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the Customer Service Management Procedures, striving
to improve customer service standards. The Company has set up a special service team for key
customers to provide one-on-one quality and technology services, and regularly conducts activities
such as quality and technology exchange meetings and key indicator testing and benchmarking to
establish positive interactive communication ties with key customers. In 2023, CPMC held quality and
technology exchange activities with key customers on a regular basis to jointly promote the high-
quality development of products.

Pre-sale, in-sale and after-sale whole-process services

In-sale After-sale

e Technology
exchange
® Service tracking

e Complaint handling
e Verification and
feedback

e Technology
benchmarking
* Technology services

On-site photo of CPMC'’s quality and technology exchange held with key customers

Food safety day activity

CPMC joined hands with its customers to launch the World Food Safety Day activity, which raised
employees’ awareness of product quality while strengthening interaction and exchanges with
customers, endeavoring to foster a good atmosphere of “food safety is everyone’s duty, everyone
cares about quality and everyone values quality”.
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Complaint Handling

CPMC has continued to improve its customer complaint response mechanism, and has opened up
multiple smooth complaint channels such as hotlines, email, WeChat, and fax. The Company has
taken the Customer Service Management Procedures as a guideline and followed the “137 principle”
to handle and respond to the customer complaint in a timely manner, i.e., internal tracing and
analysis shall be completed within 1 day, and personnel shall be arranged at the scene for analysis
and processing when necessary; responsible departments shall complete the cause analysis within
3 days; for general issues, remedies shall be formulated and implemented within 7 days.

Customer complaint response mechanism
ﬁ_%

Complaint handling -
information collection
and classification

Y L ——

Verification and
feedback
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handling through on the part of
negotiation the Company

[

External responsibility
(External claims for
compensation)

Internal responsibility
(Implementation of
corrections)

In 2023, CPMC received a total of 1,210 quality feedbacks from customers. About 70% of the
complaints were about wear and tear scratches caused by transportation and unloading, printing
defects and other issues on appearance, and the customer complaint handling rate reached 100%.

Customer Satisfaction Survey

CPMC designs differentiated questionnaires for different customer groups every year,
comprehensively collects customer opinions and suggestions from quality, delivery, transportation,
service and other multiple dimensions, and produces a satisfaction survey report based on the
results of the questionnaires, so as to provide customers with precise and personalised services.
In recent years, the Company’s customer satisfaction rate has been at a relatively high level in the
industry, where the customer satisfaction rate of two-piece can products has remained at above 90%
in recent five years.
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Management on Advertising and Labeling Matters

MANAGEMENT CPMC adheres to the principle of quality compliance and strictly abides by the Trademark Law of the
DISCUSSION People’s Republic of China, the Printing Industry Management Regulations, the Commodity Barcode
AND ANALYSIS Management Measures as well as other laws and regulations. The Company has obtained the
printing business license and the commodity barcode printing qualification certificate, and engaged
in printing business activities in strict accordance with the scope licensed by the certificate. The
Company has collected the entrusting party’s relevant qualification materials including registered
trademark and commodity barcode pursuant to the Sales Contract Control Procedures before
accepting entrusted printing order or signing contracts, and checked against their compliance.
Before the printed matters go to print, the Company is required to collect and check against the
entrusting party’s relevant qualification materials again in accordance with the Customer Service

CORPORATE Control Procedures and the Control Procedures Prior to Printing. Only after compliance is confirmed
GOVERNANCE can printing begin. In 2023, there were no product recalls due to advertising or labeling issues.
REPORT

Privacy Protection

CPMC attaches great importance to customer privacy protection, and implements the Administrative
Measures of CPMC on Confidentiality Work, the CPMC Confidentiality Management Regulations
and other internal systems in strict compliance with the Administrative Measures for the Electronic
Files Archives and the Electronic Files Management for Administration Services issued by the
State Council. CPMC has established a risk control checklist in accordance with the Measures for
the Compliance Management of Central State-owned Enterprises, treating confidentiality as a risk
management issue. At the same time, the Company regularly reviews the confidentiality clauses in

ENVIRONMENTAL, . Lo e

SOCIAL AND the confidentiality contract templates and the sales and procurement contract templates, clarifying

GOVERNANCE the confidentiality responsibility of both parties to the contract, and strictly complies with the various

REESRE confidentiality agreements signed with its customers to proactively prevent the information leakage
risk.

CPMC lays emphasis on privacy and confidentiality training for its employees. During the national
security publicity and education month activity in 2023, CPMC organised one confidentiality and
national security training examination for all employees at all levels to enhance the confidentiality
and non-defaulting awareness of all employees. During the Year, CPMC did not experience any
information leakage or violation of customer privacy.

DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR .
MANAGEMENT 2.4. Responsible Purchase

PROFILE CPMC is committed to building sustainable, win-win and mutually beneficial cooperative
relationships with its business partners. In 2023, CPMC revised and issued internal systems such
as the Purchasing Management Procedures of CPMC, the By-Products Production Management
Procedures of CPMC, the Outside Warehouses Management System of CPMC and the Regulations
on the implementation of Purchasing Operation Management of CPMC, so as to continue to
strengthen control over centralised purchasing and informatisation purchasing, and to build a
responsible supply chain to pursue common progress together with our suppliers.

REPORT OF THE

DIRECTORS Supplier Management

In order to effectively identify supplier risks, CPMC continuously improves the whole life cycle
management process of supplier admission, assessment and exit, and promotes the construction of
a supplier management system.

During the Year, 100% of suppliers were in compliance with the Suppliers Management Procedures
of CPMC, the Suppliers Management Procedures, the Administrative Measures for Equipment
Bidding of CPMC and the Administrative Measures for Infrastructure Project Bidding of CPMC
Investment Co., Ltd.
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Supplier Admission

For suppliers of main raw and ancillary materials, CPMC requires them to undergo business and
technology passing recognition by the Company. At the same time, suppliers of key materials
are subject to on-site review. During the Year, CPMC conducted surveys on newly introduced
suppliers of key resources in terms of human rights, salary, safety and hygiene, and environmental
protection, etc., and kept relevant information on file.

Supplier Assessment

CPMC attaches great importance to suppliers’ performance in terms of product quality and social
responsibility, and assesses suppliers through daily dynamic assessment and on-site reviews
from time to time from multiple dimensions such as supply assurance, business conditions,
quality safety and service evaluation. For suppliers involved in food safety, the quality and safety
department of the Company conducts irregular flight inspections. If major substandard problems
are found, purchases will be reduced or suspended, and suppliers will be supervised for
rectification.

Incentive and Exit System for Suppliers

CPMC implements order incentives, strategic cooperation, order punishment, exclusion and other
incentives and punishment for suppliers based on the cooperation with them during its ordinary
operations and assessment results. Suppliers who have breached contracts, cheated, or violated
laws and regulations in business transactions such as product trade, production and processing,
and have caused economic losses or damage to goodwill shall be added to the supplier blacklist
of CPMC, and the business cooperation with them will be suspended or terminated as well.

As of the end of the reporting period, CPMC had a total of 2,223 cooperative suppliers, including
2,214 suppliers from the Mainland of China, 3 suppliers from Taiwan, Hong Kong and Macau, and 6
suppliers from regions other than the Mainland of China, Taiwan, Hong Kong and Macau.
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Number of suppliers in Mainland of China by region PROFILE
Eastern China 1,144
Southern China 462
Central China 99
Northern China 302
The Northwest 18
The Southwest 135 REPORT OF THE
The Northeast 54 DIRECTORS
Incorrupt Supply Chain

CPMC is committed to building an open and transparent integrity culture in the supply chain. In
order to strengthen the construction of a supply chain integrity system, the Company has created a
supervision system incorporating self-inspection on the supply chain system, interior examining, and
special audit of the audit department in accordance with the CPMC Integrity Risk Prevention and
Control Manual and other internal systems, so as to smooth out the supply chain integrity feedback
channels.
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For purchasing personnel

° Carried out 15 Party Branch theoretical studies, systematically studying the spirit of
important speeches on the work of the construction of Party conduct and integrity, and the
spirit of the documents on the construction of Party conduct and integrity issued by the Party
committee

o Conducted the Supply Chain System Integrity Practice Examination of CPMC, with a total of
122 participants throughout the Year.

For suppliers

° Suppliers with an annual transaction of more than RMB 300,000 have all signed the Sunshine
Agreement

o A total of 338 “Gift Rejection Notices” were issued to centralised purchasing suppliers
throughout the Year

Bidding for by-products production

With the help of information technology, CPMC has implemented centralised and unified bidding
for by-products production, as well as online public bidding for all categories and all factories,
and realised unified video monitoring of key areas of branches, so as to ensure that the bidding
process and procedure are more open and transparent.

Win-win Supply Chain Cooperation
CPMC proactively cooperates with upstream and downstream suppliers in purchase, transportation,
material recycling and other procedures, and actively builds a green supply chain.

o Priority is given to the procurement of electrolytic tin steel coils, cold-rolled steel coils and other
coils as well as waveform cut-off steel sheets, which can provide better material suitability and
higher material utilisation than mold-formed sheets and ordinary sheets, to reduce the amount

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR

MANAGEMENT of raw materials consumed in the production process.
PROFILE

o Priority is given to the procurement of green and environmentally friendly raw and ancillary
materials with a lower content of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) such as coated iron and
water-based paint to reduce VOCs emissions from the source.

o Actively changing transportation mode, such as logistics routes optimisation, water transport
instead of road transport to reduce energy consumption and pollution, and large vehicles
instead of small ones, to increase the proportion of clean transportation.

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

o Cooperating with suppliers to efficiently recycle surplus materials such as aluminium and
steel through equipment upgrades and technological transformation. In 2023, the Company
achieved a direct recycling rate of 40% and an indirect recycling rate of 60% for surplus steel,
and a direct recycling rate of 100% for surplus aluminium.
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ENERGY SAVING AND EMISSION REDUCTION FACILITATING LOW-CARBON

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
. . . o . . . AND ANALYSIS
Adhering to the principle of ecology priority, CPMC proactively promotes various energy saving and water
saving measures and strictly regulates the management of emissions, so as to mitigate the environmental
impact of its business operation and protect the ecological environment from destruction.
3.1. Environmental Objectives
The Company has formulated the Environmental Operation Control Procedures and amended
the Administration Regulations of CPMC on Environmental Protection to scientifically manage
environmental protection related matters in its operation, and focused on promoting projects such as
carbon reduction project at the source, elimination of backward production capacity, energy saving CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

of motor systems, waste heat recovery project, renewable energy utilisation and informatisation
improvement projects, so as to mitigate the environmental impact of its operation.

REPORT

During the Year, the Company invested RMB21 million to carry out a total of 23 energy-saving and
environmental protection projects. During the reporting period, CPMC had no material violations of
environmental laws and regulations.

The progress towards our environmental objectives is shown in the table below:

Objectives

Objectives related to
emissions

Using 2021 as the base year,
promote the implementation of
photovoltaic projects and achieve
a cumulative reduction of 12,000
tonnes of greenhouse gas emission
by 2025

Progress of 2023

In 2023, the greenhouse gas
emissions reduced by 7,900

tonnes through promotion and
implementation of photovoltaic
projects; as of the end of 2023, a
total of 16,900 tonnes of greenhouse
gas emission was reduced, therefore
achieving greenhouse gas reduction
objectives in advance.

Using 2021 as the base year,
promote VOCs exhaust gas
treatment, complete full coverage of
treatment, and reduce VOCs exhaust
gas emissions by 5,000 tonnes in
total by 2025

In 2023, the treatment was fully
implemented through promotion of
VOCs exhaust gas treatment, and a
cumulative reduction of more than
4,000 tonnes of VOCs exhaust gas
emissions

In 2023, the discharge concentration
of wastewater (COD, ammonia
nitrogen) meets or outperforms
national and local standards

Completed in 2023

Objectives related to
resource usage

Using 2021 as the base year,
achieve a photovoltaic installed
capacity of 20MW by 2025

In 20283, the newly added
photovoltaic installed capacity
reached 11MW, and the total
installed capacity reached 17.75MW

Using 2022 as the base year,
achieve an improvement in water

utilisation efficiency of 6.4% by 2026

The efficiency of water usage
recorded an increase of 1.56% in
2023 compared with 2022
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3.2. Green Manufacturing

MANAGEMENT Improvement of Energy Efficiency

DISCUSSION In accordance with relevant laws and regulations such as the Energy Conservation Law of the
AND ANALYSIS People’s Republic of China, CPMC formulated the Energy and Resource Control Procedures and
the Equipment Maintenance Control Procedures and assigned dedicated personnel for energy
conservation and emission reduction to continue to manage energy consumption. The Company
continued to implement a series of energy management measures, selected the low-energy
equipment, regulated the running time of equipment, and reduced the energy consumption of
processes, thus reducing greenhouse gas emissions.

¢ Eliminate the backward mechanical and electrical equipment with high energy consumption and

CORPORATE ) . . . )
continuously improve the energy efficiency level of key energy-using equipment. In 2023, the

GOVERNANCE ) .

REPORT Company has completed the replacement of 58 sets of backward mechanical and electrical

equipment, saving a total of 225,286.40 kWh of electricity.
e Select suitable electric equipment according to the power requirements of production process

e Adjust the brightness of workshops according to production needs and shut down production
Adj ust equipment in a timely manner according to the production situation
Op er ati on e Strictly control the use of natural gas in accordance with the standby time during the production
process to reduce the no-load consumption of natural gas
schedule e Recycle and utilise the waste heat generated by the operation of the supporting air compressor
equipment to provide power for the operation of can washing machine

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT
Reduce the
e Use LED UV technology in the printing and other production processes, which directly converts
energy : kg . i g
. electric energy into optical energy without preheating in advance compared with traditional
consum pthﬂ printing methods, saving an average of 1.5 million kWh of electricity per year.

of processes

Energy-saving project of air compressors

DIRECTORS AND

fmggww The Company conducted a survey on the current situation of air compressors, promoted the

PROFILE replacement of air compressors with long service life and the purchase of compressed airs from
third parties to reduce the energy consumption of air compressors. It is estimated that the carbon
dioxide emission may be reduced by 586 tonnes per year after the transformation of the air
compressor projects in Panyu and Hangzhou. We promoted the cloud control technology of air
compressors, improved the operation efficiency of air compressors, increased the compressed
air output per unit of electricity, and provided power for operation of machines. It is estimated that
the carbon dioxide emissions may be reduced by 260 tonnes per year after the transformation of
the air compressor projects in Panyu and Jiaxing.

REPORT OF THE

DIRECTORS

Clean Energy

The Company continued to develop rooftop photovoltaic projects, implemented distributed
photovoltaic power generation projects in the usable areas of the roofs of workshops, warehouses,
office buildings and dormitories, optimised and adjusted the Company’s energy structure, and
improved the utilisation ratio of renewable energy. In 2023, our new installed photovoltaic capacity of
factories in Kunshan, Jiaxing and Kuming reached 11MW; so far the Company has a total of installed
capacity of 17.75 MW and its annual electricity generation has reached 3.5798 million kWh.
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Water Resource Management

The Company implements measures such as upgrading production processes consuming large
amount of water, water-saving technological transformation, and reuse of reclaimed water, promoting
recycling and utilisation of reclaimed water and reducing water consumption in the production
process. Meanwhile, we regularly inspect water pipes, faucets and other water facilities to reduce
waste of water resource caused by drips and leakage.

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

CPMC attaches importance to the wastewater treatment and has formulated the Sewage Control
Procedures, clarifying the wastewater treatment procedures, that is, the sewage generated in the
production process shall be treated by the factory sewage treatment station, and then discharged
into municipal sewage pipelines after meeting the standard.

CORPORATE

GOVERNANCE
REPORT

Waste Management

In accordance with relevant laws and regulations in respect of waste management, CPMC formulated
the Waste Control Procedures and the Waste Management Implementation Procedures and Rules
and made amendments to the Administrative Requirements of CPMC on Safety and Environmental
Protection of Hazardous Waste, providing guidance on the compliance of various waste treatment of
the Company.

Classified treatment for waste

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE

Non-hazardous waste Hazardous waste

Non-hazardous waste that can be sold is
sold in accordance with the requirements
of the Waste Management Implementation
Procedures and Rules.

For general domestic waste, special storage
boxes are placed in and then handed over
to environmental and hygiene agencies for
disposal.

Hazardous waste generated during
the production process (such as waste
solvent, waste ink paint and chemical
packaging container) is collected by the
user departments, labeled, and placed
in a designated place after taking leak-
proof measures, which is then handed over
to qualified third parties or suppliers for
harmless and compliant treatment.

REPORT

DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
2 . o . .. . . PROFILE
Comprehensive utilisation of solid waste containing aluminum and iron
In 2023, the Company sold the solid waste containing aluminum and iron to qualified third
parties for treatment and disposal by recycling, and gradually increased the proportion of
recycled aluminum used in product manufacturing. During the Year, we recycled 47,700
tonnes of scrap aluminum and scrap iron.
Practice of demulsification process of waste' emulsion of two-piece can
REPORT OF THE

DIRECTORS

The Company has explored a new demulsification technology suitable for waste emulsion of
two-piece can, which separates the waste emulsion into purified oil and wastewater. In 2023,
such technology helped Hangzhou pilot factory to reduce the treatment of hazardous waste
liquid by 30%. In the future, we will gradually promote this technology, and it is estimated
that more than 100 tonnes of hazardous waste liquid will be reduced per year.

' Demulsification: refers to the process of eliminating the stability conditions of emulsion and making dispersed droplets
aggregate and stratify.
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Exhaust Gas Management

MANAGEMENT The Company produces exhaust gas, including nitrogen oxides, sulfur dioxide, smoke and dust,
DISCUSSION VOCs, in the production process of cleaning, colour printing, internal coating and laboratory operation.
AND ANALYSIS We strictly comply with the Air Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of
China, and have formulated the Exhaust Gas Control Procedures to effectively treat exhaust gas.

In order to reduce the emission of VOCs in the production process, the Company applied LED UV
technology to printing, curing and other processes. This technology uses ultraviolet light with long
wavelength to help realise zero emission of VOCs and ozone, and is safer and more environmentally
friendly than traditional technology. We also concentrated the production waste gas through VOCs
concentration wheels, and the concentrated exhaust gas entered the regenerative thermal oxidiser
CORPORATE (RTO) to increase the heat for the burner, so as to reduce its reheat time and improve the energy
GOVERNANCE utilisation efficiency while treating the exhaust gas according to standards. As of the end of 2023,
REPORT we have put 16 sets of RTO facilities in normal operation, effectively treating more than 95% of
exhaust gas. In addition, we collected laboratory exhaust gas through the exhaust gas treatment
pipelines, which was treated by exhaust gas treatment equipment and discharged after reaching the
standards. As of the end of 2023, CPMC had reduced VOCs emissions by over 4,000 tonnes in total.

Wuxi company exhaust gas treatment project for rear of drying rooms on coating lines

Wuxi company remodeled the exhaust gas system for the rear of drying rooms on coating lines,

ENVIRONMENTAL, connecting the rear exhaust duct to the combustion chamber, so that the exhaust from the rear
Z‘;s':;N‘:’:;E exhaust duct can be used as fresh air in the combustion chamber for combustion, providing
REPORT heat for tinplate drying. The transformation realised the recycling of rear exhaust, reducing the

emission of VOCs by 5 tonnes per year.

Green Products

CPMC adheres to the philosophy of “light weight, low carbonisation and recycling”, actively
researches and develops new technologies and optimises product design, so as to create green
products while ensuring product quality.

DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR In terms of aluminum products, the Company continuously improves the technology of aluminum can
MANAGEMENT body thinning, reduces the weight of the can by optimising the design of the can body and using
PROFILE a lightweight cover, and is committed to building a low-carbon “lightweight can” on the premise of
ensuring product quality. This year, we made secondary processing on the can bottom through the
secondary bottom forming and thinning technology of aluminum and improved the compressive
strength of the can bottom, saving more than 280 tonnes of aluminum throughout the year.

In terms of tinplate products, we are the first company in China to complete the localisation
development of thermoplastic elastomer (TPE) particles and its supporting internal coating system,
and successfully applied the system to the twist cap products. Compared with the traditional
REPORT OF THE production process of polyvinyl chloride (PVC) twist caps, TPE twist caps are directly moulded,
DIRECTORS . e . . . .

simplifying the production process and effectively reducing the consumption of natural gas and the
emission of VOCs.
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In terms of plastic products, CPMC can save 288.5 tonnes of plastic annually by increasing the
proportion of post-consumer recycled plastics (PCR), adjusting the mixing technology and optimising
the packaging design scheme.

In terms of storage and transportation of products, we improve the recycling of outer packaging
and reduce the consumption of outer packaging by replacing wooden pallets with plastic pallets
and corrugated lining paper with plastic lining paper. During the reporting period, the use of plastic
pallets accounted for more than 75%, the use of plastic lining paper accounted for more than 75%,
the recovery rate of wooden pallets was over 81%, and the recovery rate of plastic pallets and plastic
lining paper was over 98%.

Green Office

CPMC attaches great importance to the environmental management of the office area. The Company
has formulated relevant systems for energy conservation and environmental protection in the office
area and adopted a series of energy conservation and consumption reduction measures, realising
green office. We have posted slogans in the office area, propagandising the philosophy of saving
electricity, paper and water. At the same time, the Company has set up classified garbage bins in
the office building, actively promoted garbage sorting, and entrusted a sanitation agency to treat the
domestic garbage. The sewage generated in the office area is discharged into the municipal sewage
pipeline after treatment, and the hazardous waste is treated harmlessly by a qualified third party.

o Install energy-saving lamps to replace traditional lamps, advocate employees to turn off the
power supply after work, so that the lights go out when people leave, and appoint a special
person to be responsible for patrolling the use of electricity

o Post water saving signs to prevent water equipment from dripping
° Advocate the “clear your plate” campaign to reduce food waste and kitchen waste

Response to Climate Change

As a leading enterprise in the packaging industry, in order to firmly implement major decisions
and deployments on energy conservation and ecological environment protection, and carbon
peaking and carbon neutrality of China, CPMC formulated the CPMC Carbon Emissions Peaking
Implementation Plan, continuously advanced systematic and whole-process carbon reduction
actions, actively identified and responded to climate change, thereby contributing to the carbon
peaking and carbon neutrality in China.

Our Actions

In order to effectively respond to climate change, the Company identified and evaluated various
climate change risks and proposed strategies and measures to deal with risks, providing guarantee
for green, low-carbon and sustainable operation of businesses. In 2023, the Company has
completed carbon verification at two factories and formulated targeted carbon reduction strategies
to help achieve carbon reduction goals.
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Risk Risk Description Risk Response
Physical risk  Acute Extremely cold weather o Formulated supply guarantee
. It would increase the costs related measures and safety risk
to the loss and maintenance of gas prevention and control measures
supply pipeline facilities under extremely cold weather
. It would increase the risk of conditions
workers to work outdoors
Extreme weather (typhoon, rainstorm, o Formulated contingency plans
etc.) for typhoon prevention and flood
. It would seriously damage the control and conducted drills on a
power or water supply facilities, regular basis
resulting in the suspension of . Guided factories to carry out
operations of some factories’ prevention and early warning work
production lines and other in an orderly and efficient manner
businesses after heavy rain and typhoon
. It would increase the flooding risks forecasts are released
of factories in low- lying areas o Guided factories to carry out
emergency disaster relief activities
in a timely manner to protect lives
and safety of employees and
ensure the safety of production
facilities to the greatest extent after
occurrence of floods and typhoons
Chronic Sea level rise o Took into account the impact of
. It would increase the risks of rising sea level during location
factories located in coastal areas selection, planning and design of
being submerged new factories.
Climate warming o Increased the frequency of
. It would increase the risks of heat maintenance and inspection of fire
waves, droughts and fires protection equipment in factories
and office areas
Transition Policy and Law  Change of energy structure o Encouraged to make more
Risk . In the long term, the national measures to improve energy

energy structure will shift to non-
fossil fuel energy

efficiency
o Carried out distributed photovoltaic
projects

Technology

Technological innovation

. In general, the government
encourages technological
improvements or innovations
that support the low-carbon
transformation of the economic
system

o Adopted emerging technologies
such as lightweight products and
use of renewable materials

Market

Shifting consumer preferences

. Environmental awareness of
customers and consumers raised
with a focus on low-carbon
and environmental attributes of
products

o Actively explored low-carbon
packaging solutions

Reputation

Stakeholder concerns

o More and more stakeholders
are concerned about relevant
measures of listed companies to
respond to climate change

o The management managed and
monitored measures to respond to
climate change and paid attention
to the trend of climate-related
policy

o Publicly disclosed measures to
respond to climate change and its
achievements in the ESG report
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Environmental Key Performance Indicators

KPI Unit 2023 Data
Total energy consumption( MWh 614,192.80
Direct energy consumption, including: MWh 274,920.29
Gasoline MWh 915.77
Diesel MWh 598.70
Natural gas MWh 273,054.59
Liquefied petroleum gas MWh 351.24
Toit:cljlggil,:zft energy consumption, MWh 330,272.51
Electricity, including: MWh 339,057.03
Purchased electricity MWh 335,477.22
Renewable energy electricity MWh 3,579.81
Purchased heat MWh 215.48
Energy consumption per unit of revenue MWh/RMB million revenue 59.83
Total water consumption® tonnes 1,897,206.97
Water consumption per unit of revenue tonnes/RMB million revenue 184.82
Toftjrl ;T;:J;]; (:;‘rggﬁlé?sglng materials used tonnes 11.832.45
To;?lrzjg:jglng materials used per unit tonnes/RMB million revenue 1.15
Notes:

(1)

The comprehensive energy consumption is calculated based on direct and indirect energy consumption
with reference to the coefficients in the National Standards of the PRC, General Principles for Calculation of
the Comprehensive Energy Consumption (GB/T 2589-2020). During the reporting period, our major energy
consumption was purchased electricity and natural gas.

CPMC'’s water supply resources are from the municipal water supply and there is no issue in sourcing
suitable water.
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KPI Unit 2023 Data
Total GHG emissions” (Scope 1 and 2)@ tCO,, 282,373.92
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) tCO,, 55,748.81
Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2) tCO,, 226,625.10
GHG emissions per unit of revenue tCO, /RMB million revenue 27.51
Total oxynitride emissions tonnes 41.05
Total sulfur dioxide emissions tonnes 8.43
Total soot emissions tonnes 18.36
Total VOCs emissions tonnes 26.80
Total volume of hazardous wastes® tonnes 3,421.34
Toitr?(lzl\;odlit:’]nge of non-hazardous wastes®, tonnes 47.924.64
Tott(ilo\r/]c(;lrt:ra/is()t;csiomestlc wastes and tonnes 278,92
Total volume of production wastes tonnes 47,145.71
Volume of hazardous wastes per unit of tonnes/RMB million revenue 033
revenue
Volume of non-hazardous wastes per unit tonnes/RMB million revenue 467
of revenue
Wastewater tonnes 1,314,170.28
Total chemical oxygen demand tonnes 34.80
Notes:

(1)  CPMC’s GHG inventory includes carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide, which are mainly derived from
gasoline, diesel, natural gas, LPG, purchased electricity and steam. GHG emissions data is presented in
carbon dioxide equivalent. Among them, GHG emissions from electricity are calculated based on “Average
Carbon Dioxide Emission Factors of China’s Regional Power Grids in 2011 and 2012” issued by the
NDRC, carbon emissions from steam are calculated according to NDRC'’s “Accounting Methodology and
Reporting Guidelines of Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Trial Implementation)”, and the GHG emissions from
other energies are calculated based on the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories
(2019 Edition) issued by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), the standard “GB/T
2589-2020 General Principles of Calculation of the Comprehensive Energy Consumption” issued by the
State Administration for Market Regulation and the Standardization Administration of China, and the Sixth
Assessment Report of IPCC.

(2)  Scope 1 GHG covers the greenhouse gas emissions from gasoline, diesel, natural gas and LPG consumed
by Company’s operations. Scope 2 GHG covers the greenhouse gas emissions from the internal
consumption of electricity and heat of the Company.

(8) Hazardous wastes are mainly waste sludge, waste liquid and other hazardous wastes listed in the “National
Hazardous Waste List (2021 Edition)”.

(4)  Non-hazardous wastes are mainly domestic waste, kitchen waste and general production waste. In
particular, domestic waste and kitchen waste are handled by the environmental protection department;
general production wastes are mainly scrap aluminium, scrap iron, etc., which are mostly disposed of by
means of recycling and reuse.
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PEOPLE FIRST AND GROWING TOGETHER

CPMC believes in the development concept known as “talent is the first resource” and operates in strict
compliance with the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labor Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Trade Union Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Articles of the Chinese
Trade Union and other relevant laws and regulations. The Company values the sustainable development of
talent as its priority, and cares for its employees from these five perspectives, i.e. employee rights, talent
development, employee communication, occupational health and safety, and employee care, as it strives
to establish a reputation as a responsible employer.

4.1. Employee Rights
To safeguard the rightful interests of its employees, CPMC has adopted a series of internal
administrative guidelines such as “Recruitment Management Policy of CPMC”, “Administrative
Regulations of CPMC for Attendance and Leaves”, “Performance Administrative Measures of CPMC”
and “Recruitment Process for Fresh Graduates”, effectively protecting the rights and interests of
employees.

Recruitment, Employment and Diversity

The Company has been unremittingly optimising its recruitment and employment process, and has
adopted a diverse talent recruitment approach that combines centralised selection and ongoing
talent scouting, as well as internal promotions and external hires, aiming to attract the best talent
in the market. During the Year, the Company revised the “CPMC Staff Recruitment Management
System” to further optimise its recruitment and employment standards and procedures while
ensuring fairness and transparency in the recruitment and hiring processes. The Company upholds
the belief in equality and strives to ensure equal opportunities for all employees while denouncing
discrimination in any form, with an unwavering commitment to fostering a diverse and inclusive
workplace culture. The Company resolutely prohibits child labor and forced labor and has taken
forceful steps to eradicate such unlawful practices and violations. In the event of any illegal
employment practices, the responsible individuals will be held accountable for the consequences
and reported to the local labor and social security authorities. Throughout the Year, CPMC has
remained free of any incidents involving child labor or forced labor.

Remuneration and Performance

CPMC consistently enhances its compensation and benefits system in line with its principle known as
“remuneration based on responsibility, competence and performance and with a balance between
fairness and sustainability”, and strives to provide its employees with competitive compensation
packages in consideration of their job performance, local salary standards, and industry
benchmarks.

The Company has established a transparent and fair performance evaluation system and has been
constantly improving it to ensure objectivity and fairness. We conduct comprehensive assessments
of our employees based on their performance, ethics, and other pertinent factors while actively
engaging in monthly and annual performance reviews. Furthermore, we maintain open channels
for all kinds of feedback and grievances, aiming to ensure that we receive objective and fair
performance evaluation results.
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4.2. Talent Development
MANAGEMENT In support of the implementation of its strategy known as “strengthening the enterprise with talents”,
DISCUSSION CPMC has been making remarkable efforts to ensure equal promotional opportunities and provide a
AND ANALYSIS P . . . .

range of training programs to its employees to unleash their full potential and advance their careers.
We provide diverse career development paths and training methods to inspire our employees and
foster their growth and development.

Promotion Channels

CPMC provides its employees with a “dual-channel” career development path featuring both
“management channel” and “professional channel” to give them more choices in their career
development. Our employees can choose the most appropriate development path for them based on
CORPORATE their own circumstances, so that they can fully showcase their professional abilities and management
GOVERNANCE talents.

REPORT
The Company places a strong emphasis on fostering management talent. We offer fast-track
promotion pathways for exceptional young talents, passionately look for and recruit promising
candidates for managerial roles, and strengthen the depth of our talent pipeline for succession
planning. In 2023, the Company trained and promoted a total of 133 management-level executives.
We place equal emphasis on the training of technical personnel within the Company, and
accordingly we have released the “CPMC Grassroots Staff Career Planning Guide” which, with
reference to a list of occupational qualifications for specific positions, clarifies the promotion
standards and norms within the Company, thereby enhancing our skill-based talent evaluation

ENVIRONMENTAL,

SOCIAL AND system. The Company has adopted and actively leveraged the “3+N” technological innovation

GOVERNANCE system to cultivate young technical talent, which encompasses a comprehensive optimisation of
REPORT

its technical talent management system, covering initiation of technical projects, evaluation and
appointment of and rewards for professional technical talents.

In addition, the Company promotes cross-business, cross-region, and cross-functional competition
and recruitment pathways, aiming to open up channels for talent development, enhance its
competition and recruitment mechanism, and provide our young talents with a larger platform and
space to showcase their abilities.

DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE “Dual-channel”
promotion
system
Management Professional
channel channel
REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

Professional skills

Senior

Management

posts t
t Middle

Employees '
Junior

70 CPMC Holdings Limited




Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Talent Cultivation

CPMC conducts regular staff training for all levels of the Company’s management headquarters,
business divisions and factories. We continuously innovate our training system to address the
development needs of various individuals by integrating specialised training with daily operations
and management practices, aiming to foster the high-quality development of our talent teams.

Moreover, CPMC places significant emphasis on talent cultivation and has established a
comprehensive and multi-tiered staff training system, offering various training sessions tailored to
the diverse skill requirements of different professions. Throughout the Year, the Company has been
proactively organising specialised training sessions, including training programs for fresh graduates,
professional skills enhancement series, and the “Lean Academy” training initiative, to enhance their
vocational skills and production management capabilities.

Furthermore, the Company passionately encourages and supports its employees in enhancing their
professional and educational abilities. In collaboration with the Educational Qualifications Promotion
Project of Hangzhou Qiantang District Labor Union, CPMC arranged for five of its employees to
participate in the college diploma upgrading project; and in collaboration with the “Blue-collar Talent”
Project of the Qiantang District Trade Union, the Company sent eight of its employees to participate
in the specialised skill (e.g. vocational and language skills) enhancement sessions, as a proactive
measure to support their career development.

Training for fresh graduates

During the Year, CPMC organised a total of 6 training sessions for fresh graduates, conducted
both online and offline. Through such methods as course learning, workshops, and flipped
classroom, we assisted our employees in rapidly adapting to changes in their professional roles,
mastering generalist skills, and enhancing their business competencies.

2023 FAREE AR
R MR

One-month seminar for fresh graduates Orientation training for fresh graduates
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“I Am a Professor”

“I Am a Professor” is a series of professional skills professional improvement training organised by
CPMC with the aim of cultivating professional teams in various functional lines and helping them
reach a higher professional level. During the Year, CPMC kicked off four sessions of the themed
leadership training series, with over 40 participants at the director level and above benefiting from
it. The training, centred on compliance management and exemplary management practices, has
effectively enhanced their team management capabilities. In addition, we have organised five
sessions of the “I Am a Professor” human resources function training series, which encompass a
broad spectrum of topics, such as organizational capacity enhancement, investigative research
projects, talent inventory review, talent mapping, and benchmarking against external human
resource management systems. Such training sessions have significantly contributed to the skill
development of our human resource personnel.

FRSIARSSNPE
R

“I Am a Professor” leadership training

“Lean Academy”

“Lean Academy” is one of CPMC's key training programs for improving production management
capabilities. During the Year, the Steel Drum Business Division launched comprehensive
capability enhancement training projects, professional skill improvement projects, and
the “Craftsman Project” for its key operational and production staff, aiming to elevate their
professional skills. The Three-piece Can Business Division kicked off two sessions of the “Fertile
Soil Project” offline training which, through a dual approach of theoretical learning and practical
application, has contributed significantly to the enhancement of its staff’ professional proficiency
and strengthening of their business capabilities. The Plastics Business Division rolled out four
technical training sessions, employing a combination of online theoretical learning and offline
practical guidance to augment the comprehensive abilities of its production technicians, thereby
enabling efficient production in the plastic factories. The Bottle Cap Business Division kicked off
a “3+N” specialised technical enhancement training series, focusing on R&D innovation project
management, and the study of standards and regulations on food safety, which has contributed
significantly to the comprehensive augment of its staff’'s business competencies.

Comprehensive Capacity
improvement training of
the Steel Drum Business Division

The “Fertile Soil Project” training program
(2nd session) of the Three-piece
Can Business Division
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Technician training of “3+N” technology improvement project of CORPORATE

the Plastic Business Division the Bottle Cap Business Division GOVEF:“E/;';&

International Talent Training

CPMC is committed to enhancing the development of international talents by prioritising pre-
departure training for its staff dispatched for overseas projects, which covers crucial areas such
as entry and exit procedures, safety precautions, adjustment to life abroad, and dispatch policies,
with 36 participants participating in the training. Additionally, CPMC has entered into close
cooperation in human resource management with its key clients, particularly in the cultivation ENVIRONMENTAL,
and selection of international talents. Through on-site learning and research projects, CPMC SOCIAL AND
consistently refines its system for the development and deployment of international talents. SONERIAN

REPORT

4.3. Smooth Communication Channels
CPMC has fostered an agreeable environment where its employees are encouraged to freely express
themselves. The Company has been continuously enhancing the communication channels for its
employees to collect and listen to employees’ voices, and give timely feedback, so as to ensure that
care and warmth reach the heart of every one of its employees.

Employee Communication and Grievance DIRECTORS AND
CPMC has developed and enhanced a communication and appeal mechanism for its employees to MANAGSEE“%?‘?
safeguard their legitimate rights and interests. The Company holds the annual meeting of employee PROFILE

representatives to gain insights into their working and living conditions, as well as to gather their
opinions and suggestions on the Company’s management system and practices. CPMC pays
remarkable attention to the issues raised by employee representatives at the meeting, and addresses
them through joint discussions involving the trade union committee and relevant departments,
and ensures timely follow-up on the implementation of corrective actions. CPMC has also set up a
Mediation Committee for Labor Disputes to ensure its employees’ right to appeal, so that they have
the option to file an appeal through the labor union or the Mediation Committee for resolution of their

concerns when their rights and interests are compromised. REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS
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In 2023, the Company received 33 proposals and had them categorised and assigned to the
MANAGEMENT relevant departments for corresponding actions, with a response and implementation rate of 100%.
DISCUSSION CPMC requires the relevant departments to promptly and effectively deal with the feedback, and
AND ANALYSIS . . . . .

address those demands satisfactorily. The Company regularly and promptly issues notices to inform
its employees of news about the Company’s operations and management, in a proactive effort to
protect their right to know, to participate, and to oversee.

CPMC regularly organises exchange and discussion sessions for its employees at different levels, e.g.
new hires, young employees, technical experts, and managerial personnel, and meticulously attends
to the daily lives and work conditions of each of them, providing timely assistance and support to
them when needed. Moreover, CPMC has put on a suggestion box in addition to disclosing the
CORPORATE general manager’s blog, email, and other electronic feedback channels to improve communication
GOVERNANCE with its employees.

REPORT
Satisfaction Survey

An internal employee satisfaction survey was organised within CPMC, which focused on corporate
recognition, work perception, satisfaction with training, compensation and benefits. We actively
listened to employees’ opinions and suggestions, and provided timely feedback to the relevant
departments for follow-up and implementation. In 2023, the Company has completed a total of 92
individual interviews, conducted 1,210 anonymous questionnaires, and collected 25 optimisation

suggestions.
ENVIRONMENTAL, . . .
SOCIAL AND CPMC pays close attention to talent retention. It summarises and analyses the reasons for employee
GOVERNANCE departures based on the feedback from the monthly turnover report of the human resources

REPORT

department. It provides timely suggestions for improvement and implements them strictly to enhance
employee job satisfaction.

4.4. Occupational Health and Safety
CPMC is committed to safeguarding the occupational health and safety of its employees. The
Company has formulated internal management system such as the Safe Production Responsibility
System, the Safety Management Measures for Hazardous Operations, the Safety Permission
Standards for Hot Works and the Safety Permission Standards for Working at Heights according
E'EF;EISLORSAND to laws and regulations such as the Work Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China. These
MANAGEMENT regulations are strictly implemented to ensure system-level safeguards for safe production, as well
PROFILE as the prevention and control of occupational diseases.

Management of Hazardous Operations

CPMC attaches great importance to the management of hazardous operations, and has implemented
a hazardous operations management system covering CPMC and its grassroots units. Through the
implementation of a standardised, process-oriented, structured and digital control system, CPMC
has significantly improved compliance rate of hazardous operations and effectively contained
the problem of “three violations” in hazardous operations. In the Year, the Management System
for Hazardous Operations has been adopted by 24 branches. With regard to the management
mechanism of safety production supervision and inspection, the Company adopted the inspection
and demerit point system during the Year to carry out comprehensive safety supervision and
inspection work, and strictly implemented the safety production work through the demerit point
mechanism for non-compliance. A total of 30 branches were inspected during the Year, and all
identified issues were rectified.

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS
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Management System for Hazardous Operations of CPMC

Closed-loop

process
management

Standard, scientific

and normative
process

Tracking and
tracing

throughout
the process

Ensuring the
traceability and
tracking of

hazardous operations|

Convenient and

efficient

mobile application

e Strength monitoring . Strengthen the Real-time Ensure the Online approval
through process monitoring by traceability and and supervision
informatisation management of using on-site APP tracking of and inspection of
means hazardous videos to realise hazardous hazardous

* Implement the operations remote, real-time operations operations can be
closed-loop . Improve approval and dynamic Facilitate the performed
management of the process through management constant anytime, anywhere

full process of informatisation Address the sore improvement of on mobile phones
hazardous technical means, points of managing hazardous Without the
operations monitor operations hazardous operations limitation of space
* Management approval in a operations, such management and time on the
System for dynamic manner as lagged management of
Hazardous . Improve on-site management, hazardous
Operations cover approval efficiency insufficient operations,
CPMC and through personnel supervision force, improve the
grassroots units positioning, face and lack of management
recognition and supervision effectiveness

automatic

signature, etc.

CPMC continuously innovates in technology, utilising data servers, visualisation equipment, network
communication equipment, and video monitoring equipment to facilitate online approvals for
hazardous operations and achieve real-time monitoring and control through big data. In 2023, the
Company optimised and improved the Layered Process Audit (LPA) Safety Inspection Information
System and collaborated with the Information Technology Centre to initiate hidden danger
investigations. With the task system, the Company conducted investigations based on the “top ten
core elements” and a risk control checklist at the grassroots level. As a crucial tool for identifying
hidden dangers for CPMC, the system expanded its coverage to include 7 steel drum factories and
2 plastic factories this year.

Artificial Intelligence Surveillance System

In 2023, CPMC developed an Artificial Intelligence (Al) platform that utilises back-end
cloud computing and an intelligent monitoring system, which enables real-time monitoring
and inspection of certain operational areas, identifies employees’ improper behaviors and
operations online and promptly alerts them through smart speakers to rectify the situation,
thus effectively eliminating safety hazards in hazardous operation areas.

Hazardous Operations Automation

In 2023, CPMC has completed seven equipment manufacturing projects, including automatic
bagging and palletising equipment, Automatic lidding for roll-sealing equipment, Panyu
automatic loading for easy-open lids, basic lids robotics equipment, and Harvest Epoch
colour aluminium palletising equipment, to replace hazardous manual work with automated
equipment, effectively eliminating the safety risks of the original positions while saving labour
costs.
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Automatic Bagging and Automatic Lidding for Roll- Automatic Loading
Palletising Robot Project sealing equipment for Easy-open Lids
A Replica of imported Shifting from manual lidding Shifting from manual loading
equipment, which can reduce to automatic lidding, thus to automatic loading, thus
the number of bagging eliminating the risk of eliminating the risk of
posts, thus eliminating the mechanical injuries at the post ~ mechanical injuries at the post
risk of mechanical injuries at and reducing the number of and reducing the number of
the post, and reducing the staff by 2. staff by 2.

number of staff by 4 per unit.

In terms of employee physical examinations, the Company optimised the CPMC Employee Physical
Examination Management System this year to clarify the scope and requirements of the annual health
examinations for employees, in addition to providing them with the statutory medical examinations
prior to their employment and occupational disease examinations. Meanwhile, based on the
suggestions and opinions of employees, the Company increased the number of employee medical
examination institutions on the basis of designated public hospitals, providing a variety of packages
and more choices of medical examination outlets, which effectively enhanced the convenience of
employee medical examinations.

Employee Safety Education

CPMC has actively promoted safety production education for its employees, enhancing their safety
awareness through the establishment of an online training and education platform, as well as
organising offline training sessions. The Company has actively built a learning platform for online
training and education on safety production, covering three-level organisational structure of “CPMC
+ business divisions+ branches”, with content ranging from system and standard database, course
resource database to test question database. In addition, CPMC has actively held thematic working
meetings on production safety, taking into account the lessons learned from safety accidents
nationwide and the actual situation within the Company, for the purpose of strengthening the sense
of responsibility for production safety and enhancing the awareness of production safety among its
employees and management staff.

During the Year, the online training and learning platform for safety production covered a significant
number of employees, reaching 4,010 individuals, including leadership, business management,
safety management, hazardous operation personnel, and general employees, achieving a
completion rate of 100%. In addition, the Company conducted pre-employment assessments for
74 individuals, including leaders, safety supervisors, and persons in charge of safety departments,
through study and examination, to comprehensively enhance the safety management capability of
safety production-related personnel and reduce safety production risks.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Four categories of course resources and ten course modules on the training and learning platform
for safety production

Laws and

Management :
regulations

tools and methods

Performance

improvement Accountability

@ management

Thematic
training items

Self-developed
courses

Risks and

Safety culture @ hidden danger

External
courses

Courses by
the Company

Emergency @ ® Site safety
response

management

Incident
management

Project
management

The Company organised two safety workshops this year to train safety professionals in the form of
training, enabling them to study, discuss, sort out, and form a list of the top ten core elements of
safety applicable to the branch, comprehensively enhancing the branch’s safety management level.
Additionally, we also organised and carried out six safety lectures for staff from safety, production,
engineering equipment and other positions, covering topics such as gas safety management, work
safety analysis, basic knowledge of environmental protection, safety awareness enhancement, and
other safety knowledge, effectively improving the staff’'s safety risk prevention awareness in an all-
round way.

Caring for Employees

CPMC has formulated the CPMC Employee Care System, continuously improving the welfare system
for its employees to meet their needs in various areas, including physical exercise, cultural life, meal
improvement, etc. The Company has equipped gym, yoga room, multi-function AV room and other
cultural and sports facilities to encourage employees to achieve work-life balance. At the same
time, the Company supports employees to participate in various cultural, sports, and team-building
activities, as well as social events, demonstrating care for employees through attention to detail, and
striving to enhance employee happiness.

Employee Benefits

The Company contributes basic social and medical insurance for employees, and provides
various kinds of supplementary commercial insurance protection (including accident insurance,
supplementary medical insurance, etc.). We advocate reasonable working hours, specify employees’
rights to rest and leave, clarify the leave approval procedures, specify employees’ leave entitlements,
and continuously improve the leave management system to ensure that male and female employees
enjoy legal and equal rights to leave.
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In addition, in terms of logistics catering, CPMC attaches great importance to the nutritional health
of its employees. The staff canteen offers special dishes and optimised dietary tastes to meet the
needs of employees. During the high-temperature period, we also provide employees with cold
drinks, ice pops and other cool food to relieve the summer heat.

Cultural and sports
activities

March 8 Women's Day activity
Lantern Festival activity

Double Ninth Festival activity
Mid-autumn gathering activity

June 1 Children's Day activity
Basketball games

Table Tennis and Badminton games

Facility improvement

Non-motor vehicle sheds

Gym room

Yoga room Q
Multi-function AV room @
Automatic dishwashing facility

Food insulation facility

Caring for employees /
e Optimise temperature of workshops

* Variety of food at canteen

e “Stay Cool in Summer”, a cheer-up
activity for employees
e Orientation meetings for new comers

Employees’ health

* Physical examinations for new comers
* Annual physical examinations-diversi-
fied health examination packages

Employee Benefits Activities

The CPMC Trade Union organised activities for various festivals, groups, and themes, including
the Lantern Festival, Dragon Boat Festival, Double Ninth Festival, March 8 Women’s Day, June
1 Children’s Day, Spring and Autumn Tour, Fun Games, Fitness Activities, etc. Additionally, we
actively organised sports activities such as badminton and table tennis games, utilising the
resources of the development zone. This year, the Trade Union established the first Basketball
Association and organised a basketball game.

Dragon Boat Festival Activity March 8 Women'’s Day Activity

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Social Key Performance Indicators

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION KPI® Unit 2023 Data
AND ANALYSIS X
Full-time employees persons 6,252
By employment type :
Part-time employees® persons 35
Male employees persons 4,123
By gender
Female employees persons 2,129
Senior management persons 619
By level Middle management persons 1,478
General employees persons 4,155
CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE Employees under 30 years old persons 1,120
REPORT Employees between 30 and 50
) ) persons 4 501
By age group (inclusive) years old
Employees over 50 (exclusive) persons 631
years old
Employees in Northern China persons 1,999
By region Employees in Eastern China persons 2,165
Employees in Southern China persons 2,088
ENVIRONMENTAL, Employee turnover rate® % 20.15
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE Turnover rate of male employees % 13.00
—— By gender
Turnover rate of female employees % 715
Turnover rate of employees under 30 % 903
years old
Bv age arou Turnover rate of employees between o 10.00
y age group 30 and 50 (inclusive) years old ° '
Turnover rate of employees over
. % 0.93
50 (exclusive) years old
DIRECTORS AND T t f | .
SENIOR urnover rate of employees in % 6.56
MANAGEMENT Northern China
PROFILE Turnover rate of employees in
By region Eastern China % 6.73
Turnover rate of employees in o
Southern China * 6.86
Notes -
REPORT OF THE (1)  The statistics of employees based on gender, level, age and region only include full-time employees.
DIRECTORS

(2)  Part-time employees refer to interns.
(3)  Employee turnover ratio for each category = number of employees resigned or terminated in that category

during the reporting period/number of full-time employees at the end of the reporting period, the calculation
of which is in line with CPMC’s ESG Report in year 2022.
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KPI Unit 2023 Data
Percentage of male employees o
Perc.e_ntage c.>f em!)l9yees participated in training 7 95.05
participated in training by P . r | |
gender ercentage of female employees % 9187
participated in training
Pergehtage of ser.no.r management % 94 83
participated in training
Percentage of employees .
participated in training by Pergehtage (.)f m@d.le management % 94.59
level participated in training
Pergeptage Qf gehgral employees % 93.62
participated in training
Training hours per hours 0338
employee
Training hours per Training hours per male employee hours 23.37
employee by gender Training hours per female employee  hours 23.41
Training hours per senior hours 18.63
Training hours per management employee
employee by employee Training hours per middle hours o5 88
level management employee
Training hours per general employee hours 23.18
KPI Unit Data
Number of work-related employee fatality in 2021 persons 0
Number of work-related employee fatality in 2022 persons 0
Number of work-related employee fatality in 2023 persons 0
Number of work days lost due to work-related injuries in 2023  days 355
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5. POVERTY ALLEVIATION AND RURAL REVITALISATION

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION

AN ANALYSIS CPMC attaches great importance to the modernisation construction of agriculture and rural areas. By

leveraging its regional advantages in business layout, CPMC focuses on projects such as cadre skill
training, livelihood improvement, sales assistance, industrial construction and cultural exchange, helping
to revitalise the rural areas of Jueri village, Ganzi County, Sichuan Province, and actively practicing
Company'’s sense of social responsibility and mission.

During the Year, CPMC allocated an annual special fund of RMB3 million to deepen and enhance rural
revitalisation and modernisation of governance.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

Industrial revitalisation

CPMC continues to promote the development model of “characteristic planting + e-commerce sales +
tourism supporting facilities” in Jueri village, Ganzi County, and actively explores new paths and models
for industrial development in Ganzi County based on local resource advantages.

o Joint development of multiple specialty products such as yak meat sauce and highland barley
drinks

° By fully utilising the unigue mushroom resources in Ganzi County, successfully develop 6 unique
mushroom products and promoted the establishment of a mushroom industry chain that integrates

A ORMENTE production, processing and sales, with sales exceeding RMB1 million

SOCIAL AND q a q q q . n

——— o Promote the introduction of new fruit trees in Jueri village and successfully transplant two new
REPORT high-altitude fruit trees, laying the foundation for industrial upgrading

Talent revitalisation

CPMC actively assists in the construction of the talent team in Jueri village, Ganzi County, helping to
cultivate outstanding local talents with knowledge, culture and ability.

DIRECTORS AND . Assist grass-roots cadres, technical personnel and rural revitalisation leaders in carrying out

SENIOR agricultural technology training for a total of 25 participants, including vegetable planting, highland

:':g:\f;MENT barley processing, fruit tree cultivation and medicinal planting, to empower rural revitalisation with
talent revitalisation

REPORT OF THE

DIRECTORS
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Cultural revitalisation

CPMC promotes the implementation of village committee and cultural co-construction with Jueri village
by mobilising regional resources.

° Actively participate in the “Ganzi of Ganzi” regional theme activities, assist in introducing and
promoting intangible cultural heritage, organic agricultural products, Tibetan culture, etc., promote
villagers to “go out”, promote cultural exchange between the Tibetan and Han ethnic groups, and
integrate local customs and traditions

o Establish a “health station” that includes various medical devices such as blood pressure
monitors, blood glucose meters and physical therapy devices to help villagers better carry out
health management and improve physical fitness. A total of 158 village representatives and
cadres stationed in the village have been comforted

WK - AR

St AR

i

Donation of health station
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Lifestyle services

CPMC always focuses on the livelihood situation of the villages it assists, and carries out targeted
livelihood improvement projects based on a full understanding of the livelihood needs of the villagers.

. Install Internet broadband for 24 households of villagers in Jueri village, solve the problem of tap
water icing and provide clean drinking water to help build a digital village

o Help villagers sell 56 types of specialty agricultural products, with sales exceeding RMB430,000,
driving income growth and supporting rural revitalisation

Distribution of intelligent devices and promotion of rural revitalisation through informatisation

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Appendix: ESG Reporting Guide Content Index

Disclosure Requirements
Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

Corresponding Chapter

Governance Structure

A statement from the board containing the following elements:

(i)  adisclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG issues;

(i) the board’s ESG management approach and strategy, including the process
used to evaluate, prioritise and manage material ESG-related issues (including

risks to the issuer’s businesses); and

(i) how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related goals and targets
with an explanation of how they relate to the issuer’s businesses.

Statement of the Board

Reporting Principles

A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the following Reporting
Principles in the preparation of the ESG Report:

Materiality: The ESG report should disclose: (i) the process to identify and the
criteria for the selection of material ESG factors; (ii) if a stakeholder engagement
is conducted, a description of significant stakeholders identified, and the process
and results of the issuer’s stakeholder engagement.

Quantitative: Information on the standards, methodologies, assumptions and/or
calculation tools used, and source of conversion factors used, for the reporting of
emissions/energy consumption (where applicable) should be disclosed.

Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG report any changes to
the statistical methods or KPIs used, or any other relevant factors affecting a
meaningful comparison.

About this Report

Reporting Boundary

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report and describing
the process used to identify which entities or operations are included in the ESG
report. If there is a change in the scope, the issuer should explain the difference
and reason for the change.

About this Report
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Aspects

and Issue

Disclosure Requirements

Corresponding Chapter

“Comply or explain” Provisions

A Environmental

Aspect A1: Emissions

General Information on: Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
Disclosure Facilitating Low-carbon Development
(a) the policies; and 3.2 Green Manufacturing
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
data. Facilitating Low-carbon Development
Environmental Key Performance
Indicators
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where Facilitating Low-carbon Development
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production Environmental Key Performance
volume, per facility). Indicators
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of Facilitating Low-carbon Development
production volume, per facility). Environmental Key Performance
Indicators
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of Facilitating Low-carbon Development
production volume, per facility). Environmental Key Performance
Indicators
KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
taken to achieve them. Facilitating Low-Carbon Development
3.1. Environmental Objectives
3.2. Green Manufacturing
3.3. Green Office
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous Energy Saving and Emission Reduction

wastes are handled, and a description of
reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them

Facilitating Low-Carbon Development
3.1. Environmental Objectives

3.2. Green Manufacturing

3.3. Green Office

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Disclosure Requirements

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

Corresponding Chapter

General Policies on the efficient use of resources, Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
Disclosure including energy, water and other raw materials. Facilitating Low-carbon Development
3.2 Green Manufacturing
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in Facilitating Low-carbon Development
'000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production Environmental Key Performance
volume, per facility). Indicators
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
unit of production volume, per facility). Facilitating Low-carbon Development
Environmental Key Performance
Indicators
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
and steps taken to achieve them. Facilitating Low-Carbon Development
3.1. Environmental Objectives
3.2. Green Manufacturing
3.3. Green Office
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water Facilitating Low-Carbon Development
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve 3.1. Environmental Objectives
them. 3.2. Green Manufacturing
3.3. Green Office
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished Energy Saving and Emission Reduction

products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced.

Facilitating Low-carbon Development
Environmental Key Performance
Indicators

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

General
Disclosure

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant
impacts on the environment and natural
resources.

KPI A3.1

Description of the significant impacts of activities
on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.

Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
Facilitating Low-carbon Development
3.2. Green Manufacturing

3.3. Green Office

Aspect A4: Climate Change

General
Disclosure

Policies on identification and mitigation of
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.

KPI A4.1

Description of the significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to
manage them.

Energy Saving and Emission Reduction
Facilitating Low-carbon Development
3.4. Response to Climate Change
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Aspects Disclosure Requirements
and Issue

B Social

Corresponding Chapter

Employment and Labour Practices

Aspect B1: Employment

General Information on:
Disclosure
(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

People First and Growing Together
4.1. Employee Rights
4.2. Talent Development

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type
(for example, full- or part-time), age group and
geographical region.

People First and Growing Together
Social Key Performance Indicators

KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group
and geographical region.

People First and Growing Together
Social Key Performance Indicators

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

General Information on:
Disclosure
(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.

People First and Growing Together
4.4. Occupational Health and Safety

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities
occurred in each of the past three years including
the reporting year.

People First and Growing Together
Social Key Performance Indicators

KPI B2.2 Lost work due to work injury.

People First and Growing Together
Social Key Performance Indicators

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety
measures adopted, how they are implemented
and monitored.

People First and Growing Together
4.4. Occupational Health and Safety

Aspect B3: Development and Training

General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and
Disclosure  skills for discharging duties at work. Description
of training activities.

People First and Growing Together
4.2. Talent Development

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender
and employee category (e.g. senior management,
middle management).

People First and Growing Together
Social Key Performance Indicators

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per
employee by gender and employee category.

People First and Growing Together
Social Key Performance Indicators

CPMC Holdings Limited



Aspects
and Issue

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Disclosure Requirements

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

Corresponding Chapter

General Information on: 4. People First and Growing Together
Disclosure 4.1. Employee Rights
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment 4.  People First and Growing Together
practices to avoid child and forced labour. 4.1. Employee Rights
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such 4.  People First and Growing Together
practices when discovered. 4.1. Employee Rights
Operating Practices
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
General Policies on managing environmental and social 2.  Ensuring Quality and Customer First
Disclosure  risks of the supply chain. 2.4. Responsible Purchase
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 2. Ensuring Quality and Customer First
2.4. Responsible Purchase
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging 2.  Ensuring Quality and Customer First
suppliers, number of suppliers where the 2.4. Responsible Purchase
practices are being implemented, and how they
are implemented and monitored.
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify 2.  Ensuring Quality and Customer First
environmental and social risks along the supply 2.4. Responsible Purchase
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote 2.  Ensuring Quality and Customer First
environmentally preferable products and services 2.4. Responsible Purchase
when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
General Information on: 2. Ensuring Quality and Customer First
Disclosure 2.1. Quality Guarantee
(a) the policies; and 2.3. Quality Services
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided and methods of redress.
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped 2.  Ensuring Quality and Customer First
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons. 2.1. Quality Guarantee
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related 2.  Ensuring Quality and Customer First
complaints received and how they are dealt with. 2.3. Quality Services
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observingand 2. Ensuring Quality and Customer First

protecting intellectual property rights.

2.2. Driven by Innovation
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Aspects Disclosure Requirements
and Issue

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and
recall procedures.

Corresponding Chapter

2. Ensuring Quality and Customer First
2.1. Quality Guarantee

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and
privacy policies, how they are implemented and
monitored.

2. Ensuring Quality and Customer First
2.3. Quality Services

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

General Information on:
Disclosure
(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its
employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-
blowing procedures, how they are implemented
and monitored.

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to
directors and staff.

1. ESG Governance
1.2. Business Ethics Construction

Community

Aspect B8: Community Investment

General Policies on community engagement to understand

Disclosure the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the
focus area.

5. Poverty Alleviation and Rural
Revitalisation

CPMC Holdings Limited



Directors and Senior Management Profile

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS MANAGEMENT

DISCUSSION

ZHANG Xin, aged 61, is an executive Director and the chairman of the AND ANALYSIS

Board. Mr. Zhang is primarily responsible for the overall management,
major decision-making, strategic planning and business development
of the Group. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in January 1995, and was
appointed as an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board on
23 June 2008 and 23 March 2015, respectively. He has over 20 years
of experience in the packaging industry. Mr. Zhang has been the vice
president of the China Packaging Federation since November 2011.
Mr. Zhang received a bachelor’s degree in Aeronautical Machinery CORPORATE
Processing from Nanchang Institute of Aeronautical Technology (now GOVERNANCE
known as Nanchang Hangkong University) in 1983 and a master’s REPORT
degree in Business Administration from the University of Southeastern
China in 2002. In 2005, Mr. Zhang was awarded the Governmental
Special Allowance by the State Council of the PRC for his outstanding
contributions to the development of engineering technology in the PRC.
He is a senior engineer.

ZHANG Ye, aged 50, is an executive Director and the General Manager.

Mr. Zhang is primary responsible for the daily operation and management ENVIRONMENTAL,

of the Group. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in April 1995, and had served as G;SEC;/:,;QZE
sales manager, sales director, general manager of the subsidiaries of the REPORT

Company, assistant to the General Manager, deputy General Manager,
etc. He also served as the chief legal consultant of the Group concurrently
during the period from July 2011 to January 2016. He was appointed
as an executive Director and a general manager of the Company on 22
December 2016 and 19 July 2016 respectively and currently serves as
directors of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 20 years of
experience in the packaging industry. Mr. Zhang obtained an associate

degree in physics from Shanghai Fudan University (/878 B X&) in DIRECTORS AND
1995, and obtained a bachelor degree in business management from the I ANAGEMENT
Continuing Education School of Shanghai Fudan University (/818 B K& PROFILE

A A £67) in 1999.
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CPMC Holdings Limited

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

ZHAO Wei, aged 49, is appointed as a non-executive Director on 18
January 2022. Dr. Zhao joined COFCO Corporation (“COFCQ”) in April
2001, and had successively served as staff of the Accounting and
Taxation Division, the Operation and Management Division and assistant
to the general manager of the Operation and Management Division
under the Finance Department of COFCO; director, chief accountant and
general manager of the Finance Department of COFCO Tunhe Sugar Co.,
Ltd. (RIEH A BN BB A 7], formerly known as COFCO Tunhe Co.,
Ltd. (BT AP BBR A R]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange); and the leader of the IT Working Group of COFCO, etc., from
April 2001 to April 2021. Dr. Zhao has served as the chief officer of the
Information Management Department of COFCO since April 2021, and
served as a non-executive director of COFCO Joycome Foods Limited,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1610) since July
2021. Dr. Zhao holds the qualification of Certified Public Accountant in the
PRC.

Dr. Zhao received a doctorate degree in management from Central
University of Finance and Economics in the PRC in June 2005.

MENG Fanjie, aged 59, is appointed as a non-executive Director on
18 January 2022. Mr. Meng had successively served as the general
manager of Shenyang Xiangxue Flour Co., Ltd., the assistant to the
general manager and then as the deputy general manager of COFCO’s
Wheat Processing Department, the general manager of COFCO’s Project
Management Department, the general manager of COFCO Chengdu
Industrial Park, the deputy general manager of China Grain & Logistics
Corporation, the deputy general manager of COFCO Trading Corporation
and the deputy director of COFCO’s Party-mass Work Department
(in charge of the daily work) from December 2005 to April 2019. Mr.
Meng had also served as an executive director in China Mengniu Dairy
Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
2319) from June 2019 to December 2021. He is currently served as the
chief officer in the human resources department of COFCO.

Mr. Meng received a master degree in electronic magnetics and
microwave technology from Tsinghua University in the PRC in December
1989.
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ZHOU Yuan

SHEN Tao

ZHOU Yuan, aged 37, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Zhou was
appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company on 25 February
2016. Mr. Zhou was a vice chairman and a director of ORG Packaging,
a listed company on Shenzhen Stock Exchange and a substantial
shareholder of the Company, since November 2010 and as a director of
Huang Shan NOVEL Company Limited (“Huang Shan NOVEL"), a listed
company on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, since January 2016. Mr. Zhou
received a Bachelor degree of Engineering (with Honours) in the field of
Mechanical Engineering from Monash University in Australia in December
2010.

SHEN Tao, aged 53, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Shen was appointed
as a non-executive Director on 25 February 2016. Mr. Shen has had over
23 years of senior management experience in the packaging industry
including acting as the general manager of Shanghai Shenjing Steel
Processing Company Limited (/88 HF# 11 TAR A A]), the general
manager of Shanghai Baoyi Can Company Limited (/8 E R8I A
[R A 7)), the assistant general manager of Shanghai Baosteel Property
Development Company Limited (/88 Ml EZ£ R AR A7), and the
assistant general manager of Baosteel Metal Company Limited (& il &
BABR2AF]. Mr. Shen joined ORG Packaging in July 2008 and has been
a director of ORG Packaging since October 2010. He worked as the vice
general manager of ORG Packaging from October 2008 to February 2014,
and has been the general manager of ORG Packaging since February
2014 and a director of Huang Shan NOVEL since January 2016. Mr.
Shen received a Master degree in Business Administration from Peking
University in January 2015. He also obtained the qualification of senior
business operator (&5 4% 4% ff) from the Occupational Skill Testing and
Instruction Centre of China* (FFEIF BB REEFEFH ) and State
Senior Business Operator Assessment Committee* (& Bl &= 4 48 4 A 5T 25
Z 8€)in March 2004.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

PUN Tit Shan

CPMC Holdings Limited

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

CHENG Yuk Wo, aged 63, is an independent non-executive Director.
Mr. Cheng was appointed as a Director on 23 June 2008. Mr. Cheng is a
fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr. Cheng has over 30 years
of experience in auditing, finance and business management. He has
been the sole proprietor of Erik Cheng & Co., Certified Public Accountants
in Hong Kong since 1999.

Mr. Cheng currently acts as an independent non-executive director
of a number of companies listed on the Stock Exchange, namely, CSI
Properties Limited, Top Spring International Holdings Limited, Liu Chong
Hing Investment Limited, Chia Tai Enterprises International Limited,
Miricor Enterprises Holdings Limited, Somerley Capital Holdings Limited,
Kidsland International Holdings Limited and China Renewable Energy
Investment Limited. Mr. Cheng was also an independent non-executive
director of Goldbond Group Holdings Limited, Chong Hing Bank Limited,
C.P. Pokphand Co. Ltd. and HKC (Holdings) Limited, all companies were
delisted from the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Cheng graduated from the University of Kent, England with a
Bachelor’'s degree in Accounting in July 1983 and obtained a Master’s
degree in Accounting and Finance f rom the London School of Economics,
England in August 1984.

PUN Tit Shan, aged 63, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr.
Pun was appointed as a Director on 1 September 2016. He holds a master
of business administration degree (with honour) from the University of
Manchester. Mr. Pun is currently acted as investment director of Teyk Ltd.
(Wellchamp Group) and was head of investment of TC Concord Asset
Management Ltd., the chief executive officer of Asia Wealth Securities
Limited and the chief investment officer of Astrum Capital Management
Limited. He has over 32 years of experience in the finance field, such
as strategic dealing and arbitraging in the derivatives market, sales and
marketing management in the primary and secondary equity market and
sales and assets managing of high net-worth clients and investment
advisory.

Currently, he is the vice-chairman of Institute of Financial Analyst and
Professional Commentator and the Honorary Consultant of Hong Kong
Ningxia Youth Association (B % E &5FE) since 2015. Mr. Pun was
previously a board director of Hong Kong Futures Exchange Ltd. (1995-
1999); a board director of Hong Kong Stock Exchange Options Clearing
House Ltd. (1997-2000); a membership committee member of Hong Kong
Securities Institute (1998-2002); a panel member of Derivatives Market
Consultative Panel (2000-2003); a committee member of Hong Kong
Securities Institute Professional Education Committee (2002-2004); and a
member of Lions Club of Hong Kong Shouson Hill.

Mr. Pun was an independent non-executive director of China New
Economy Fund Limited which is listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Pun
was also an independent non-executive director of Convoy Global
Holdings Limited, which is delisted from the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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CHEN Jihua

CHEN Jihua, aged 56, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr.
Chen was appointed as a Director on 2 July 2019. Mr. Chen had served
as the financial director of Red Bull Vitamin Beverages Company Limited
from October 1995 to January 1998, the financial director of Saudi
Arabia ALJ (China) Limited from September 1998 to June 1999; the
vice president and financial director of Jitong Network Communications
Holdings Company Limited from July 1999 to April 2001; the executive
director, vice president and financial director of Aluminum Corporation
of China Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange, the Shanghai
Stock Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange, from April 2001 to
October 2010; the director of ABC-CA Fund Management Co., Ltd. from
March 2008 to October 2010; the president of Aluminum Corporation of
China Overseas Holdings Limited from May 2009 to October 2010, the
vice president of China Pacific Insurance (Group) Co., Ltd., a company
listed on the Stock Exchange and Shanghai Stock Exchange, from
November 2010 to October 2011, the independent director of Huang
Shan NOVEL Company Limited, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, from June 2017 to December 2022 and the director of Jiangsu
Wortact Group Co., Ltd., a company listed on National Equities Exchange
and Quotations, from June 2016 to March 2023.

Mr. Chen has also served as the chairman of Beijing Huge Capital
Management Co., Ltd since October 2011; the chairman of Beijing
Jingxi Manor Limited since November 2012; the independent director
of TruValue Asset Management Co., Ltd since July 2014. Mr. Chen was
previously an independent director of China Railway Hi-tech Industry
Corporation Limited, a company listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange,
and Tahoe Group Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Chen received a master degree in accounting from Central University

of Finance and Economic in March 1994. He is also a senior accountant in
the PRC.
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Report of the Directors

The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries of the
Company are manufacturing of packaging products for consumer goods. There was no significant change
in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year ended 31 December 2023. An analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year using financial key performance indicators is provided in the Management
Discussion and Analysis section on pages 8 to 17 of this annual report.

Further discussion and analysis as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), including a fair review of the business of the Group, a discussion of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business, are set
out in the “Chairman’s Letter”, “General Manager's Report”, “Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Notes
to Financial Statements” sections of this annual report. The above sections form part of this report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the Group’s financial position as of that date
are set out in the financial statements on pages 228 to 337 of this annual report. As disclosed in the Joint
Announcement, the Company does not have any intention to announce, declare, make or pay any future
dividend, other distribution or return of capital until the close of the Offer. As such, the Directors do not
recommend the payment of a final dividend (2022 final dividend: RMB0.098 (equivalent to HK11.0 cents)) for
the year ended 31 December 2023. An interim dividend of RMBO0.122 (equivalent to HK13.3 cents) per ordinary
share was paid on 25 September 2023 (2022 interim dividend: RMB0.120 (equivalent to HK13.9 cents)).

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements and restated/reclassified

as appropriate, is set out on page 338 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company and the Group during the Year are
set out in note 14 to the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
note 29 to the financial statements.

The Company has not adopted any share option scheme during the year ended 31 December 2023.
DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
At 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the

provisions of sections 291, 297 and 299 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amounted to approximately
RMB 14,587,000 (2022: 117,749,000).

CPMC Holdings Limited



Report of the Directors

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, aggregate sales to the Group’s largest and five largest customers
accounted for approximately 12.3% and 42.8%, respectively, of the Group’s total sales. The Group’s largest and
five largest suppliers of the Group, in aggregate, accounted for approximately 20.2% and 41.2%, respectively,
of the Group’s total purchases for the Year.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued Shares) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest customers or five largest suppliers during the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. ZHANG Xin (Chairman)
Mr. ZHANG Ye (General Manager)

Non-executive Directors:
Dr. ZHAO Wei

Mr. MENG Fanjie

Mr. ZHOU Yuan

Mr. SHEN Tao

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo

Mr. PUN Tit Shan

Mr. CHEN Jihua

In accordance with Article 103 of the Articles, Dr. Zhao Wei, Messrs. Meng Fanjie and Pun Tit Shan will retire
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the 2024 AGM.

Each of the Directors has a specific term of appointment for three years.

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2024 AGM has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all the independent
non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines.
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DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION

AN ANALYSIS The names of directors who have served on the boards of directors of the Group’s subsidiaries during the Year

and up to the date of this annual report were:

Zhang Xin
Zhang Ye

Shi Yu

Wang Jiliang*
Ji Lifang

Qu Hongliang
CORPORATE Mo Baohong
GOVERNANCE Qian Rong
REPORT Song Yinghui
Zhu Weigui
Chen Heging
Li Qinggong
Wang Xiaoju
Xu Wen

Yin Xiaoyu
Zhang Shoujun

ENVIRONMENTAL, LI Gohghal
SOCIAL AND Li Yuli

GOVERNANCE Huang SUpU
REPORT Li QI

Li Junyan*
Zhuang Huimin
Wang Dong
Ma Binyun

Li Wei

Zhang Xinbo

Liu Mingzhong
DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR Guo Pengpeng

MANAGEMENT Tao Jun
PROFILE

* He/She has resigned as a director of the relevant subsidiary(ies) of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 91 to 95 of
this annual report.

REPORT OF THE

DIRECTORS DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

No Director nor a connected entity of a Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the Group to which the holding company of the
Company, the Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the
Year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to the Shareholders’ approval at the general meetings. Other emoluments
are determined by the Remuneration Committee pursuant to the Articles with reference to market conditions,
Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

Details of the remuneration for Directors are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

100 CPMC Holdings Limited
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, save as disclosed below, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company
had any interest or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which any Director or
chief executive of the Company was deemed or taken to be under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register kept by the Company or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Interests in underlying shares of the Company

Approximate

Number of percentage

underlying shares of interests

Name of Directors Capacity/Nature of Interests held in long position (Note 1)
Mr. Zhang Xin Beneficial owner 14,560,000 1.31%
Mr. Zhang Ye Beneficial owner 9,366,000 0.84%

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

Note:

(1)  The percentages are calculated based on the total number of Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023, i.e.,
1,113,423,000 Shares.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, so far as was known to the Directors, the following persons (other than the Directors
or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as
recorded in the register required kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Approximate
percentage of
aggregate interests
in issued
share capital of
Capacity/ Number of the Company
Substantial shareholders and other persons ~ Notes Nature of Interests Shares held (Note 5)
China Foods (Holdings) Limited (1 Beneficial owner 330,658,800 29.70%
(“China Foods (Holdings)")
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited (“COFCO (HK)") (1) &(2)  Interests of controlled 330,658,800 29.70%
corporations
COFCO Corporation (“COFCO”) (1)&(4) Interests of controlled 330,658,800 29.70%
corporations
ORG Technology Co. Ltd. (“ORG Technology”) (1) & (3)  Interests of controlled 271,667,200 24.40%
corporations
Shanghai Yuanlong Investment Holdings (1) &(3)  Interests of controlled 271,667,200 24.40%
(Group) Company Limited corporations
(BEREHREERAT) (“Shanghai Yuanlong”)
Mr. Zhou Yunjie (1)&(3)  Interests of controlled 271,667,200 24.40%
corporations
Zhang Wei (1 Beneficial owner 245,080,000 22.01%
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Report of the Directors

Notes:
(1) Long position in the shares of the Company.

(2) China Foods (Holdings) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO (HK). COFCO (HK) is therefore deemed to be
interested in the 330,658,800 Shares held by China Foods (Holdings). COFCO (HK) and China Foods (Holdings) are
wholly-owned subsidiaries of COFCO. COFCO is therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held by COFCO (HK)
and China Foods (Holdings).

(3) ORG Development Limited and Hubei ORG Tinplate Printing & Can Making Co., Ltd. (“Hubei ORG”) hold 269,341,200
Shares and 2,326,000 Shares respectively. ORG Development Limited is wholly owned by ORG International Holdings
Limited. ORG International Holdings Limited and Hubei ORG are wholly-owned by ORG Technology. ORG Technology
is owned as to approximately 33.06% by Shanghai Yuanlong and approximately 0.68% bylt R —+— "2 EEHEHFR
73 Alwhich in turn are owned as to approximately 78.00% and 80.00% respectively by Mr. Zhou Yunijie. Therefore, Mr.
Zhou Yunjie, Shanghai Yuanlong and ORG Technology are deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by ORG
Development Limited and Hubei ORG.

(4) COFCO (HK) and China Foods (Holdings) are wholly-owned subsidiaries of COFCO. COFCO is therefore deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by COFCO (HK) and China Foods (Holdings).

(5)  The percentages are calculated based on the total number of shares of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2023,
i.e., 1,113,423,000 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company had not been notified of any other persons
other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company who had an interest or short positions in the Shares
or underlying Shares, which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3
of the Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be recorded in the register of interests required kept under
section 336 of the SFO.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has not entered into any equity-linked agreement.
SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Directors, from 19 October 2021 to the date of this annual report, the Company’s public float was below 25%,
the minimum prescribed percentage (“Minimum Prescribed Percentage”) as required in Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the
Listing Rules. To the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of the annual report, the Company’s public float
was approximately 21.74%.

While the drop of the Company’s public float was beyond the Company’s control, it will take appropriate steps to
ensure the restoration of the Minimum Prescribed Percentage to public hands as soon as possible.

For more details of the insufficiency of public float, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
from 26 January 2022 to 29 February 2024 in relation to the status of its public float.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
MANAGEMENT
The companies now comprising the Group had entered into a number of transactions with parties which were ANDE‘)SENUASLSY'Q';
connected persons of the Company under the Listing Rules. These transactions are considered to be continuing

connected transactions under the Listing Rules, which need to be disclosed herein in compliance with the
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the continuing connected transactions are as
follows:

1. 2020 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement
On 27 October 2020, the Company entered into a supply framework agreement (the “2020 COFCO
Packaging Materials Agreement”) with COFCO in respect of the renewal of the 2017 Framework
Agreement. Pursuant to the 2020 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement, the Group will supply Products CORPORATE
and Related Services to COFCO Group with reference to the prevailing market prices of same or similar GOVERNANCE
products and services of the same period for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 2021. The REPORT
2020 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement may be renewed by agreement between the parties subject
to obtaining the necessary consents and approvals (if necessary) required by the Listing Rules. Details of
the 2020 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 27 October 2020 and the circular of the Company dated 17 November 2020. The approval of the
independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general meeting held on 14 December 2020.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the Products and Related Services to be supplied to
COFCO Group in 2023 are expected not to exceed RMB700,000,000 respectively. ENVIRONVENTAL,

SOCIAL AND
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate value of the Products and Related Services to be GOVERNANCE
supplied to COFCO Group under the 2020 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement was approximately REPORT

RMB575,504,000.

2. 2020 COFCO IT Agreement
On 27 October 2020, the Company entered into a supply framework agreement (the “2020 COFCO
IT Agreement”) with COFCO in respect of the renewal of the 2017 IT Services Framework Agreement.
Pursuant to the 2020 COFCO IT Agreement, COFCO together with its subsidiaries and associates other
than the Group (“COFCO Group”) agrees to procure IT software and IT facilities for the Group, supply OIRECTORS AND
IT services and market consulting services, and leasing to the Group at the respective annual caps SENIOR
for a period commencing on 1 January 2021 and ending on 31 December 2023 (the “IT Products and MANAGEMENT
Services”). The 2020 COFCO IT Agreement may be renewed by agreement between the parties subject to PROFILE
obtaining the necessary consents and approvals (if necessary) required by the Listing Rules. Details of the
2020 COFCO IT Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 27 October 2020.

Pursuant to the 2020 COFCO IT Agreement, the annual caps in respect of the supply of IT Products
and Services by COFCO Group to the Group in 2023 in relation to (i) the purchase of IT software and IT
facilities is RMB1,500,000 respectively; (ii) the supply of IT services and market consulting services is
RMBS5,000,000 respectively; and (iii) leasing is RMB4,000,000 respectively.

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate value in relation to (i) the purchase of IT software
and IT facilities; (ii) the supply of IT services and market consulting services; and (iii) leasing under 2020
COFCO IT Agreement were RMB149,000, RMB529,000 and RMB 1,947,000, respectively.
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3. 2020 ORG Packaging Materials Agreement

MANAGEMENT On 27 October 2020, the Company entered into a framework agreement (the “2020 ORG Packaging
DISCUSSION Materials Agreement”) with ORG Group in respect of the renewal of the 2017 ORG Packaging Materials
AND ANALYSIS Agreement. Pursuant to the 2020 ORG Packaging Materials Agreement, (i) the Group has agreed to sell to
ORG Group and ORG Group has agreed to purchase from the Group printed tinplates, printed aluminium
and caps and related can production services of such packaging materials, and (ii) ORG Group has
agreed to sell to the Group and the Group has agreed to purchase from ORG Group tinplates, laminated
steel and aluminium and related can production services of such packaging materials, from 1 January
2021 to 31 December 2023. Details of the 2020 ORG Packaging Materials Agreement were disclosed in
the announcement of the Company dated 27 October 2020 and the circular of the Company dated 17
November 2020. The approval of the independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general
CORPORATE meeting held on 14 December 2020.

GOVERNANCE
REPORT Pursuant to the 2020 ORG Packaging Materials Agreement, the approved annual caps in respect of (i)
the sale of printed tinplates, printed aluminium and caps and related can production services of such
packaging materials by the Group to ORG Group in 2023 are RMB450,000,000; (ii) the purchase of
tinplates, laminated steel and aluminium and related can production services of such packaging materials
by ORG Group to the Group in 2023 are RMB350,000,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate value in relation to (i) the sale of printed tinplates,
printed aluminium and caps and related can production services of such packaging materials by the
ENVIRONMENTAL Group to ORG Group; and (i) the purchase of tinplates, laminated steel and aluminium and related can
SOCIAL AND production services of such packaging materials by ORG Group to the Group under 2020 ORG Packaging
GOVERNANCE Materials Agreement were RMB11,322,000 and RMB14,703,000 respectively.
REPORT
4. 2022 Financial Services Agreement with COFCO Finance
On 31 October 2022, the Company, CPMC Investment and COFCO Finance entered into a financial
services agreement (the “2022 Financial Services Agreement”), pursuant to which COFCO Finance shall
provide (i) the Deposit Services; (i) the Loan Services, (iii) the Entrustment Loan Services, and (iv) the
Other Financial Services to the Group. Details of the 2022 Financial Services Agreement were disclosed
in the announcement of the Company dated 31 October 2022, and the circular of the Company dated 15
December 2022. The approval of the independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general

DIRECTORS AND meeting held on 30 December 2022.

SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

PROFILE Pursuant to the 2022 Financial Services Agreement, COFCO Finance has agreed to provide to the Group
the following financial services for a term of three years commencing on 30 December 2022, the date on
which the approval of the independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general meeting:

(a) Deposit services
The maximum daily deposit amount (including accrued interests) placed by the Group with COFCO
Finance shall not exceed equivalent of RMB900 million. The deposit services and the above annual
cap were subject to the reporting, announcement, annual review and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS
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(b)  Entrustment loan services and other financial services

COFCO Finance has agreed to provide (i) the entrustment loan services to the Group pursuant to
which COFCO Finance only acts as agent of the Group and charge handling fees and other services
fees in connection with the entrustment loan services; and (ii) other financial services, including
settlement services, forex trading services and other related consultancy and agency services to be
provided by COFCO Finance to the Group under the 2022 Financial Services Agreement. COFCO
Finance will charge handling fees in connection with the entrustment loan services and the other
financial services for a maximum annual cap not exceeding RMB4 million. The above entrustment
loan services and the other financial services were subject to the reporting, announcement and
annual review requirements but exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the maximum daily deposit amount (including accrued interests)
amounted to RMB890,087,000 and there was no transaction of the entrustment loan services and the other
financial services between the Group and COFCO Finance under the 2022 Financial Services Agreement.

2023 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement

On 7 November 2023, the Company entered into a supply framework agreement (the “2023 COFCO
Packaging Materials Agreement”) with COFCO in respect of the renewal of the 2020 Framework
Agreement. Pursuant to the 2023 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement, the Group will supply Products
and Related Services to COFCO Group with reference to the prevailing market prices of same or similar
products and services of the same period for a term of two years commencing on 1 January 2024. The
2023 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement may be renewed by agreement between the parties subject
to obtaining the necessary consents and approvals (if necessary) required by the Listing Rules. Details of
the 2023 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 7 November 2023 and the circular of the Company dated 30 November 2023. The approval of the
independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general meeting held on 20 December 2023.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the Products and Related Services to be supplied
to COFCO Group in 2024 and 2025 are expected not to exceed RMB850,000,000 and RMB950,000,000
respectively.

2023 COFCO IT Agreement

On 7 November 2023, the Company entered into a supply framework agreement (the “2023 COFCO
IT Agreement”) with COFCO in respect of the renewal of the 2020 IT Services Framework Agreement.
Pursuant to the 2023 COFCO IT Agreement, COFCO together with its subsidiaries and associates other
than the Group (“COFCO Group”) agrees to procure IT software and IT facilities for the Group, supply
IT services and market consulting services, and leasing to the Group at the respective annual caps
for a period commencing on 1 January 2024 and ending on 31 December 2025 (the “IT Products and
Services”). The 2023 COFCO IT Agreement may be renewed by agreement between the parties subject
to obtaining the necessary consents and approvals (if necessary) required by the Listing Rules. Details of
the 2023 COFCO IT Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 7 November
2028.

Pursuant to the 2023 COFCO IT Agreement, the annual caps in respect of the supply of IT Products and
Services by COFCO Group to the Group from 2024 to 2025 in relation to (i) the purchase of IT software
and IT facilities is RMB3,500,000 and RMB3,500,000 respectively; (ii) the supply of IT services and market
consulting services is RMB3,000,000 and RMB3,000,000 respectively; and (iii) the annual rent for the
property to be leased is no more than RMB3,000,000, and the aggregate rent for the two years ending 31
December 2025 is no more than RMB6,000,000.
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7. 2023 ORG Packaging Materials Agreement

On 7 November 2023, the Company entered into a framework agreement (the “2023 ORG Packaging
Materials Agreement”) with ORG Packaging in respect of the renewal of the 2020 ORG Packaging
Materials Agreement. Pursuant to the 2023 ORG Packaging Materials Agreement, (i) the Group has
agreed to sell to ORG Group and ORG Group has agreed to purchase from the Group aluminum, printed
tinplates, caps, other raw and auxiliary materials and related can production services of such packaging
materials, and (ii) ORG Group has agreed to sell to the Group and the Group has agreed to purchase
from ORG Group tinplates, laminated steel, two-piece cans and related can production services of such
packaging materials, from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2025. Details of the 2023 ORG Packaging
Materials Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 7 November 2023 and
the circular of the Company dated 30 November 2023. The approval of the independent Shareholders was
obtained at the extraordinary general meeting held on 20 December 2023.

Pursuant to the 2023 ORG Packaging Materials Agreement, the approved annual caps in respect of (i)
the sale of aluminum, printed tinplates, caps, other raw and auxiliary materials and related can production
services of such packaging materials by the Group to ORG Group from 2024 to 2025 are RMB200,000,000
and RMB600,000,000; (ii) the purchase of tinplates, laminated steel, two-piece cans and related can
production services of such packaging materials by ORG Group to the Group from 2024 to 2025 are
RMB 100,000,000 and RMB600,000,000.

Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing connected transactions
numbered 1 to 7 for the year ended 31 December 2023 and confirmed that the above continuing connected
transactions were:

1. entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

2. entered into on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favorable than those available to or from
independent third parties; and

3. in accordance with the terms of respective agreements governing the above continuing connected
transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, the Company’s auditor, were engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference
to Practice Note 740 (Revised) Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
have issued their unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A
copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.
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Certain related party transactions as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report also constituted connected transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company under the
Listing Rules which are required to be disclosed in this report in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The related party transactions in relation to the key management personnel remuneration as disclosed
in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report include connected transactions
exempt from reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule
14A.73(6) of the Listing Rules. Save as the aforesaid and the connected transaction and continuing connected
transactions disclosed above, the Directors consider that all other related party transactions disclosed in note
37 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report did not fall under the definition of “connected
transactions” or “continuing connected transactions” (as the case may be) under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules which are required to comply with any of the reporting, annual review, announcement, or independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules throughout the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

Interest of the Directors in a competing business required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing
Rules is as follows:

Name of Director Name of company Nature of competing business Nature of interest ~ Appointment date
Mr. Zhou Yuan ORG Technology (Note) Manufacture of packaging products  As a vice chairman ~ November 2010
As a director October 2010
Mr. Shen Tao ORG Technology (Note) Manufacture of packaging products  As a general manager February 2014
As a director October 2010
Note:

ORG Technology is a listed company on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 002701) and a substantial Shareholder,
holding approximately 24.40% of the issued share capital of the Company. ORG Technology is principally engaged in
the comprehensive packaging services including packaging design, packaging production, filling and brand design and
promotion. For further details of ORG Technology in respect of its business and financial position, please refer to its annual
report dated 27 April 2023, which is available at https://www.orgtech.cn/en/uploadfile/2023/0519/20230519105533767.pdf.

Although Mr. Zhou Yuan is the vice chairman and a director of ORG Technology, and Mr. Shen Tao is the
general manager and a director of ORG Technology, both of them have confirmed that they are mindful of their
duty to avoid conflict of interest. In cases where conflict of interest situation arises, Mr. Zhou Yuan and Mr. Shen
Tao will refrain from taking part in the decision making process and will abstain from voting on the relevant
resolution in board meeting. On this basis and given that ORG Technology has its own management personnel
other than Mr. Zhou Yuan and Mr. Shen Tao, the Directors believe that the Company is capable of carrying out
its business independently of, and at arm’s length from ORG Technology.

Same as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, no Directors are considered to have interests in any
business which is likely to compete directly or indirectly with that of the Group.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2023.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has arranged Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
for all Directors and senior management of the Company. The insurance covers the corresponding costs,
charges, expenses and liabilities for legal action of corporate activities against them. Pursuant to Article 171
of the Articles, every Director or other officer of the Company shall be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all liabilities (to the extent permitted by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) sustained or
incurred by such Director or officer in or about the execution of his office or otherwise in relation thereto.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business
of the Group was entered into or existed during the Year.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC while the Company
itself is listed on the Stock Exchange. Our operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Company strictly abides by the laws and regulations of the PRC in its business operation, including but not
limited to the laws and regulations in relation to product safety, printing business, foreign investment, labour and
insurance, taxation, foreign exchange and environmental protection, specifically, Production Safety Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Regulation of the People’s Republic of China on the Administration of Production
License for Industrial Products, Measures for the Administration of Operating Licenses for Hazardous
Chemicals, Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China, Trademark Law of the People’s Republic
of China, Foreign Investment Law of the People’s Republic of China, Regulation for Implementing the Foreign
Investment Law of the People’s Republic of China, Company Law of the People’s Republic of China, Labor Law
of the People’s Republic of China, Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, Social Insurance Law
of the People’s Republic of China, Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China, Regulations
of the People’s Republic of China on the Management of Foreign Exchanges, Environmental Protection Law of
the People’s Republic of China, Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of
China, etc.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not breach any law and regulation that has a
significant impact on the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is devoted to promoting and maintaining the environmental and social sustainable development
of the regions where it operates. As a responsible enterprise, the Group is in compliance with all the
relevant laws and regulations in terms of the environmentally friendliness, health and safety, adopts effective
measures, conserves energy and reduces waste. Further discussion on the Group’s environmental policies
and performance and an account of the Group’s key relationships with its employees, are set out in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this annual report. The said section forms part of this report.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Directors recognise that customers and business partners are the keys to the sustainable development of
the Group. The Group is committed to building a close and caring relationship with its business partners and
improving the quality of services to the customers.

The Group stays connected with its customers and suppliers and has ongoing communication with the

customers and suppliers through various channels such as telephone, electronic mails and physical meetings
to obtain their feedback and suggestions.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Directors consider that the Company has complied with the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2023.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Particulars of the
retirement scheme are set out in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2024 AGM will be held on Monday, 3 June 2024.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at the 2024 AGM

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration 4:30 p.m. on 28 May 2024
Closure of Register of members 29 May 2024 to 3 June 2024

(both dates inclusive)
Record date 3 June 2024

In order to qualify for the attend the 2024 AGM, Shareholders should contact the Company’s Registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong on the matters such as transfer of shares, change of name or
address, or loss of share certificates.

AUDITOR

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited will retire and a resolution for their re-appointment as auditor of the Company will
be proposed at the 2024 AGM.

Zhang Xin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 20 March 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

18 M % BRI R

@ ? bakertilly
K B [k

To the members of CPMC Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

=

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
CPMC Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 228 to 337, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the “Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements” section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

Independent Auditor’s Report
BB E

HRELZEE

REAZBMNEXHE  BREZS
B RAZBMBZ A RELEE P BER
RPBRREENER - AMBEEEZ
FEMBHREARMILERERRCEE
ZEEH U TERLEEEEFER
ER -BTHARSEEE  ARBMCEA
BEREEREEEARBMAERZEN
AR ZEEER L -

RIZBEDE BITR AL BN R & a0 [ 2
BUED L B AR AR A M I R A AR B AT
AR EE - BREEZSEERBN
BIE - Fit - ARBEOBEZBRERT
RAEEEMBREAGTEERNERR
=N AT =R ES S AN 3 2 G
BF(BEAERTAETEAITHERRF)
MR B AZ B S B AR A B SRR
HAEZERIRHER -

Annual Report 2023 FE#RE

INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S
REPORT
B

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT

OF PROFIT

OR LOSS
REBHR

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
HFazEREaER

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
FAMBRRE

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY
GFARSEHE

219




INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S
REPORT

B HMEE

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT

OF PROFIT

OR LOSS
ReBRHR

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
HFaZERRER

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
FAMBIRAE

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY
GFARSEHE

220

Independent Auditor’s Report
BB ENHE

Key audit matters (continued)

HREFEZSEGE

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEREREER FRBMRELRUNARABRER
Gooawill impairment

In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting
Standard 36, Impairment of Assets, the Group
is required to test the amount of goodwill
for impairment annually. The net carrying
amount of goodwill of RMB233,973,000 as
of 31 December 2023 was material to the
consolidated financial statements.

RIEFBCTERNFECHRIEERE] BE
EEGFHHERESEETIR - #E2023
F12A318 AHARY233,973,00070 7 B &
REFEYGEVBRERME NBEKX -

In addition, management’s assessment on
the impairment was complex and highly
judgmental and was based on assumptions,
specifically budgeted gross margins, discount
rates and revenue and long-term growth
rates, which were affected by expected future
market or economic conditions.

o BEERERREGEREFRAEMA SR
BEHE - WAZBERR/RELE  LERXE
BHIREMRSEBERR T E L FREENE
BEIR KRR AROKBIERE -

Relevant disclosures are included in Note
3 and Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

HEARBERN G E P BERRMEIRME6

We assessed the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of the key controls of the Group over the
assessment on the goodwill impairment.

AzBEEs BERBEETHERENGHBERIENEHEY
Rat ~ B B ERIGETTRE ©

We obtained the relevant cash-generating units’ cash flow
forecasts prepared by management for goodwill impairment
and evaluated the appropriateness of management’s
identification of cash-generating unit and the allocation of
assets to each cash-generating unit in the preparation of its
cash flow forecasts and whether these were prepared in a
manner consistent with the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.

AZBMEESEEESRBRERNMERNEBRSE
FEMNRSRERA  UHREEEERRRCAENERE
ABHRSEEEUNRRIMNESERSELEMNNEED
FCE@EE N - ARERRIRERITEER —BH T AR -

We assessed the historical accuracy of management’s
forecasts by comparing the current year’s actual cash
flows with the prior year’s cash flow forecasts and
evaluated management’s estimation and challenged the
appropriateness of key assumptions (such as budgeted
gross margins, discount rates and revenue and long-term
growth rates) adopted in the value-in-use calculations by:

AEEMERBALRAFERReREN LFRSRETEA
A BEIR BT BN E L RS R E IR EITAIE
WHEAEEFEEPAABRERER(WEZENE - &
BERBARKEBERE)NEEHRE TER - HEN
T

° Comparing the budgeted gross margins with the
Group’s past performance, taking into consideration of
market trends;

e HEEEMNXHS
BH5iBE
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Key audit matters (continued)
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HREFEZSHEGE

Key Audit Matter
EREZSEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FRBEARNBELSNAFREARER

Gooadwill impairment (continued)

&R 1E ()

° Engaging our valuation specialist to assess the
discount rates by considering weighted average cost
of capital for the individual cash-generating unit and
comparable companies in the open market, as well
as considering territory specific factors, such as risk
free interest rate and debt-to-equity ratio prevailing in
relevant market; and

. %E% INBERER  BRZREEMNRSELEMN
REATS LA E LA R R I FI9E RKA AR E
BEE TR E QRS S BT E R ERR A RN
AR L ) REFHERRIRE « &

. Comparing the revenue and long-term growth rates
used in the five-year forecast period with the approved
budget and market development of the relevant
business and industry.

o HEFEMHDAAERARKERRXEBERZER
B R AR EFMT %E’Jm%ﬁbfﬁi&ﬁﬂth

We evaluated management’s assessment of the sensitivity
of the Group’s impairment model against reasonably
possible changes around the key assumptions.

$V§KEWEE¥1EMEEFJE BEEERERLE T 2EERK
A BE B BN MY BURE AR YR o

We assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures
included in the consolidated financial statements regarding
goodwill impairment assessment.

ARBED G BEEERGRAMBRERTBREBERERT
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Key audit matters (continued)

HRFEZSEGE

Key Audit Matter
HREZSE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FEBEARNBLSNAEREARER

Impairment of trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

KEEFEF B HIAE S ERBE

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s trade
receivables arising from contracts with
customers amounting to RMB2,657,144,000
(net of allowance of RMB3,973,000), which
represented approximately 18.7% of total
assets of the Group.

R2023F12A31H - BEBRARFLAY
ME SR A AR 2 657,144,0007T (F0BR
B ARKE3973,0007T) - (F BEBEMEEE
#118.7% °

As disclosed in Note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements, the management of
the Group estimates the amount of lifetime
expected credit losses (“ECL") of trade
receivables arising from contracts with
customers based on provision matrix through
grouping of various debtors that have similar
loss patterns, after considering internal credit
ratings of trade debtors, ageing, repayment
history and/or past due status of respective
trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers. Estimated loss rates are based
on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information.

MG E BRI T20MIRE - BEEEE
EEKEERSBEBANABEEFNL KA
BEPAXMNIAE 2 RUGRHRE - B
R,/ @ BikRig - RREBBKAFRLER
BT RESAETOAMSHBEER -
ERIREEFEHONE S RUFN ARG
EBR(RAEEERD - AtBEBRERE
BAEMFHANE LD BERORMGE - X
RIBATEEERHELFE -

Our audit procedures included the assessment of the
design, implementation and operating effectiveness of the
Group’s key internal controls which govern credit control,
debt collection and estimates of expected credit losses.

ARBMNEZEFERTHREGEET
SAEBEEERZ
BAERR

TR WOHR S fh
BEEENERATIEHHRE - Bk

We also understood and evaluated the key data and
assumptions of the expected credit loss model adopted
by the management, including the basis of the groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss pattern and
assessed whether trade receivables were appropriately
categorised in the ageing report by comparing a sample of
individual items with the underlying goods delivery notes,
sales invoices and other relevant underlying documentation.

ABBEINE T 8 KT 4 R A TS A o
REBRSHRED AR ASELEEERANSAZF S
SRR TR - URRB L EXARIE B 0 A SRR @
REE  HEHRREMAEXN - FEESEURRTE
BRREEPEESH -
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Key audit matters (continued)
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Key Audit Matter
EREZSEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FRBEARNBELSNAFREARER

Impairment of trade receivables arising from contracts with customers (continued)

KEEFF B HIHE 5 ER 6 E (B)

The loss allowance amount of the trade
receivables arising from contracts with
customers is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows
with the consideration of expected future
credit losses.

KEEFPANMNEZREFNEREF SRR
FREEMEEEEGFRRRSAENRE
(RERBHAREEBR HNEETE

We identified the impairment assessment
of trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers as a key audit matter due to
the significance of trade receivables to the
Group’s consolidated financial position and
the involvement of subjective judgement and
management estimates in evaluating the ECL
of the Group’s trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers at the end of the
reporting period.

HRREEPANNESREZYE BEEREN
FEBBRImEBEL - A% ESER

BEMRNREEFEHNNE Z R A IEL
EEERSRTBAERERE GG - AR
Bh A BIR B B P A LB 5 B WK 8 E T {4
A IARRREZFIA

We also assessed the reasonableness of management’s
expected credit loss allowances by examining the
information used by management to form such judgements
and estimates, including checking the accuracy of the
historical default information, evaluating whether the
historical loss rates are appropriately adjusted based
on current economic conditions and forward-looking
information.

A% BRED TN EE ORI B TR B R PATE AR B A B R (TR0 B R
(BRZEBEROENNERYE  FEHEEBRERETR
B AT IR e BT BE 1 B R IGE Y 38 ) SRFH A B R TR
EEERBENAEN -

We also reviewed the Group’s subsequent collection of the
trade receivables.
BT EES BEXEBRKEE S RBKKRNER

We assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures
included in the consolidated financial statements regarding

impairment assessment of trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers.

AZBED G BEEERGRAMBRRTEREFANE
AR ZREFRBENENRESTRR °
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Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors and the Audit
Committee for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit

Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB ENHE

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Sai Ho.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 20 March 2024
Chan Sai Ho
Practising Certificate Number PO7705
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEEmR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Renminbi)

HZ=E2023F12A31HIEFE (AARKETITR)
2023 2022
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Mtat ARMEF T ARETTT
Revenue PN 5 10,265,310 10,255,225
Cost of sales SHE AR 8(a) (8,660,013) (8,973,085)
Gross profit EF 1,605,297 1,282,140
Other income, gains and losses Eabug A - Was K EE 6 105,070 224 853
Selling and marketing expenses  $HE REHEH (392,930) (393,955)
Administrative expenses THER (455,147) (431,206)
Finance costs B8 R 7 (238,489) (87,717)
Share of results of joint ventures B A S D EELE 2,491 1,978
Profit before income tax B BT 18 84 A1 F 8 8 626,292 596,093
Income tax expense Fris i 2 11 (140,814) (111,415)
Profit for the year FEFHE 485,478 484,678
Attributable to: PE4S :
Equity holders of the Company RRRRAFER A 474,760 486,512
Non-controlling interests e IR = 10,718 (1,834)
485,478 484,678
Earnings per share attributable ZARQATZEBEBRBRERFEEA
to ordinary equity holders of EEERAF
the Company 13
Basic (RMB) ER(ARET) 0.426 0.437
Diluted (RMB) e (AR%T) 0.426 0.437

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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(Expressed in Renminbi) For the year ended 31 December 2023 p— A h YA
(AARMFIT) mE2020F 12A31BEFE SO é E m
2023 2022 INDEPENDENT
RMB,OO_O RMB‘OO_O AUDITOR'S
AR® T ARBET T REPORT
- BB
Profit for the year FEFE 485,478 484,678
Other comprehensive expense Hih2mBX
Item that may be reclassified to profitor AJEERE 12 BRI EF B E
loss in subsequent periods: Bz oIHE -
— Exchange differences arising on - BEBINEBR ZER R
translation of foreign operations (€::35i8 3% )
(with nil tax effect) (49,535) (344,029)
Other comprehensive expense FEHM2AEMX CONSOLIDATED
for the year, net of tax (B B E) (49,535) (344,029) e
Total comprehensive income for FEZHAKREAE (ORLOSS
the year 435,943 140,649 e
Attributable to: PG -
Equity holders of the Company ERARRAEFEE A 421,435 140,432
Non-controlling interests FEPERR 14,508 217
435,943 140,649
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
BAZEWER
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
BARTSHRE
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY
BAREEBE
The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated FEMI M s T B A E G A BREN —IF
financial statements. oo
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

a PR R

720235 12H31H

UAARKETIR)

As at 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Renminbi)

2023 2022
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BtaE ARBT T AR¥ETF T
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment Mm% - BB k& 14 5,972,123 5,730,086
Right-of-use assets HRAEEE 15 423,432 420,458
Goodwill BES 16 233,973 233,973
Other intangible assets HtEpEE 17 19,646 20,270
Interests in joint ventures REeEEhtEZER 18 51,011 20,917
Deposits for purchase of items of  BEE Y% - BE & &E
property, plant and equipment HE®ZE 93,179 189,129
Prepayments SCENE 21 43,572 44,299
Deferred tax assets FRIETR I E E 28 24,643 24,811
Total non-current assets BERDEE 6,861,579 6,683,943
Current assets REEE
Inventories rE 19 1,728,040 1,770,419
Trade and bills receivables B W & FE W E R 20 2,819,521 2,738,201
Prepayments, other receivables  FEfTE « E b FEU R K
and other assets HuEE 21 375,176 386,109
Tax recoverable AT e F IR 987 24
Pledged deposits and restricted BB ER M AR
deposit 73R 22 65,719 115,743
Cash and cash equivalents BehkReEEY 22 2,391,737 2,380,067
Total current assets BRBEE 7,381,180 7,390,563
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and bills payables SO VY ES 23 2,300,044 2,422,478
Other payables and accruals HEM B R ERTIEE 24 509,763 504,894
Lease liabilities HEARE 25 13,084 12,002
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 5t 2 R1TRE R 27 5,033,996 3,824,249
Tax payable FE T IR 48,825 64,770
Total current liabilities BRBEE 7,905,712 6,828,393
Net current (liabilities)/assets RE(EB, EEFHE (524,532) 562,170
Total assets less current BEERRBEE
liabilities 6,337,047 7,246,113

CPMC Holdings Limited F1gBEZR AR AR



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
(Expressed in Renminbi) As at 31 December 2023 ﬁ«gﬁl‘yjﬁﬂj{;‘ﬂ,ﬁ

(AAREZ|TR) M2023F 124318
2023 2022
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Htat AR¥F T AREFIT
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Government grants T R 16,574 13,604
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T BRTTER 27 246,665 1,387,199
Lease liabilities HERE 25 74,348 64,852
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFIBEE 28 71,568 52,056
Total non-current liabilities HWERBERE 409,155 1,517,711
Net assets BEE 5,927,892 5,728,402
Equity =
Equity attributable to equity AATRREREFE AEML
holders of the Company s
Share capital &% 7 29 2,730,433 2,730,433
Reserves i 30 2,824,793 2,648,311
5,555,226 5,378,744
Non-controlling interests FERER 372,666 349,658
Total equity ERERS 5,927,892 5,728,402

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

HEZEEE@N2024F3F 208 #hE MR E T

20 March 2024. T o
Zhang Xin Zhang Ye
R REE
Director Director
EF EF
The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated BERT MK Z SR 6 BT IS R M — 2B
financial statements. 7 e
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEERBE R o

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

INDEPENDENT ZF/L\EH{M&F?EAEH
AUDITOR'S
REPORT Share-
B RBE RS based Exchange Non-
Share  payment Capital  Statutory fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital reserve  reserves reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
HRRA
Bl E%

Bx BE EABR  LEBE  RBRE  2RAR Rit FEREE 4R
Mo RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RWBOOD  RMBOOO
M ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

Asat1 January 2022 20251518 2,730,433 18,780 270,703 644955  (124022) 1936849 5477698 341341 5819039
CONSOLIDATED
ZTFA;FE(“)”;T Prof{loss)for the year EEHE/ (58) - - - - - 512 486512 (183) 484678
ORLOSS Otter comprehensive FEE /ﬁfﬁ /
O (expense)income (E2) Mz
forthe year:
Exchange differences HEREBE,
on translation of foreign EXzE
operations - - - - (346080) - (346080) 2051 (34029)
Total comprehensive FR2EER)/
(expense)fincome lheniit]
for the year - - - - (346,080) 486,512 140,432 217 140,649
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF Capital contribution fromnon- ~ FEERBREER
COMPREHENSIVE controlling shareholders % - - - - - - - 8,100 8100
L’j‘;@”é . 2021 finel dividend declered £ 5 F2021 £ R RS - - - - - (105775 (105775) - (1877)
o 2022 iterim dividend AEDERE 1 - - - - - (el (133601) - (1361)
Appropriation to the statutory ~ SEZEETHEE
reserve - - - 71,224 - (71,224) - - -
As at 31 December 2022 H2022512A31A 2730433 18,780* 270,703 T6,179* (470102 2,112,751" 5378744 349658 5,728,402
As at 1 January 2023 H2023E151A 2,730,433 18,780 270,703 716,179 (470,102) 2,112,751 5,378,744 349,658 5,728,402
Proft for the year EEHE - - - - - A0 A6 10718 485478
CONSOLIDATED Other comprehensive FERMZE
STATEMENT (expense)income (B2 iz
OF FINANCIAL forthe year
POSITION . Y hh R v
s, Exchange d\fferences. RERNEREZER
on translation of foreign ]
operations - - - - (53,325) - (53,325) 3,790 (49,535)
Total comprehensive FE2EFER)/
(expense)/income et
for the year - - - - (53,325) 474,760 421,435 14,508 435,943

Capital contribution from non- ~ FHEREEHER

RN contlro\l‘mg ;hareho\ders }5 - - - - - - - 8,500 8,500
ST G 2022 inal dividend declared  EER02FRERE 12 - - - - - (109115 (109,115) - (109,115)
CHANGES IN 2023 interim dividend A3EREHE 2 - - - - - (158%)  (1358%9) - (1%8%)
EQUITY Appropriation fo the statutory ~ AEZEEEE
RERBEBER reserve - - - 73,366 - (73,366) - - -
Asat3 December2023  HO23E12B31R 20040 1780 2070 TRSE (34 2269192  5SG626 G766 592740
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZERBERBBRAG S BR AR
RMB2,824,793,000 (2022 RMB2,648,311,000) in the consolidated LA A R0 824,793,000 (2022
statement of financial position. F : AR#2648,311,0007T) °
The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated BEM P AE B % S 4R A SRR — 26

financial statements. 7 e
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
T R HERER

2023 2022 CONSOLIDATED
Note RMB’000 RMB'000 AT o
k23 ARBT ARETT CASH FLOWS
: — GAREMER
Cash flows from operating REFHEEZRE
activities mE
Profit before income tax BRFTISBLAT A 626,292 596,093
Adjustments for: HE
Finance costs Bi5ER 7 238,489 87,717
Interest income FEWA 6 (40,322) (30,703)
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BERREEE
plant and equipment 6 4,027 6,744 NOTES TO THE
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMBA AR 6 - (60,128) CONSOLIDATED
Share of results of joint ventures EhAatEXE (2,491) (1,978) FINANCIAL
Committed dividend income RE—KABRERE AR it
from a former joint venture DEA 6 - (68,643)
Depreciation of property, plant Mm% BEREBETE
and equipment 8(c) 458,047 434,044
Depreciation of right-of-use EREEERE
assets 8(c) 25,586 26,280
Amortisation of other intangible Hivmm A ESN
assets 8(c) 3,577 3,182
Impairment loss recognised 2 RN - BRAHRR ;LIE@Y(;?T
of trade receivables, prepayments HihEEREBE SUMMARY
and other assets, net HBRFE 8(c) 434 3,545 AR
Amortisation of government B0/ 6 B 8 8
grants (2,114) (1,210)
Foreign exchange differences, BE X EE R
net (20,514) 15,959
Operating profit before changes in BEESEER KB E
working capital 1,291,011 1,010,902
Decrease in inventories FERD 42,379 133,231
Increase in trade and bills B 5 WG R FE R B2 N
receivables (81,762) (250,873)
Decrease in prepayments, R - A ER R
other receivables Hi & Em >
and other assets 25,538 41,575
Decrease/(increase) in pledged EERAERRBREEFR
deposits and restricted deposit EA,/ (80 22,243 (50,202)
(Decrease)fincrease in trade and BHRNPRENEE
bills payables (R /10 (122,434) 98,725
Increase in other payables and Hfth fe 50 % FEFTIE B 3 0
accruals 47,854 63,767
Cash generated from operations REELECRS 1,224,829 1,047,125
Interest paid BEAFE (276,430) (97,831)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BAHRBEIREMRGH (138,042) (54,744)
Net cash generated from RETHELECRSFE
operating activities 810,357 894,550
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
ﬁé}ﬁﬁjﬁ%% For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Renminbi)

HZE2023F12A31BIEFE (AAR¥SITR)
CONSOLIDATED 2023 2022
e o Note RMB’000 RMB'000
CASH FLOWS Hrat ARBET ARETTT
ik b Cash flows from investing activities REZBHEEZRERE
Interest received EUFE 40,322 30,703
Committed dividends received from a EH&Z %HUA%{E%Z%
former joint venture - 68,643
Purchase of property, plant and E%EJF@% TR ek
equipment (417,615) (714,696)
Deposits paid for purchase of ENEEYE  BERSRE
property, plant and equipment SoFen (82,012) (191,865)
Proceeds from disposal of property, m%m% o5 K % e P 75
plant and equipment 3,656 3,242
NOTES TO THE Additions to prepayments, other 1‘1‘ CHip UG R E A
;ﬁﬁf‘glﬁmm receivables and other assets ééia ill (42,186) (16,297)
STATEMENTS Additions to leasehold lands FHE + g - (48,388)
AT Additions to other intangible assets ~ E AR E (3,126) (1,084)
o ' Investments in joint ventures REBREZERE (26,237) (4,680)
Deposits paid for other non-current BENEMERDEENEZS
assets - (2,400)
Deposits refunded for other WEIEMIERE & ER LS
non-current assets - 1,680
Net inflow of cash and cash HE-ZXHBRAHHEE R
equivalents in respect of the ReSEBEMRANFE
disposal of a subsidiary 32 - 67,679
VAR Receipt of government grants for TR - BB KR A AEA
FINANGIAL property, plant and equipment IR FB AL 4,330 -
SUMMARY Net cash used in investing activities REFBFH 2R € FH (522,868) (807,463)
RS Cash flows from financing activities BEZHELZBERE
New bank loans raised HMEEMRTER 33 85,091 1,383,415
Repayments of bank loans EERITER 33 (118,794) (784,109)
Repayments of lease liabilities EEHEAE 33 (14,649) (15,017)
Interest paid on lease liabilities ENEEEERS 33 (1,621) (1,966)
Dividends paid BEABE (244,953) (239,386)
Capital contributions from non- SHERAR R A ARA
controlling shareholders 8,500 8,100
Loan advanced from a non-controlling  —ZR & A Rl FFH2 A &R
shareholder of a subsidiary BRER 33 - 64,895
Loan repaid to a non-controliing BiE— %Fﬁ% BES
shareholder of a subsidiary BEE 33 - (69,777)
Net cash (used in)/generated from mﬂﬁfﬁib ﬁﬁ S EBEZ
financing activities Re T8 (286,426) 346,155
Net increase in cash and RERRESEEYEMFH
cash equivalents 1,063 433,242
Cash and cash equivalents at FOReRBREEED
beginning of year 2,380,067 1,917,295
Effect of foreign exchange rate EREHTEFE
changes, net 10,607 29,530
Cash and cash equivalents at ERBERELEEY
end of year 2,391,737 2,380,067
Analysis of balances of cash and RERREEBUERIMN
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances We MIRTTHERR 20 1,501,737 1,490,067
Deposits in COFCO Finance Company E/":P#ﬁﬂ%*ﬁ_ﬁﬁﬂf?cﬂ Al
Limited (“COFCO Finance”), a ((FEF%]) (AT EEE
subsidiary of COFCO Corporation ERARMHERR) S
FR 22 890,000 890,000
Cash and cash equivalents REMBEMRRRRGEERE
as stated in the consolidated REBERZIIZHER
statement of financial position ReZEY
and the consolidated
statement of cash flows 2,391,737 2,380,067
The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated BERH P B 2 B hR & M Bz A — &6
financial statements. e
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*

Corporate and information of the Group

CPMC Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. On 16
November 2009, the Company listed its shares on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the Company
is located at 33/F., COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are principally engaged in the manufacture
of packaging products, including beverage cans, milk
powder cans, aerosol cans, metal caps, steel barrels and
plastic packaging in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”).

As at 31 December 2023, (i) COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited
(“COFCO (Hong Kong)") beneficially held approximately
29.70% (2022: 29.70%) of the issued shares of the
Company, being the single largest shareholder of the
Company; and (i) 2K BERKRMHBR QA (ORG
Technology Co. Ltd.*) (“ORG Technology”) beneficially
held approximately 24.40% (2022: 24.40%) of the issued
shares of the Company, being the second largest
shareholder of the Company. COFCO (Hong Kong) is a
company incorporated in Hong Kong and ultimately held
by COFCO Corporation (“COFCQO”), a state-owned
enterprise registered in the PRC. ORG Technology is a
company established in the PRC and listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

For identification purposes only.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁ%iﬁi H:J‘%I (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

1 Corporate and information of the Group

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

1 RAFAREEER(E)

B R B R
ARRNEENE QR FEEHTIM

follows: N

Place of

registration Issued Percentage of

and ordinary/ equity

principal place registered attributable
Name of business share capital to the Company Principal activity

HMEHR BRTEER/ LN
£ TERE Y BEfRA FrERER DL TEEY

Direct Indirect
E& 3
Hangzhou COFCO-MC packaging PRC 1S$30,050,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
Co,, Ltd* i 30,050,000 T tBRREE
MM EXRASERAR"
Guangzhou Panyu MCP Industries Ltd.*  PRC 1S$30,290,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal and plastic
BENEBERARERAR fF 30,200,000% 7T packaging
TENERRELE
Wuxi Huapeng Closures Co., Ltd.** PRC US$25,000,000 - 8448  Manufacture of metal packaging
(“Wuxi Huapeng’) i 25,000,000 TEAREE
EHEBREARRA(BHZE)
Hangzhou CPMC Co., Ltd.” PRC US$64,500,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
MR EERERAA" i 64,500,000% TERREE
Tianjin CPMC Co., Ltd.* PRC US$50,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
PRAE (K2 AR M 50,000,000% 7 TERREE
CPMC (Chengdu) Co., Ltd.* PRC US$43,300,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
PRAE (K AR M 43,300,000% TERREE
Zhangjiagang CPMC Co., Ltd."* PRC RMB17,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
RREPRBAERRAA™ M AR 17,000,007 TERREE
CPMC (Wuhan) Co., Ltd.* PRC US$30,000,0000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
hRAE(HE) AR i 30,000,000% 7 TERRLE
Hangzhou CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd.*  PRC US$39,750,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
MR EREERA R i 39,750,000 T tERREE
CPMC (Kunshan) Co., Ltd.* PRC US$24,200,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
PRAX(EIL) BRG] i 24,200,000% 7 TERREE
CPMC Holdings Limited F1gBEZR AR AR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) %é/ﬁ\j‘ﬁiﬁ% M:J‘%‘I

UAARKESIR)

Corporate and information of the Group 1 AFAKRKEEER(E)
(contin ued) CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
N . CASH FLOWS
Information about subsidiaries (continued) Bt~ B E R (E) BARSRER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as RARMEZMBARGFBEHS W
follows: (continued) T : (8)
Place of
registration Issued Percentage of
and ordinary/ equity
principal place registered attributable
Name of business share capital to the Company Principal activity c’(‘)?q:ig;:ﬁ
HMBYR BRTEER/ K2R R ANCIAL
£ FTELEHY [RE FribEzE At FTEER STATEMENTS
Direct Indirect SRR R
E# GE3
CPMC (Zhenjiang) Co., Ltd.* PRC US$32,750,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
hRAE (B ARAT hE 32,750,000 TEOREE
Guangzhou CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd.* PRC US$89,052,877 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
BMTREERRAA" i 89,052,877 TT TEAREE
FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
Sino-Asia Package (Tianjin) Co., Ltd.”*  PRC US$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic packaging SUMMARY
REOERDERAT" G 10,000,000% 7 EBRREE AR
Sino-Asia Plastic Package (Zhongshan) ~ PRC US$7,200,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic packaging
Co., Ltd.* G 7,200,000% 7 BRRRLE
RRTENRRERAR"
Victoria Package (Suzhou) Co., Ltd.**  PRC RMB100,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic packaging
EMgEBRERAR™ G AR %100,000,0007C EBRKLE
Weigang Packaging (Tianjin) Co., Ltd.**  PRC 1S$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic packaging
EERE(RDERAT" i 10,000,000% 70 EBRRLE
CPMC (Tianjin) Barrel Co., Ltd.* PRC US$15,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
REREUBERLA" i 15,000,000 7T TEAREE
Nanning CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd.*  PRC 1S$30,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
HETRHEARAA i 30,000,000 T TEAREE
CPMC Investment Co., Ltd.* PRC 1US$404,090,000 - 100 Investment holding
PRAKREARAA i 404,090,000% T RERR
CPMC (Guangzhou) Plastic Package PRC US$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic packaging
Co,, Ltd* G 10,000,000 BRRRLE

rREKENZBERAR)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ﬁé/ﬂ\j’i%iﬁ% H:j‘%} (Expressed in Renminbi)

UAARKETIR)

1  Corporate and information of the Group 1 ARREEER(E)
CONSOLIDATED (conti n ued)
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS s =
BARSRER Information about subsidiaries (continued) M B A T &R (&)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as RARMEZMNMB AR FFBHT W
follows: (continued) T : (8)
Place of
registration Issued Percentage of
and ordinary/ equity
principal place registered attributable
ZELZZL‘E"Z::D Name of business share capital to the Company Principal activity
R ANGIAL HMBYR BRfEER/ K2R
STATEMENTS 2% FTELEHY EEAUES FribEsE At FEEK
g bl Direct Indirect
E# GE3
Harbin CPMC Co., Ltd" PRC RMB80,800,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
hRAK(RER)ERRA G AR 80,800,007 TERREE
Fujian FC Packaging Limited” PRC US$3,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
o BRAERBARAT # 3,000,000%7C SBORLE
SUMMARY
nEMBHE CPMC (Guangzhou) Barrel Co., Ltd.” PRC US$8,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
BN ERBERLA G 8,000,000% TERREE
Weigang Packaging (Sugian) Co. Ltd.*  PRC US$6,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic packaging
REEBERARLR G 6,000,000% T EBRkLE
Xiamen CPMC Co., Ltd.™* PRC RMB12,000,000 - 60  Manufacture of metal packaging
hRAR(EM)ARAT" el AR 12,000,007 TERREE
Fujian CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd.* PRC US$42,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
BETREERRA" i 42,000,000 T tBRREE
Harvest Epoch Packaging Co., Ltd. PRC 1S$80,000,000 - 68.8  Manufacture of metal packaging
(“Harvest Epoch’)™ H 80,000,000 TEREEE
MIseEARAE™ (LLH8))
Chengdu CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd.*  PRC RMB250,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
RBPEBRERRRA" i AR #250,000,00070 tERREE
CPMC (Jiaxing) Barrel Co., Ltd.* PRC US$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
FENERRERLA i 10,000,000% T TERREE
CPMC (Weifang) Barrel Co., Ltd."™ PRC RMB64,520,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
By RRRERLA™ i AR 64,520,007 TERRLE
Benepack Belgium NV Belgium EUR21,200,000 - 50.9  Manufacture of metal packaging
bl 21,200,00081 7T TEBRAE
Heilongjiang MC Packaging Co., Ltd.*  PRC RMB25,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
REIENARERAE i AR 825,000,007 tERREE
Chengdu Weigang Packaging Co., Ltd.*  PRC RMB13,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic packaging
REGBREERAR q: AR13,000,0007 BRARAE
238 CPMC Holdings Limited ®i8 @5 RAR A




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\j%iﬁ% MisE

UAARKESIR)

Corporate and information of the Group 1 ARREEER(E)
(continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) M A FE R (&)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as RATNETENEARGEIFEY W0
follows: (continued) T (&)
Place of
registration Issued Percentage of
and ordinary/ equity
principal place registered attributable
Name of business share capital to the Company Principal activity
Ra B BRTEER/ LN
£ TELEHY EETES FrEERE DL TERHR
Direct Indirect
Ef GE3
CPMC (Chongging) Co., Ltd.” PRC RMB56,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal and plastic
TERE(ER)BRAA i AR 56,000,007 packaging
TENERRELE
Harbin Meite Container Co., Ltd.* PRC RMB25,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
RERERARARAA" i AR 25,000,007 TERREE
Kunming CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd.”  PRC RMB120,000,000 - 70 Manufacture of metal packaging
ERTRRERRAF i AR #120,000,0007 TEAREE
Longjiang Meite Container Co., Ltd.* PRC RMB25,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
EIXBRGERLA i AR 25,000,007 TERREE
Shenyang CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd.*  PRC RMB?200,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
BHPERERRAA" i AR F200,000,0007 TEAREE
(2022:
RMB135,000,000)
(20225 - ANR%
135,000,0007C)
CPMC (Yangzhou) Barrel Co., Ltd.” PRC RMB28,500,000 - 70.18  Manufacture of metal packaging
(note (i) i AR K28 500,0007T (022:-) tEBELE
PEERBMBRAF W) (20227 : &)
* Wholly foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law * RIEH BLL RO E I E 1%

>k

Sino-foreign equity joint venture
***  Domestic-funded enterprises

The English names of all the above companies are direct
transliterations of their Chinese registered names.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
excessive length in the particulars.

Note:

(i) The entity was newly incorporated during the year ended
31 December 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂjﬁ%*ﬁ% MisE (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all
applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis, except for certain financial
instruments which have been measured at fair value.
These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (RMB’000) except when otherwise
indicated.

At 31 December 2023, a significant portion of the funding
requirements of the Group for capital expenditures was
satisfied by short-term borrowings. Consequently, at 31
December 2023, the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately RMB524,532,000. The Group had
sufficient undrawn borrowing facilities of not less than
RMB2,000,000,000, subject to certain conditions, and may
refinance and/or restructure certain short-term borrowings
into long-term borrowings and will also consider alternative
sources of financing, where applicable. The directors of
the Company are of the opinion that the Group will be able
to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due within the
next twelve months and have prepared these consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the
year ended 31 December 2023. A subsidiary is an entity,
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

CPMC Holdings Limited Fie B FIZRER AR

2.1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁéﬂjﬁiﬁ% MisE

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent and uniform accounting policies. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

2.1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂjﬁ%iﬁ% MisE (Expressed in Renminbi)

2.1

2.2

AARKTIR)

Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the exchange
fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in
profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s consolidated
financial statements:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform-Pillar
Two model Rules

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

CPMC Holdings Limited Fie B FIZRER AR
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2.2

fim B EL 2 (48)

REEEE)

i AN &= [ 55 25 49 Y /B8 2 B 2 4%
o REMEEREEEE (B
BE) - BfE - EAFERERK
PE M DR - M RERR AT AR A
BREzZAFERBETEAELE
HEZBBEER - KRR EMEE
Was M FERR 2 A SR B B 1A B 0 AR
WEASEERHERBEEELR
EMFEZRREEESHOBEERR
S EFMBER) o

SN BERRECED
AEERANFENGAMBREE

RIERATHE] REERT BB T

SR

RO RS ER RBAH

E17%

ERENESRY S ITE

BT

EREHEAF  HE-QHEEL

ZERTR EERRERBZ
EIEHE

EEGIENE 1y ERHENRE -

BT EYHALRRA

EReENFIRE  eHBEIHE

BAMBREER

ERDESNY

BIA

BT XATAE SN - RAFE A

FIRRIERT BB MBS LA E A
SEAFEBEFENMBARR
REBER/ KZEEAMBIRERA
HRBETEEATE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) 'éﬁ‘—\éﬁl\jﬁiﬁ% MisE

AARKTIR)

22 S BRRKEEEH (&)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and

disclosures (continued) CONSOLIDATED

(a)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the
initial recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it
no longer applies to transactions that give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences,
such as leases. Therefore, entities are required
to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that
sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences arising from
these transactions.

For leases, the associated deferred tax assets
and liabilities are required to be recognised from
the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as
an adjustment to retained profits or other components
of equity at that date. For all other transactions,
the amendments are applied to those transactions
that occur after the beginning of the earliest period

(a)
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Prior to the amendments, the Group did not apply
the initial recognition exemption to lease transactions
and had recognised the related deferred tax, except
that the Group previously determined the temporary
difference arising from a right-of-use asset and the
related lease liability on a net basis on the basis
they arise from a single transaction. Following
the amendments, the Group has determined the
temporary differences in relation to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities separately. The change
primarily impacts disclosures of components of
deferred tax assets and liabilities in Note 28, but
does not impact the overall deferred tax balances
presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position as the related deferred tax balances qualify
for offsetting under HKAS 12.

RYERERT AT - AR E L &
HHEXZEBYVI LRI
% WE R AEREETH
B EAREE RS RFRE
EEABTENEEIHES
MEREEENMABHEER
BEEENEREZER - NME
HIERTR - AEEC D RIE
THEABEERHEERR
HENERER  ZEHT
EXEERERBEENRARE
ARCERR 3 A MY EE 28 7 B 3R
B EMEERAaMBRR
RP2IHMBRECHIAL
o RERBRETER AL
BT BT B G EAF 1258
FIEAHYIRIH AR -

Annual Report 2023 FE#RE

243



CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
HAaBERER

NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
AFMBHE

244

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MisE (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies require entities to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply
the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures.

In June 2022 the Hong Kong SAR Government (the
“Government”) gazetted the Hong Kong Employment
and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the
“Amendment Ordinance”), which will come into effect
from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). Once the
Amendment Ordinance takes effect, an employer can
no longer use any of the accrued benefits derived
from its mandatory contributions to mandatory
provident fund (“MPF”) scheme to reduce the long
service payment (“LSP”) in respect of an employee’s
service from the Transition Date (the abolition of
the “offsetting mechanism”). In addition, the LSP
in respect of the service before the Transition Date
will be calculated based on the employee’s monthly
salary immediately before the Transition Date and
the years of service up to that date. In July 2023,
the HKICPA published “Accounting implications of
the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism
in Hong Kong” that provides accounting guidance
relating to the abolition of offsetting mechanism
effective from 1 May 2025. The abolition of the
offsetting mechanism did not have a material impact
on the Group’s results and financial position.

The Group has disclosed the material accounting policy
information in Note 2.4 to the consolidated financial
statements. The amendments did not have any impact on
the measurement, recognition or presentation of any items
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁiﬁ% MisE
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2.3 EEMEERERNEER

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards RS #ER| CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

o . CASH FLOWS

The Group has not early applied the following revised REEW RN ZEFE M BRET BARSRER

HKFRSs that have been iss

ued but are not yet effective,

in these consolidated financial statements. The Group
intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if applicable,

REEMULTERMERRERZ
RIETEBMBREED - AEH
BRREFEALERREAZETE

As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022
Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
was revised to align the corresponding wording with no
change in conclusion.

4 TER20207F (£ 5] 2K J 2022 (55T
K2R BELBEEYHH
HEMZHR - EAANHHEEZE
KBRS E B S 5 48] B
EITIERT + LUEIFEE Fl iR i —
BRI T & -
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when they become effective. BET B AV BmE LR (HER) -
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets BEYBREEL RAZEEBRNAL
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its F10RREEGS RECELANEE
Associate or Joint Venture' BRZEBH2ETA  HERRA NOTeS T0 T
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and BAUBREREA ERERPHEE TS
Leaseback? F165 2B B FINANCIAL
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities FAGEAFE IR, BABHIEARDH STATEMENTS
as Current or Non-current EHES FERE([2020% REMBERME
(the “2020 Amendments”)? 4 eI )2 4
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities AESENE IR, WEZENERD
with Covenants (the “2022 EHE B (20206
Amendments”)? 4 CHES
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance BEQHENSTRE  HEERETHE
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements? BANBIREER
BT B
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability? BEQENER . BRI FIVE-YEAR
EHE FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
. . o e o REEE
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to 1 RIFET AR 2 4 FH 158 F/E
be determined. HRRTAERL
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 R2024%F 1A 1H32 # F1E 8 F
2024. JEERT AL o
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 3 R2025% 15 1H 3¢, 1 18 89 F
2025. JE AL o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MisE (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKTIR)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a
gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when
the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019).
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement. The
amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled in
its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an
equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification
of that liability as current or non-current. Additional
disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that are
subject to the entity complying with future covenants within
12 months after the reporting period. The amendments
shall be applied retrospectively with early application
permitted. An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments
early is required to apply simultaneously the 2022
Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments and whether
existing loan agreements may require revision. Based
on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁéﬂjﬁiﬁ% MisE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MisE (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

2.4 Material accounting policies

Investments in joint ventures

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in joint ventures are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to
bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may
exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of a joint venture is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of comprehensive income respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised
directly in the equity of joint venture, the Group recognises
its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and a joint venture are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s investment in a joint venture, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition
of a joint venture is included as part of the Group’s
investment in a joint venture.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its
fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of
joint venture upon loss of joint control and the fair value
of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in a joint venture is classified as held
for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group
elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in
the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

(Expressed in Renminbi)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MisE (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and
other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in
a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or group of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognises for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value
of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2.4 Material accounting policies (continued) 24 EXETEEE

CONSOLIDATED
Fair value measurement DNFEFE STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments
and debt instruments at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
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economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and BEeEAL  ABZEELETH FINANCIAL
best use or by selling it to another market participant that BAREFAZEEENZERE ﬁ;“ﬁ;”gg;

would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as
follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3— based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognises in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MisE (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit's value-in-use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or
group of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion
of the carrying amount of a corporate asset is allocated
to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of
the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortization) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.

CPMC Holdings Limited Fie B FIZRER AR

2.4 BEXSEHEK(E)

FETHMEERE
WELRBETRAFTELEE
(FE BRERBEENEREE
BN ETEFEERENR  Blef
AARREEMAKESHE - BENR
WEleBEREESREELEEMN
A EEREQFER LSRN
BeE  LHEREEEE - KRIF
BEYEELARERKNIZE LB
REMEEREERIINER SR
A ERBERT B EEMBR
CELABUETTROESE -

HERAARSEL B ZBER - &
CEEENORAENRAE -
HENR  AnE=@EMNREEL
B RRASEERINREEL
BfAm -

WEERENEEREEBR K
O] & B T AR - R EERE
BE - BEFRACR SR E A R
REMSHERHEHEEREER
E RSO AT KR ER
B REBRREECHEEED
RN A BREEZMHEAK
BRERME -

RERSHREEFEREATR
BrNATEERNBEERTERE
EREFRD - EHIR ERTR
AEEt AT E 25 - EE(BEK
SN BECHERNBEBBRENE
EEEARESEMABNMGHEZ
BED SR TeBeRFATE
FEVERZAEERDBERBR
MEENEREE(ENRITE #
) - BERBEBBERLERELH
Bt ASRBEEE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2.4 Material accounting policies (continued) 24 EXETEEE
. CONSOLIDATED
Related parties BEAL \ STATEMENT OF
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: WEFELTER - T8 ALHES CASH FLOWS
RENEE B R BAREGRER
(a) the party is a person or a close member of that (a) B—BALTRZBALTHED
person’s family and that person: oM AL
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; (y FEHlsERZEHASE
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(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (iy HAEERBEATE
2 NOTES TO THE
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(i) is a member of the key management personnel (i) RAEEHALEE—FH FINANCIAL
of the Group or of a parent of the Group. FRRINEEEEERK STATEMENTS
8 e RAMBRRME
Or 54
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following (b) B—HBEBARTIGEHENE
conditions applies: GER
(iy  the entity and the Group are members of the () ZEEBRAEEARR-—
same group; SEHKE QT v
. o . . . b O e e FINANCIAL
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the (i) REELSS —HER SUMMARY
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow Bt E AR e 8RR RS
subsidiary of the other entity); (kB —MEE ﬁgﬁ'\j N
FREANEEARES]
BRa)
(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of (i) ZELBRAEERER
the same third party; F=IHEEDRE
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity vy —HERZA—MBE=7H
and the other entity is an associate of the third EBNaERX M3
entity; —HMEBAZE=-FE
AE 0k /N B
(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan (v) ZREBARASEINHEAR
for the benefit of employees of either the SEEHENERNES
Group or an entity related to the Group (if the B AR KA IRt & (i 2
Group is itself such a plan) and the sponsoring SEASAAE AT E)
employers of the post-employment benefit plan; KGR ORAE F 5T &I 89 & B
BE :
(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a (vi) ZEfH()EMAAL
person identified in (a); 2 i) o 2k [ 4%E )
(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant (vi) (a)(i)BATal B9 A £ $5%
influence over the entity or is a member of the ERAREARE K
key management personnel of the entity (or of RZERB(KZEEWN
a parent of the entity); and HRRNMNEEEERERK
8 K
(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it (vii) ZEEBUZEEMES
is a part, provides key management personnel B2 EAKRE QR BA
services to the Group or to the parent of the SERAEE QA
Group. RHEBEZER -
Close members of the family of a person are those family —AATZINBEREZERRS
members who may be expected to influence, or be BRI g B AT REZAL
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity. TEIFKEKE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MisE (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKTIR)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection
is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life, taking
into account its estimated residual value of 2% to 10%.
The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 20 to 30 years
Leasehold improvements 31to 5 years
Machinery and equipment 10 to 20 years
Vehicles 5years
Electronic equipment, office 5 years

equipment and fixtures

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment, including any
significant part initially recognised, is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised as
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the
useful life and assessed for impairment whenever there is
an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at
least at each financial year end.

Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less
any impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 to 15
years.

(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁéﬂjﬁiﬁ% MisE

AARKTIR)

24 EXRESFBERE)

ME - BERRERTE ()

ME - BB RERE(BRBREFLD
IRRERR A E Z AR () I E TR
BREMILETSHEREER
mIEFRITER c RRILERBES
FRrAoBEaRERNLEXERE
EHREREAREEN L EMSEN
HFRERmEEE -

FEE TRRKA R ERERA
M AERE - EETRERERYL
ARAREENODBRENE BEK
REBENEZER

BREEBERM

1180 511 L B ) S T2 28 190 ) TR AR B
BRAGHE - REBFA GRS
BIVEENRATIBZEENKE
HHOATE BEEENAE
RERFERSBRIER - AJER
FHMRBERNEN BEREKNAE
REMANEE  TRETRBRE
T & EE T BE R (B S TR (E RT
e AERFHRERNETLEE
MBI F R BT EAELREM
BEFEERETER -

R R aFA]

BB B BN N AT T PARK AR A A
EERDINR - WIRHEEEATE A
FHOOEF) AEAREHH -

Annual Report 2023 FE#RE

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
HaBERER

NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
REM BRI

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
RERBHE

255



CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
HAaBERER

NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
AFMBHE

256

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂjﬁ%iﬁ% MisE (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKTIR)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or
sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell
the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
during the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when
incurred.

Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are stated at cost
less any impairment losses and are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 3to 8
years.

Customer relationship

Customer relationship represents the fair value attributable
to the customer base or existing contractual bids with
customers acquired as a result of business combination.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases. The
Group recognised lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Leasehold land 50 years
Leased properties 210 20 years
Machineries 10 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MisE (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (continued)
In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change
in the lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

(c) Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract
contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms and is included in other income in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue
in the period in which they are earned.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessor (continued)

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying assets to the
lessee are accounted for as finance leases.

Investment and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’'s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out in
“Revenue recognition” paragraph below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”")
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂjﬁ%*ﬁ% MisE (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKTIR)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Investment and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits
to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

For debt instruments that are stated at amortised cost
are subsequently measured using the effective interest
method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses
are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Investment and other financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt instruments that are measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income, interest income,
foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses or
reversals are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for
financial assets measured at amortised cost whilst fair
value changes are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value
changes recognised in other comprehensive income is
recycled to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MisE (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing
of the default (a lifetime ECL). The Group considers that
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 90 days past due.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition. When
making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
end of each reporting period with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full before taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

Debt instruments that are measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income and financial assets at
amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below:

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs.

Stage 1

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs.

Stage 2

Stage 3 Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at

an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MisE (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at the end of each reporting period. The
Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills
payables, other payables and accruals (excluding contract
liabilities) and interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, trade and bills payables, other
payables and accruals (excluding contract liabilities),
and interest-bearing bank borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as
commodity futures contracts, to hedge its price risk of raw
materials. Such derivative financial instruments are initially
recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured
at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the
fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is
negative.

The fair value of commodity purchase contracts that meet
the definition of a derivative as defined by HKFRS 9 is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
as cost of sales. Commodity contracts that are entered
into and continue to be held for the purpose of the receipt
or delivery of a non-financial item in accordance with the
Group’s expected purchase, sale or usage requirements
are held at cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MisE (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Derivative financial instruments (continued)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
(continued)

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted
average cost basis and, in the case of work in progress
and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less
any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement
of financial position comprise cash on hand and at banks,
and short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of
generally within three months that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value and held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for ECL in accordance with the policy set out
in “Impairment of financial assets” paragraph.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made on the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁéﬂjﬁiﬁ% MisE
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2.4 Material accounting policies (continued) 24 EXETEEE

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and it
is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MisE (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carry-forward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carry-forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

CPMC Holdings Limited i &E AR A A

2.4 BEXSEHEK(E)

Fri& %t (&)
BIERIBEETISLAT A AT TR E i
ZH - APARBERRARBAH
HERNEEMER - BREREE
= LA 75 FE SR A M B DA B A T 07
ERZH  APAHBELEARD
ARBEBEENEEBUESEHERR -
HETR B SLBRSM -

e HUNMBERZRAMNE
FER IR E BE TR — IR 3F
EBAMNRZPIRER
BESBEMESL  ARK
SEHI T EGNELE
AR BRER A TEE
EERORRT L AT NHE
RERE M

© BEAHBAARAELE
el LRt
e EEBAEEERY
B 2 4000 7 R4S G A B
1 BA J& §6 75 18 354 i) 9 A B9
T B 3 AR T 95 M0 R
T BT -

RERESHRBHETCHAEEEDN
fREE - WHETBAEARHAER
T NE LA B A 2 B8P sl B (0 IR AE AR IR
BER - HENRZREE - KK
ROELEHEEEERSRED
REHHE - LAEA LA RHER
758 ) DA UG 13 2 50 st BB 40 IR AE A% IR
BERTIARESR -

ELRAEE R AETRERER
REREENFERABHRHEHNR
FoRBERBEPRCEMLER
LEEMAOHER(RBRFH -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities, and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MisE (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes interest expense accreted on the contract liability
using the effective interest method. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or
less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

Sale of packaging products

Revenue from the sale of packaging products is
recognised at a point in time when control of the asset
is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery and
acceptance of the packaging products by the customers.

Some contracts for the sale of packaging products provide
customers with volume rebates, giving rise to variable
consideration.

Volume rebates

Retrospective volume rebates may be provided to certain
customers once the quantity of products purchased during
the period exceeds a threshold specified in the contract.
Rebates are offset against amounts payable by the
customer. To estimate the variable consideration for the
expected future rebates, the most likely amount method is
used for contracts with a single-volume threshold and the
expected value method for contracts with more than one
volume threshold. The selected method that best predicts
the amount of variable consideration is primarily driven by
the number of volume thresholds contained in the contract.
The requirements on constraining estimates of variable
consideration are applied and a refund liability for the
expected future rebates is recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Other income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers
control of the related goods or services to the customer).

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is the obligation to refund some or all
of the consideration received (or receivable) from the
customer and is measured at the amount the Group
ultimately expects it will have to return to the customer.
The Group updates its estimates of refund liabilities (and
the corresponding change in the transaction price) at the
end of each reporting period.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related
service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount
expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of
past service provided by the employee and the obligation
can be estimated reliably.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MisE (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operates
in the Mainland China are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain percentages of its payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Borrowing costs (continued)

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for
the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation
rate of 5.44% (2022: 2.08%) has been applied to the
expenditure on the individual assets.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’'s Memorandum and
Articles of Association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in RMB. The functional currency of the Company is the
Hong Kong dollars. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using
that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised
in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MisE (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
and joint ventures of the Group are currencies other than
RMB. At the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period and their statements of profit or loss are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates that approximate to those
prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the
differences are attributable to non-controlling interests. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in
the reserve relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁéﬂjﬁiﬁ% MisE
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2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

24 EXRESFBERE)
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to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regularly environment. Operating segments which are not

HEFEXRAMNEROAEERES
TREEBRHNMBERE PR
B

BEREENRED B IEa T IAMR
MBmE R - BMZEFEDRHE
mMBRSEE  EFETFMHE &7
FRERISEMEE - o HEmATRHR
BREREEERENAESK
PRI BREL - AIERR o (@RI
TEEMRENHMRTEU LR
BB R BRI A AR A — RS

NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
REM BRI

individually material may be aggregated if they share a DE o
majority of these criteria.

N N FIVE-YEAR
Significant accounting judgements and BEAEFTHE R FINANCIAL
estimates ﬁiéﬁggl

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets
or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following judgements,
apart from those involving estimations, which have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MisE (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKTIR)

Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgement that
significantly affects the determination of the amount of
revenue from contracts with customers:

Determining the method to estimate variable consideration
and assessing the constraint for the sale of packaging
products

Certain contracts for the sale of packaging products
include volume rebates that give rise to variable
consideration. In estimating the variable consideration, the
Group is required to use either the expected value method
or the most likely amount method based on which method
better predicts the amount of consideration to which it will
be entitled.

In estimating the variable consideration for the sale of
packaging products with volume rebates, the Group
determined that using a combination of the most likely
amount method and the expected value method is
appropriate. The selected method that better predicts the
amount of variable consideration related to volume rebates
is primarily driven by the number of volume thresholds
contained in the contract. The most likely amount method
is used for those contracts with a single volume threshold,
while the expected value method is used for contracts with
more than one volume threshold.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in
the transaction price, the Group considers whether the
amount of variable consideration is constrained. The Group
determined that the estimates of variable consideration
are not constrained based on its historical experience,
business forecast and the current economic conditions. In
addition, the uncertainty on the variable consideration will
be resolved within a short time frame.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore,
the Group considers whether a property generates cash
flows largely independently of the other assets held by
the Group. Some properties comprise a portion that is
held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another
portion that is held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes. If these
portions could be sold separately or leased out separately
under a finance lease, the Group accounts for the portions
separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the
property is an investment property only if an insignificant
portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is
made on an individual property basis to determine whether
ancillary services are so significant that a property does
not qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next year, are described below.

Variable consideration for volume rebates

The Group estimates variable consideration to be included
in the transaction price for the sale of packaging products
with volume rebates.

The Group’s expected volume rebates are analysed
on a per customer basis for contracts that are subject
to a single volume threshold. Determining whether a
customer will likely be entitled to a rebate depends on the
customer’s historical rebate entitlement and accumulated
purchases to date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MisE (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Variable consideration for volume rebates (continued)

The Group has applied a statistical model for estimating
expected volume rebates for contracts with more than
one volume threshold. The model uses the historical
purchasing patterns and rebate entitlement of customers
to determine the expected rebate percentages and
the expected value of the variable consideration. Any
significant changes in experience as compared to
historical purchasing patterns and rebate entitlements of
customers will impact the expected rebate percentages
estimated by the Group.

The Group updates its assessment of expected volume
rebates quarterly and the refund liabilities are adjusted
accordingly. Estimates of expected volume rebates are
sensitive to changes in circumstances and the Group’s
past experience regarding rebate entitlements may not
be representative of customers’ actual rebate entitiements
in the future. As at 31 December 2023, the amount
recognised as refund liabilities was RMB40,498,000 (2022:
RMB20,338,000) for the expected volume rebates, which
is included in “Other payables and accruals”.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic products) are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead
to an increased number of defaults in the manufacturing
sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At the end
of each reporting period, the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
(continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of customers’ actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s
trade receivables is disclosed in Note 20.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value-in-use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value-in-use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill
at 31 December 2023 was RMB233,973,000 (2022:
RMB233,973,000). Further details are disclosed in Note 16
to the consolidated financial statements.

Income taxes

The Group is mainly subject to income taxes in the
Mainland China. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated
tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MisE (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Deferred tax assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had deferred tax
assets of RMB35,625,000 (2022: RMB40,976,000). To the
extent it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences will be
utilised, deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses and temporary differences arising from impairment
provisions for trade receivables, prepayments and other
receivables and property, plant and equipment and
decelerated tax depreciation and amortisation, certain
accrual items. The amount of unrecognised deferred tax
assets arising from tax losses at 31 December 2023 was
RMB132,588,000 (2022: RMB67,874,000). Further details
are disclosed in Note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have
to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not
enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for
example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and
is required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such
as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Operating segment information

For management purposes, the Group has one operating
segment of packaging products, of which the results are
monitored by the management for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance
assessment.

This operating segment can be analysed by three business
units based on their products and services as follows:

(a)

Tinplate packaging — the Group uses tinplate as the
main raw material for its tinplate packaging products,
which include milk powder cans, aerosol cans, metal
caps, steel barrels, and other metal packaging;

Aluminium packaging — the Group uses aluminium
as the main raw material for its aluminium packaging
products, which mainly consist of two-piece
beverage cans and one-piece bottles; and

Plastic packaging — the Group’s plastic packaging
products are mainly used for milk bottles, shampoo
bottles, plastic devices of electronic products, daily
use hardware, package printing, sports drink bottles
and related plastic-made products.

The analysis of revenue of each of the business unit is set

(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁiﬁ% MisE

UAARKESIR)

=]

/BN

RED IS

IR

ﬂ

H

ARERME AEEE—HERRE
E'uﬁﬁiw“’\ﬁﬁ EEEBERHEE

C At E RS B R IR AR
/J-E}TF_ °

RS

AARL & JJ l:l ?ﬁ EDD&HE%J/X—
EZEFELEITHNT - TR ¢

(a) BOEBsX - AEEFRS
ODEEAHEOIHBRESR
WEZRME - EReEDN
Mg - f5E 2B i
B|EREMEBeE

(b) BEE%R - AEEEMEE
AHENORERNETER
MR EBEEMA SR
RES# R

(c) BRBRAEHE - AEBNB R
PEEMEZANDM - %
2K - ETERNERBH
- -BARAT - BEHOR -
BB R RAEEE R

[}
[s[a g

BEXEBEMWBRADHT

out as below:
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFTT
Tinplate packaging SOEeE 4,209,774 4,212,735
Aluminium packaging Lo 5,346,209 5,368,106
Plastic packaging R 709,327 674,384
10,265,310 10,255,225
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%%E\jﬁiﬁ% MTJ'EI (Expressed in Renminbi)
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4 Operating segment information (continued) 4 7

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
HaBERER

HIRE R

REBEKAINEE P HRATIRE
EPNNLESR D  FRREEMRE
NEBONAKEIERBEENE

Geographical information

The Group’s revenue from external customers is based on
the location of customers and information about its non-
current assets by geographical location of the assets are

detailed below: BT
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets (Note)
RENMDEFHBA kRBEE K
NOTES TO THE
ONSOLIDATED 2023 2022 2023 2022
FINANCIAL RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
STATEMENTS ARBTT ARETT ARETR AR®ETR
SAMBHREMTE -
The PRC F 9,442,898 9,572,088 6,177,033 5,949,467
Overseas =gl 822,412 683,137 659,903 709,665
10,265,310 10,255,225 6,836,936 6,659,132

Note: Non-current assets excluded deferred tax assets. Wit - ERBEET EIFELKIEE

o
FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL Information about major customers EBEXEEFNEHR
?Z;;;g Revenue from customers of the corresponding years HESEGLASERAREBR
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are 10%HI KRB REFPHWALT ¢
as follows:
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTIT
Customer A BEPA 1,264,768 1,380,647
Customer B =FB 1,150,533 1,101,412
5 Revenue PN
An analysis of revenue is as follows: AT —UEARDHT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Revenue from contracts with EEEHWA
customers
Sale of packaging products HEBKEM 10,265,310 10,255,225

282
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Revenue (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
Disaggregated revenue information

(i)

(ii)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\j%iﬁ% MisE

UAARKESIR)

5 WA

EFEHRA

(i) DFWAEH

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
By type of goods REYMERE S
Tinplate packaging BOEeE 4,209,774 4,212,735
Aluminium packaging fTaELN O 5,346,209 5,368,106
Plastic packaging BRI 709,327 674,384
Total revenue from contracts with  E P A #JW A B 5E
customers 10,265,310 10,255,225
By geographical markets RWETHE D
The PRC s 9,442,898 9,572,088
Overseas LN 822,412 683,137
Total revenue from contracts with &P & 49Uk A 4 %8
customers 10,265,310 10,255,225
All of the Group’s revenue from contracts with TEBHBREREHWA

customers is recognised at a point in time when
control of goods are transferred.

Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Sale of packaging products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of the packaging products and payment is generally
due within 30 to 180 days from delivery, except
for new customers, where payment in advance
is normally required and the Group recognises it
as contract liabilities until the goods have been
delivered to customers. Some contracts provide
customers with volume rebates which give rise to
variable consideration subject to constraint.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its revenue from
sales of packaging products for not disclosing
the remaining performance obligations under the
Group’s existing contracts as these contracts had an
original expected duration of one year or less.

AREmEGEENS TR
Faﬁ,?iﬁﬁ@ﬁ%\"

(i) ERIEIE

AEBEOEEZEMBRAL
mr
HEBKEM

BHEENBEREMRIMTE
AEZK - BRFBEARK
T1%30= 180 RN EHIZ A+ -
HHEPARZABLMNRR
FAEEKEERSANEAE
B BEERATEPRXNEMRS
Ik BoAMATFREML
EOM - EMEHAZEHK
BAZRH)

HRZER ORISR B
BRR—F8EE AKEES
15 B8 B 7% RS 2RI 1558
FI2ABW A TRE AR
REHEBREMHBEA -
AU REBEAEERESLD
BT RIBRBELER o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁiﬁﬁ H:J"E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)

Other income, gains and losses 6 HWA - WEKEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
Other income Hip g A
Bank interest income H;RITH B A 26,068 15,608
Interest income from COFCO KRB H RIS AU
Finance (Note 37(a)) (H1:£37(a) 14,254 15,095
Committed dividend income froma KRB —REI& &b 2 & A
former joint venture (Note (a)) DEA (B 7t (a) - 68,643
Government grants (Note (b)) AT 8 (F7 72 (b)) 29,530 34,122
Rental income HelA 2,594 3,008
72,446 136,476
Other gains and losses Hitl R EE
Loss on disposal of property, plant ~ HEWE - BER&RE
and equipment g (4,027) (6,744)
Foreign exchange differences, net  JMEZ 58 F 58 26,953 23,318
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMB AR
(Note 32) (H1a£32) - 60,128
Other gains (Note (c)) HAb Wz (A5 (c)) 9,698 11,675
32,624 88,377
105,070 224,853
Note: Btat -
(a) Based on the instalment payment schedule as set out in (a) IRIF2020F4H28H %] 0158
the repurchase agreement dated 28 April 2020, during ez AT # 8 5 B s & - &L
the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group received F2022F12A31HIFFE - K
the sixth and seventh instalments of committed dividend FEWRFI & &1 REENEZE
from a former joint venture, Qingyuan JDB Herbal Plant BEXREYEE R AIENEE
Technology Co., Ltd., amounting to RMB68,643,000. FELHRAFESA - TEBARK
68,643,0007T °
(b)  The government grants are mainly granted by the local (b)  BATHERL TS F Z B B A T
authorities in the PRC to support local entities. There are ERRTUTHEMDE - ZF
no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these G A E S a0y Y%=
grants. FIH -
(c)  Other gains mainly consist of gains from the sales of waste (c) HtihamFZEiFHERERAE

materials or unused raw materials from the manufacturing
process.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) %é/ﬁ\j‘ﬁiﬁ% Bﬂ'%}

(AARBHIR)
7 Finance costs 7 HMBEA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: TH A EER DT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Interest on bank loans RITEFFE 277,285 101,964
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEF S 1,621 1,966
Interest on loan from non-controlling Bt /8 A &) 342 AEAX S EY
shareholder of a subsidiary B A - 564
278,906 104,494
Less: Interest capitalised D = N o PN (40,417) (16,777)
238,489 87,717
8 Profit before income tax 8 MRATBHAIRE
The Group’s profit before income tax is arrived at after REBERABBAFBENR,
charging/(crediting): GTAATIEB B3ZE
2023 2022
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
HaE ARET T ARBTT
(a) Cost of sales (a) SHERE
Cost of inventories sold BHEFERA 8,685,069 8,978,268
Realised and unrealised TEERIAD
fair value gains BN REIR
on derivative financial NEERES
instruments, net FER 26 (25,056) (5,183)
8,660,013 8,973,085
(b) Staff costs (including (b)) EIRASN(BEES
directors’ and REETHAEM
chief executive’s £)
remuneration)
Wages and salaries TENES 719,375 669,876
Pension scheme RIKSETE
contributions** R 79,539 70,764
Other benefits HAba 78,458 58,525
877,372 799,165
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ﬁé/ﬂ\j’i%iﬁ% H:j‘%} (Expressed in Renminbi)

UAARKETIR)

8 Profit before income tax (continued) 8 MKRATBHAIRIEE)
CONSOLIDATED
ELQLEI“:"LECTVTV:F The Group’s profit before income tax is arrived at after ANEBRR TSR B T 0Bk
O charging/(crediting): (continued) GFORTHEBZZER - (8)
2023 2022
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
btaE ARET R ARETFT
(c) Otheritems (c) HfEAE
Depreciation of property, Y - BB L&
22;';2[;:;‘:0 plant and equipment e 14 458,047 434,044
e — Depreciation of right-of- FRAEEETE
STATEMENTS use assets 15 25,586 26,280
SRS Amortisation of other HAb M & E g
intangible assets* 17 3,577 3,182
Research and kN
development costs™ 107,504 93,366
Impairment losses RIEFEHEEBRE
recognised/(reversed) R R
under expected credit (B E)HRE
FIVE-YEAR loss model, net: BT
o ~ Trade receivables* - B SR 20 442 1,292
HERTEEE - Prepayments, other - FEK - HAt
receivables and JE R R Eo A
other assets* AE 21 (8) 2,253
Auditor’s remuneration: ZEEM £ -
- Audit service - RS 1,800 1,700
- Non-audit services - FEBRS 700 700
2,500 2,400
* The research and development costs, impairment losses * HERXA - BZEWL - BN
of trade receivables, prepayments, other receivables and - A FEY R R A R E
other assets are included in administrative expenses in EBREEGAGEBBR XN T
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Amortisation B o EIEAE#HE A
of other intangible assets is included in cost of sales and FEBm AR HEXARRITE
administrative expenses in the consolidation statement of B -
profit or loss.
“* As at 31 December 2023, there are no forfeited contributions = RO023%F 12H31H  REE I 5%
that may be used by the Group as the employer to reduce ] F5 (E 18 3 Rl 15 232 5 (kK F 2
the existing level of contributions (2022:Nil). G (20224 - HE) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) %é/ﬁ\j‘ﬁiﬁ% M:J‘%‘I

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1) of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the

9

UAARKESIR)

EERIETBRABZHME

RIFELEMRA - BEEREHUEN S
3NEURAR(BEESFFE
FOBROIF 28 FREERTET

Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of BABZHEHEEZNT :
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Fees e 1,125 1,069
Other emoluments: H A
Salaries, allowances and benefits e RMEEYET
in kind 1,429 1,633
Performance related bonuses FIRBEEICAL 1,911 2,349
Pension scheme contributions RIS 189 249
3,529 4,231
4,654 5,300

(a) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

(a) BYFHTES
FANTEILIFNTESH

during the year were as follows: w|eT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARETTT
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo ERERAN S 315 299
Mr. Pun Tit Shan S A4 315 299
Mr. Chen Jihua PR S A 315 299
945 897

The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services
as directors of the Company. There were no other
emoluments payable to the independent non-
executive directors during the year (2022: Nil).

EXMRFIRBILIFATEFTOMSE
DRELERRAEENREE
Ao FRLEENTELIFNTE
EHE M H B (20225 : &) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁﬁﬁ% MTJ‘%I (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARBFIR)

9 Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration

(continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and

9 EERIFIERETHRAEZME
(%)

(b)

HTES  FIUTESKE

the chief executive ETHAE
Salaries,
allowances
and Performance Pension
benefits related scheme
Fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
e 28 E3 ] e
we  RENEF REPA eI Rit
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETnr ARETx
2023 20235
Executive directors: 78S
Mr. Zhang Xin RAAE - 650 940 68 1,658
Mr. Zhang Ye' RELE - m 971 121 1,81
- 1,429 1,911 189 3,529
Non-executive directors; FHTES:
Mr. Zhou Yuan BAREE 90 - - - 90
Mr. Shen Tao ThREE 90 - - - 90
Dr. Zhao Wei HEfET - - - - -
Mr. Meng Fanjie ANETE - - - - -
Mr. Li Minghua FHELE - - - - -
Mr. Chen Qianzheng BRABEE - - - - -
180 1,429 1,911 189 3,709
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) %é/ﬁ\j‘ﬁiﬁ% M:J‘%‘I

UAARKESIR)

9 Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration 9 EERFTETHAEZHME

(COhtil’lUEd) (&) CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and (b) BITEE - kHTEERE BARGHER
the chief executive (continued) ETHRAEGE)
Salaries,
allowances
and  Performance Pension
benefits related scheme
Fees inkind bonuses  contributions Total
- E3) N NOTES TONHE
: - " . N N NSOLIDATED
ke REMER  EEREL HBEX At AL
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 STATEMENTS
ARBTT  ARETR  AREFT ARETRT ARETR L bl
2022 2020
Executive directors: H18% !
Mr. Zhang Xin FAAE - 850 1114 138 2,102
Mr. Zhang Ye' RELE - 783 1235 111 2129
- 1,633 2,349 249 4,231 FIVEYEAR
FINANCIAL
Non-executive directors: ¥ui1ES: S‘éMMARY
Mr. Zhou Yuan BRLE % - - - 8 BEEBEE
Mr. Shen Tao TREE 86 - - - 8
Dr. Zhao Wei BEET - - - - -
Mr. Meng Fanjie AAREE - - - - -
Mr. Li Minghua THELE - - - - -
Mr. Chen Qianzheng RAImEE - - - - -
172 1,633 2,349 249 4,403
1 Mr. Zhang Ye is also the Chief Executive of the 1 REEFXENMBARRNAEZTTHA
Company. g-
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above EXRANTHTEENNS
were for their services in connection with the IHEEBBEAARARIRAEE
management of the affairs of the Company and the FEENEENRBER - £
Group. The non-executive directors’ emoluments XA TRIERITEENM R
shown above were for their services as directors of DHEERTEARRRWEB L
the Company and its subsidiaries, if applicable. R(NERESFHRBEER -
There was no arrangement under which a director FERAFRLTBESEHE
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive ZITHABREBEEM LYK
remuneration in both years. EXREREMNS -
Annual Report 2023 %[ R4 289
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ﬁé/ﬂ\j’i%iﬁ% H:j‘%} (Expressed in Renminbi)

UAARKETIR)

10 Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees during the year included
two (2022: two) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out above. Details of the remuneration for the
year of the remaining three (2022: three) highest paid
employees who are neither a director nor chief executive
of the Company are as follows:

10 EEHFMESWES

FAREZFHESNEERERSA
(2022%F : MEZ)EE » HFHSFHB
BEENEX - FAREHB =% (2022
F R BReFMNELARAES
HEBITHABREREMNESFH BN
—|T :

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMET T AREFIT

Salaries, allowances and e EZMEEWER
benefits in kind 1,935 2,037
Performance related bonuses FRIRHLEIEAT 1,977 2,318
Pension scheme contributions RIRE R 364 333
4,276 4,688

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

MEeEEA THERNZIFEZTRIFEETT
BABZ&=#HREEABMT

Number of employees

BEAH
2023 2022
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,5600,00187T%2,000,00078 7T 3 3

11 Income tax expense

Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year (2022: Nil). Taxes on profits
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates
of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group

11 FEHAX

FRAARAEENETELBEL(E
AERVFE - A BABENG
Wi1E B 4 (20224F : f8) - Efbith
THERBAN B IR AR EEB
EREEEARITHREAENIA -

operates.
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
PRC Enterprise Income tax RS EMEH
Current tax BUVERTR IR 148,816 126,378
Over-provisions in respect BAEFEBEEE
of prior years (27,848) (16,905)
Overseas tax GINIE
Current tax BIHAR 18 166 -
Under-provisions in respect of MTFERETR
prior years - 9
Deferred tax RAETRIA 19,680 1,933
140,814 111,415
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) %é/ﬁ\j‘ﬁiﬁ% Bﬂ'%}

UAARKESIR)

11 Income tax expense (continued) 11 FrSBimx (@
CONSOLIDATED
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit AR R R B KB BT B A Bk STATEMENT OF
before income tax at the statutory tax rates for the BARER B)ETE B R IRBR PTG BLAT ﬁz\;g;?;w;

B ER B GEFHE BN

jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of its

subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense is as follows: HERWT -
2023
Hong Kong PRC Others Total
BB i Hity &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
- — - - NOTES TO THE
ARETRE AR¥TR AR%Tn AR®Tx EONSOLIDATED
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRFTSREAT(B98) /FIE (79,360) 706,908 (1,256) 626,292 FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
Tax at the statutory tax rates* REEMEFE 2 HIE (13,094) 176,727 (314) 163,319 GAMBERKE
Income tax at concessionary rate™ B E RE AT EH - (14,635) - (14,635)
Income not taxable for tax A RB 2 A (20) (17,149) - (17,169)
Expenses not deductible fortax R/ HIf 2 s 386 3,673 784 4,843
Over-provisions in respect BEFERBEE
of prior years - (27,848) - (27,848)
Utilisation of tax losses previously — BN AR FHEALNEE
not recognised g - (11,208) (304) (11,512) FIVE-YEAR
Tax losses not recognised AR BIAER 12,728 31,088 - 43,816 FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
Tax charge at the Group’s AEERERFIRHE HEHBHE
effective rate ZHIBRX - 140,648 166 140,814
2022
Hong Kong PRC Others Total
Hik H Hit Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETR
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETS iR (B518),/
FE (18,059) 652,097 (37,945) 596,093
Tax at the statutory tax rates® REEBERFEZ
i~ (2,980) 163,024 (9,486) 150,558
Income tax at concessionary rate™  $Z 18 L R AN PR
1FH - (11,348) - (11,348)
Income not taxable for tax ALERER 2 WA (135) (34,050) - (34,185)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR 2 B - 4,860 3,797 8,657
(Over)/under-provisions in respect @7 F & ({858
of prior years BiE), BETR - (16,905) 9 (16,896)
Utilisation of tax losses previously B F A 1E & T #ERR
not recognised KT IE RS 18 - (24,407) - (24,407)
Tax losses not recognised KRR 2 TIAE 18 3,115 30,232 5,689 39,036
Tax charge at the Group’s REERBERBE
effective rate AEZBRIERX - 111,406 9 111,415
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AARKTIR)

11 Income tax expense (continued) 11 FBHAX (R
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF * Pursuant to the approvals issued by the State Administration * IR 5+ RKBBLEEREZR
;’f;giﬁs . of Taxation of the PRC during the year ended 31 December 2013F 12H31H IF FEZ
. 2013, the Company and most of its subsidiaries registered #HE - B2013F1H1HE &
in Hong Kong and the British Virgin Islands are regarded as RNAIREREER RBHBRRF
Chinese Resident Enterprises (collectively the “CREs”) and St Mag X585 K18 2 6l # 58 E
the relevant enterprise income tax policies of the PRC are ABPEERLEEGHBIFEER
applicable to the CREs commencing from 1 January 2013. PR mEZEFEERELEE
JH B 11> 2 T 15 70 1 46 B B B
P
NOTES TO THE “*  Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the > WRIE B AR R ([ E AT
CONSOLIDATED “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, BHED)RIERRHENE I
:T:r':az::'rs the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries are 25% for both years. &G - F A E AT E L B A B
A Four (2022: Four) of the Group’s subsidiaries operating K F25% o K& FHHE F YK
in the PRC have granted a preferential EIT rate of 15%, (20229 : PIZ)[1/& 2~ 5] T3 R
by the relevant tax authorities. One (2022: One) of the B - M EEER FZE
Group’s subsidiary are qualified as high-tech enterprises YN T3 ST e s
in the PRC, and the relevant tax authorities have granted 7315%  KEEFE P —5 (2022
the subsidiary a preferential EIT rate of 15%. One (2022: F:—F)WBRRIFEFEZ &
One) of the Group’s subsidiaries are qualified as small FEM R EEE - W R
enterprises earning low profits in the PRC, and the relevant BTEZNERa BRLENE
FIVE-YEAR tax authorities have granted the subsidiary preferential EIT BHERI6% - FEFAF—F
FINANCIAL rate of 2.5% (2022: 2.5%). (2022%F : —xK)ME L AlfF 4
SUMMARY Bz R EE - B
RS HROEFEZNE AR BED
EERHHER2.5% (2022 :
2.5%) °
12 Dividends 12 RE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R AREETT
Interim — RMB0.122 - BREBRR
(2022: RMBO0.120) AR#0.1227C
per ordinary share (20224 : AR#0.1207T) 135,838 133,611
Proposed final — RMB Nil BEARE -SREBER
(2022: RMBO0.098) ARBEEZ T
per ordinary share (20224 : AR™0.0987T) - 109,115
135,838 242,726

No final dividend was proposed for ordinary equity holders

HZE2023F12A31HIEFE » AR

Al R A B AR B AR
BHARHBE - BMERRTTEZ
KBRS

of the Company in respect of the year ended 31 December
2023, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end
of the reporting period.

RNATEER2023F3A 2200 &%
RNEZ2022F 128318 IEFE
FRHRR B - HEER AR FRR2023
FEA0BMBEREFT AT &M
o WIERAENRE E2023F12A8
TEIEEFEMNDIK

The final dividend in respect of the year ended 31
December 2022 was proposed by the directors of the
Company on 22 March 2023, and subsequently approved
at the Company’s Annual General Meeting on 30 May 2023
and recognised as distribution during the year ended 31
December 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁiﬁ% MisE

13 Earnings per share attributable to ordinary

equity holders of the Company

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company of RMB474,760,000 (2022:
RMB486,512,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 1,113,423,000 (2022: 1,113,423,000) in
issue during the year.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in
the calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year, as used in the basic earnings per share
calculation, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration
on the deemed exercise of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares into ordinary shares.

The diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 was same as the basic earnings
per share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary
shares in existence in both years.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share
are based on:

13

UAARKESIR)

RRAEBRREEE AR
HERAER

BREABFNHSBIIBRERTF
EHMAQAREBRBEAFTAEA
FEAEFE AR ®474,760,0007T
(2022%F : AR™ 486,512,000
T RFARNEEITE B INETF
#1801,113,423,000% (20224 :
1,113,423,0000%) 5T & 18 -

KA E PR 2 % BN F 1 8
PR ESRERRNZFAD
BITEBREE - ARBRIEITRE
EHEBEEEEEARSERRER
EERITZEBBNETFIH -

HZE2023F K2022% 128318 1
FEZ2ERBERIEGHRELAR
FIAER - REARZWETE &
A ETEETLBER -

SRR RBEERF YR TFIER
5

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETTT
Earnings &R
Profit attributable to ordinary equity ~ FA{EstEERERZBF] 2
holders of the Company, used PANCIEESEL i N
in the basic earnings per share FB AR TE
calculation 474,760 486,512
Number of shares
B8 E
2023 2022
000 ‘000
TR F iz
Shares gy
Weighted average number of REsTEREREF K
ordinary shares in issue during the ~ FRE Z1TEBARHY
year used in the basic earnings DNt 8L
per share calculation 1,113,423 1,113,423
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14 Property, plant and equipment

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁﬁﬁ% MTJ‘%I (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARBFIR)

14 Y% - BERRE

Electronic
equipment,
office
Machinery equipment  Construction
Leasehold and and in
Buildings  improvements equipment Vehicles fixtures progress Total
ETRfE-
g HAE
£ NEEE  BERRE EHIE  REREE ERIE At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR  ARETR  ARMTn  ARETn  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
At 31 December 2022 and R2022E12A31AR
1 January 2023: 02351818
Cost FiA 1,979,806 26,732 5,844,797 80,867 215,187 899,109 9,106,498
Accumulated depreciation and 2EHAERNE
impaiments (523,287) (22941)  (2585,710) (57299 (187,180) - (336412
Net carrying amount BEFE 1,456,519 3,791 3,259,087 23,573 88,007 899,109 5,730,086
At 1 January 2023, net of ROBEIRIR - HB 3
accumulated depreciation TERAE
and impairments 1,456,519 3,791 3,259,087 23,573 88,007 899,109 5,730,086
Additions AE - - - 1,281 683 579,492 581,456
Exchange adjusiments ERA% 69,734 - KYAPY 14 111 19,325 126,311
Disposals thee (407) - (3616) (462) (3,19) - (7,683)
Depreciation provided during REEENERE
the year (62,970) (515 (358189) (6987) (27,387) - (4s8047)
Transfer upon completion RHREEA 123,073 32678 904,533 6,260 BB (1,101,090) -
At 31 December 2023, net of R023F 125318 + 11k
accumulated depreciation ZEHATERRE
and impairments 1,586,849 34,154 3,836,943 23,699 91,642 396,836 5,972,123
At 31 December 2023: H2023%F 12318 :
Cost A 2,162,827 59,610 6,773,352 85,834 301,390 396,836 9,779,849
Accumulated depreciation and ZTERAE
impaiments (575,978) (25456 (29%4,409) 621%5)  (200,748) - (3807,726)
Net carrying amount BEFE 1,586,849 34,154 3,836,943 23,699 91,642 396,836 5,972,123

CPMC Holdings Limited i@ B 24E AR A 7



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) %é/ﬁ\j‘ﬁiﬁ% Bﬂ'%}

14 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

14 ¥% - BERRE(E)

UAARKESIR)

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
Electronic CASH FLOWS
equipment, mARSREX
office
Machinery equipment  Construction
Leasehold and and n
Buildings  improvements equipment Vehicles fixtures progress Total
EtidA
HE FAERE
BF MERE  BERRE BHIA REE RIR &t
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 NOTES TO THE
_ g — we o — o — y - — e — e — CONSOLIDATED
ARETL  ARETR  AREFRr  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR ARETH ENANCIAL
At 1 January 2022: RO2F1R1R STATEMENTS
Cost Uk 1,916,776 X% 5740 6505 %683 66H 83NN S
Accumulated depreciation and ZiERGE
impaiments (13685) (19.18)  (2374109) (8091  (166314) - (o)
Net carrying amount FEFE 1,503,091 7,604 3,370,131 20,412 92,509 306,656 5,300,403
At 1 January 2022, net of R0 A18 - B3t
accumulated depreciation and TERAE
impairments 1,503,091 7,604 3,370,131 20412 92,509 306,656 5,300,403 FIVE-YEAR
Additions AE - - - 27 316 872,406 872,749 FINANCIAL
Exchange adjustments EXA% 1911 - 7213 70 155 - 9,349 . Z;;A ;gg;
Disposal of a subsiiary (Mote 32)  HE-FMEBLRA(H320) (7,588) - (603) (165) (29) - (8.385)
Disposals e (185) - (8874) (122) (805) - (9986)
Depreciation provided durng the ~~ RAFEHERIE
year (60,699) (3813)  (3343%9) 683  (28340) S 30M)
Transfer upon completion TREEN 19989 - 225,578 10,185 24,201 (279953) -
At 31 December 2022, net of K020 125318 - 1k
accumulated depreciation and ZEHAERRE
impairments 1,456,519 3,791 3,259,087 23573 88,007 899,109 5,730,086
At 31 December 2022: R2002F 1231H :
Cost FiA 1,979,806 26,732 5,844,797 80,867 275,187 899,109 9,106,498
Accumulated depreciation and ZTERAE
impaiments (523.287) (2041)  (2585710) (7090 (187,180) - (a3T841)
Net carrying amount ERFE 1,456,519 3791 3,259,087 23573 88,007 899,109 5,730,086

R2023F12A31H @ EEREFEA
AR #6344 370,0007T (20224 © A
R ¥325,100,00070) AN EE & T
W - BREREREDERAERRK
ANEEE RN E27 BT EE) ©

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment, with an aggregate net carrying
amount of RMB344,370,000 (2022: RMB325,100,000),
were pledged to secure Group’s borrowings as disclosed
in Note 27.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%%ﬂj‘ﬁiﬁ%& MTJ‘%I (Expressed in Renminbi)

UAARKETIR)

15 Right-of-use assets 15 FREEE
CONSOLIDATED
ELQLESLE;\,TVSO " Leasehold Leased
GARSRER lands properties  Machineries Total
HEL HEWE e Bt

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETR ARE®TRT AR®T:R

As at December 2023 R2023F128
Carrying amount FHEE 329,226 93,686 520 423,432
As at December 2022 20225123
NOTES TO THE .
EONSOLIDATED Carrying amount FHEE 337,624 81,734 1,100 420,458
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS For the year ended REZ2023F12A318
FEEEEE 31 December 2023 HEE
Depreciation charge wEZH 8,398 16,608 580 25,586
For the year ended REZ20225128318
31 December 2022 LFE
Depreciation charge TELH 8,876 16,824 580 26,280
FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL 2023 2022
SUMMARY 3
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEMHHE = e —
AR®ET T AREFT
Additions to right-of-use assets NEERREEE 26,808 62,305
Expenses relating to short-term leases 252 HIFA S B B@HIF X 9,746 8,476
Total cash outflows for leases HERRLAE 26,016 73,847
The Group leases leasehold lands, leased properties and REFEIRE B EI2ZE504F (20224 -
machineries under leases which run for a period from 2 2ESOF)MMNHERE L - 1
to 50 (2022: 2 to 50) years, at the end of which period all EVERKEE  RNEREREBRE
terms are renegotiated. The leases include no variable RE A EFES - BEAHEEN &
lease payments. BIEASHEEN -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi) 'éﬁ‘—\éﬁl\jﬁiﬁ% MisE

AARKTIR)

16 Goodwill 16 BE&

RMB’000
AREFTT

At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, R2022F1H18 ~ 2022 12H431H -

1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023: 2023F 1A 1H &2023F12A318 :
Cost B AR 240,973
Accumulated impairments 2FRE (7,000)
Net carrying amount REFE 233,973

Impairment testing of goodwill

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
through business combinations in the amounts of
RMB57,305,000, RMB 155,836,000 and RMB27,832,000 is
allocated to the tinplate packaging cash-generating unit,
plastic packaging cash-generating unit and aluminium
packaging cash-generating unit, respectively.

Tinplate packaging cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the tinplate packaging cash-
generating unit was determined based on a value-in-use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior
management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections was 14.5% (2022: 15.2%) and cash flows
beyond the five-year period were extrapolated using a
growth rate of 2.0% (2022: 2.0%), which was the same
as the long term average growth rate of the packaging
industry.

Plastic packaging cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the plastic packaging cash-
generating unit was determined based on a value in-use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior
management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections was 15.7% (2022: 14.5%) and cash flows
beyond the five-year period were extrapolated using a
growth rate of 2.0% (2022: 2.0%), which was the same
as the long term average growth rate of the packaging
industry.

EERE R

BTEITHRENR  BREFEH
UeBE & %8 & A R #57,305,0007C
AR 155,836,000 A R
27,832,000t E D RN EEES
OEBKRSELEN - BREE
REEFXBNNIRARIRESELS

fiz ©

BOEeREeELE N
FOSBRReEFEBMNATKED
CHENBREFEREEFEETE &
FAENRRREEEIEN T FH
FREEMNRSREEN - EA
RIS REFAMNEIRE B14.5%
(2022%F : 15.2%) - 5 & HAfE
BB e RENEMR2.0% (2022
F o 20% KB REME - JiEA
RITERKEFHEEE—H -

BBRERESEL BN
BRAOKBEELEMNNATKRE S
BEORBEAEENEEE HiE
BERSHREBEEMENAFH
FREEMNRSREEN - EA
RIS REFRAMEIRE B15.7%
(2022%F : 14.5%) - K 1 & HAfE
BB e RENEMR2.0% (2022
F20% KB REME - JiEA
RITERKEFHEEE—F -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MisE (Expressedin Renmmb\)

UAARKETIR

16 Goodwill (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Aluminium packaging cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the aluminium packaging
cash-generating unit was determined based on a value-
in-use calculation using cash flow projections based on
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved
by senior management. The discount rate applied to the
cash flow projections was 13.6% (2022: 13.5%) and cash
flows beyond the five-year period were extrapolated using
a growth rate of 2.0% (2022: 2.0%), which was the same
as the long term average growth rate of the packaging
industry.

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of
the tinplate packaging, plastic packaging and aluminium
packaging cash-generating units as at 31 December 2023
and 2022. The following describes each key assumption
on which management has based its cash flow projections
to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — Management determined the
budgeted gross margins based on past performance and
its expectations for market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant cash-
generating units.

Growth rates — The growth rates are based on the industry
growth forecasts and does not exceed the average long-
term growth rate for the relevant industry.

Based on the above assessments, no further impairment of
the carrying amounts of goodwill as at 31 December 2023
and 2022 is recognised, as there was sufficient headroom
available as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. A reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions would not cause
the recoverable amount to fall below the carrying amount
of the respective cash-generating unit.

CPMC Holdings Limited i &E AR A A

16 HE(E)

EERE RS (&)

5 e R S EL B
IPRERCELEENMNI KB SE
DIREFEREETEET HEA
%%%‘ﬁ&aﬁﬁﬁbﬁmﬁiﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂ
E%(Eﬁfﬁi/mgig\ E'J ﬁAfﬁi
u.b;%ﬁ,ﬁuEI’JE\SEE$7,%13.6%(2022
F:13.5%)  r MR AFEHEEK
RERETIFEA2.0%(20224F
2.0%)K)IG R EHEET - THE BT
ERKEBEFHIBRE T -

BEEOEE BEEKIRE
”*iﬁﬁéiﬁumzozﬁ&zozﬁ
12A31A R AEEREARE -
ATl B IR g i 17 g 2R ER)
EKHTFfF%RFHE{]XIEI BE&RETE

FEEEFE - ERERBBERE

REmSERNBHETREEN
$ o

A E - FrE MRRER R BT &
REAEAERSELEUARNE
ERE -

WEE - SHERRDENTEES
AT - TREEWTEN TS
KRR -

R EFEE - 20234 & 20224F
12A318 - IEMREEYEE—
SHERRIE - B 20234 K 20224F
12A31HMAEEEZMTE - @i
BREMEER EE B T2 A L
EeBERSHEeEEEMMNERR
@o



17 Other intangible assets

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HREM KRR

(Expressed in Renminbi)

UAARKESIR)

17 HtEREE

Patents
and Computer
licences software Total
ERIRET EREH |t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT AREFT
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of A2023F 1A 1H 2B -
accumulated amortisation M 25144 10,277 9,993 20,270
Additions NE 2,126 1,000 3,126
Amortisation provided during the year FREHERE (1,223) (2,354) (3,577)
Exchange adjustments P& 3 S0 E - (173) (173)
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31H 11,180 8,466 19,646
At 31 December 2023: R2023F12A31H :
Cost AR 41,160 34,536 75,696
Accumulated amortisation 2T (29,980) (26,070) (56,050)
Net carrying amount REFE 11,180 8,466 19,646
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of #2022F 1 A 1H 2B -
accumulated amortisation Mk 25t 11,260 11,057 22,317
Additions NE 148 926 1,074
Amortisation provided during the year /% s (1,149) (2,033) (3,182)
Exchange adjustments RS 18 43 61
At 31 December 2022 R2022F12A31H 10,277 9,993 20,270
At 31 December 2022: R2022F 12318 :
Cost A 39,034 33,536 72,570
Accumulated amortisation RitEE (28,757) (23,543) (52,300)
Net carrying amount EBFE 10,277 9,993 20,270
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%éﬂjﬁ%*ﬁ% MisE (Expressed in Renminbi)
(AARETIR)
18 Interests in joint ventures 18 REELEZHER
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETT
Share of net assets DIHFEE 51,011 20,917

CPMC Holdings Limited F&&

The balance represented the Group’s interests in four
(2022: two) joint ventures, which are not individually
material.

On 12 January 2023, COFCO Packaging Limited (“COFCO
Packaging”, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company),
Haoneng (HK) Limited and ORG development Limited
entered into a framework agreement, to incorporate
a joint venture, Blossom Sail Limited in Hong Kong.
COFCO Packaging will inject EUR8,920,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB64,896,000) in cash, representing
40% of the registered capital of the joint venture company.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, COFCO
Packaging had made cash contribution of EUR2,400,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB17,487,000) to Blossom
Sail Limited.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, pursuant to
a joint venture agreement entered into between CPMC
Investment Co., Ltd. ("CPMC Investment", a direct
subsidiary of the Company), Xinjiang Heshan Juli Chemical
Co., Ltd., and Jing Yu Xiang (Shanghai) Technology Co.,
Ltd., CPMC investment injected RMB8,750,000 in cash,
representing 35% of the equity interest, to Xinjiang MC
Packaging Co., Ltd..

For the year ended 31 December 2022, pursuant to a
joint venture agreement entered into between Wanhua
Chemical (Fujian) Co., Ltd., Jing Yu Xiang (Shanghai)
Technology Co., Ltd. and CPMC Investment on 11 August
2020, CPMC investment Co., Ltd. injected RMB4,680,000
in cash to CPMC Barrel Production (Fujian) Co., Ltd. After
that, the Group contributed 36% in total of the registered
capital of the joint venture company.

Aggregate financial information of the joint ventures that
are not individually material:

B RAS BRI (20225 -
ME)BELENES - EMERK
BWIFERIERX -

R2023F 17128 » AR EEAR
ARI(FERE]  ARAZ2EW
BRAE)  me(BEB)BARAAR
BRI BERAR ARG LIELRY
FENEBEMA L —RAE L ES
WERRE - PIEABEFUEEE
8,920,000 7L FEE RO ARME
64,896,0007T) * EAEE LR
& AH40% - B ZE2023F 12 A 31
HIEFE  REASECUNIRAESHE
¢ﬂﬁﬁﬁ®7/£§24ooooo 7ot (4R
BRI AREA7,487,0007T) °

HZE2023F12A31HILEFE @ R
BhREeEREEEERAF(FIE
BEIKE]  XRARMNEEZEWBA
ﬂ) FEMUE HETARAR
mfREx (L8R ER ARG AL
E}]méﬁ%u qu@z%?xéﬁ%ﬁ%@
EREBREERATIIERE AR
8,750,0007T ' 1535% % °

HZE2022F12A31HILFE - RIE
BELERB)BRAR - HER
(BRI ARAREFERER
BA20205E8 A11HEI LA LW
FOPREERABRARMPIE
FEER)BRARTEERE AR
#4,680,0007T ° 118 @ AREBEEE
HEHEE AR EMEAR36% e

ERBEEAS B MBEF
B

At 31 December

M12A31H
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Aggregate carrying amount of BRIFEERE AT
the individually immaterial joint REMBEmMEFN
ventures in the consolidated IREAasE
financial statements 51,011 20,917

ERABRAR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) £ -\éﬁl\yjﬁﬁﬁ H:J'EI

UAARKESIR)

18 Interests in joint ventures (continued) 18 REELEERE

CONSOLIDATED
Year ended Year ended ST?:;ZA it‘;vo\,;
31 December 31 December BARSRER

2023 2022

EZ2023F B ZE 20225

12A31H 12H31H

ILEE FFE

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMWTF T ARETTT

Aggregate amount of the Group’s AEEDHEERERE

share of joint ventures’ profit after A E4EER cgzgzt;;::s
tax 2,491 1,978 FINANCIAL
Aggregate amount of the Group’s rEESHAEECEEMER STATEMENTS
share of joint ventures’ other Wz 4858 S
comprehensive income 1,365 -
Aggregate amount of the Group’s AEBEEECESE
share of joint ventures’ total WS 1B %8 2 18738
comprehensive income 3,856 1,978
19 Inventories 19 F& VAR
FINANCIAL
2023 2022 i
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
Raw materials JRA R 701,299 771,727
Work in progress fE&m 229,888 247,443
Finished goods K& 696,325 652,398
Consumables FEM 100,528 98,851
1,728,040 1,770,419
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AARKTIR)

20 Trade and bills receivables

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%é/ﬂ\j’ﬁ%ﬁ% M:J"E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)

20 ESZRURKREREE

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMET T AREFTT
Trade receivables B 5 eI
— From third parties -REBE=H 2,530,346 2,481,450
— From related parties (Note 37(b)) - R EABFE A+ (B1:£37(b)) 130,771 80,065
2,661,117 2,561,515
Less: Impairments W RE (3,973) (3,535)
2,657,144 2,557,980
Bills receivables e =R 162,377 180,221
Trade and bills receivables B SR R EKEE 2,819,521 2,738,201

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit, except for new customers, where payment
in advance is normally required. The credit period is
generally 30 to 180 (2022: 30 to 180) days. Each customer
has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables and has a
credit control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management.
In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s
trade receivables related to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

The Group’s trade receivables from related parties are on
credit terms similar to those offered to the major customers
of the Group.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date
and net of impairment, is as follows:

AEBEGRTEFPEEN  EHER
REZABENK - FEEH—KRAB30
£180K (20224 : 30£180K) °
BREFHERSEER - A5KHE
SREBEHERERRE - &
RIUEEEHE B EERREE&
K- mREEABBLEENRFTE
HFOR » B0 bt E MAREE
ZREFERENRAERNEFH
B MUBEASTEERR - K
SEXYRAEBE ZREKEHT A
EAEARAEBEERE - B
JEM R EH R

NEEREEE S 28BS ERFT
mEAEBEBERFIRENEMUE
Ei&RERE -

NG EBRNE 5 UG R ERE
BiREZAE - YHBRRENER
DT

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREFTT

Within 3 months 3E AR 2,094,075 1,855,754
3to 12 months 3Z&12{8 A 724,908 881,735
Over 1 year 1F A E 538 712
2,819,521 2,738,201
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁiﬁi MisE

UAARKESIR)

20 Trade and bills receivables (continued) 20 ESRUWRREKREREE)
CONSOLIDATED
The movements in the impairment of trade receivables are B RWHHRBEZHET ¢ STS:;Y?(TWO\,;
as follows: BARSRER
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
At 1 January M1A1E 3,535 2,767
Impairment losses recognised, net  HERA B E 12 /F58
(Note 8(c)) (H1:£8(c)) 442 1,292
Amounts written off as uncollectible  #44TATUgEl > %8 (4) (524) CZ:T;:_E::E
At 31 December M12A31H 3,973 3,535 FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
BARBERNE
Impairment under HKFRS 9 BEAMBEHREEREIFE THRE
An impairment analysis is performed at the end of each AR S WE AR RS
reporting period using a provision matrix to measure TRESN - Ut 2EBEEE
expected credit losses. The provision rates are based on B KEREZEHBANANBEE
days past due for groupings of various customer segments AR REBEFPEHMIERE S E
with similar loss pattern, after considering internal credit Wk BREe ~ BRGDER & skia
ratings of trade debtors, ageing, repayment history and/ RE - BEBEBETEREBRUE FIVE-YEAR
or past due status of respective trade receivables arising BEANZEE P 5 EHE5 88 E FINANCIAL
from contracts with customers. Estimated loss rates RE - hETEBBEXRTIRER AR ﬁ;ﬂ;g'%g
are based on historical observed default rates over the FHANELDBREORGE '
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward- WHLATIE L BRI - — M E -
looking information. Generally, trade receivables are WME S EW TS EBER=F - BT
written off if they are past due for more than three years LABREH - BERBAITITIEARRR -

and are not subject to enforcement activity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%%ﬂj‘ﬁiﬁ%& MTJ‘%I (Expressed in Renminbi)

UAARKETIR)

20 Trade and bills receivables (continued) 20 ESZRWRREKREREE)
Impairment under HKFRS 9 (continued) BB BHMELERFIF T HIRE
(&)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk TR#FHEABEEE 2 BEARE
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a EEZEEREARRKINE
provision matrix: #}
As at 31 December 2023 R2023F12H31H
Past due
k]
Less than 1t03 Over 3
Current 1 month months months Total
mE AMMEAR 1238  BB3fEA @t
Expected credit loss rate BHEEBRX 0.00% 0.53% 4.21% 87.94% 0.15%
Gross carrying amount BHERE
(RMB'000) (ARETT) 2,654,796 1,315 546 4,460 2,661,117
Expected credit losses BHEEESR
(RMB'000) (ARETT) 21 7 23 3,922 3,973
As at 31 December 2022 2022 12A31H
Past due
faki
Less than 1103 Over 3
Current 1 month months months Total
g AREA 1£23EA  #BB3EA @5t
Expected credit loss rate BHEEBEX 0.00% 4.64% 8.33% 69.30% 0.14%
Gross carrying amount BERmE
(RMB’000) (ARETT) 2,549,048 6,142 1,872 4453 2561515
Expected credit losses BHEEESR
(RMB’000) (ARETT) 8 285 156 3,086 3,535

CPMC Holdings Limited F1gBEZR AR AR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20 Trade and bills receivables (continued)

Impairment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

At 31 December 2023, the Group endorsed certain
bills receivables accepted by banks in the PRC (the
“Derecognised Bills”) to certain of its suppliers in order
to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers with a
carrying amount in aggregate of RMB894,288,000 (2022:
RMB704,935,000). The Derecognised Bills have a maturity
from one to six months at the end of the reporting period.
In accordance with the Law of Negotiable Instruments
in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills have
a right of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks
default (the “Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of
the directors, the Group has transferred substantially all
risks and rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills and
there is no significant credit risk on such derecognised
bills being exposed since the bills are guaranteed by
banks which are either state-owned banks with strong
support or other credit-worthy financial institutions in the
PRC. Accordingly, it has derecognised the full carrying
amounts of the Derecognised Bills and the associated
trade payables. The maximum exposure to loss from the
Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills
and the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these
Derecognised Bills is equal to their carrying amounts. In
the opinion of the directors, the fair values of the Group’s
Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills are not
significant.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has
not recognised any gain or loss on the date of transfer of
the Derecognised Bills (2022: Nil). No gains or losses were
recognised from the Continuing Involvement, both during
the year ended 31 December 2023 or cumulatively.

Bills receivables that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows which are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding and for
selling purpose are measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income. All bills received by the Group are
with a maturity period of less than one year.

(Expressed in Renminbi)

20

nv_\é,ﬁ\jﬁiﬁ% M‘J‘%I
(AARER)
BEZRURKERREE (&)
BBV BRELERFIR THRE
(%)

M2023F12A31H » REFEREE
FHEBFEPRZRBITENDN
ETRKEZE(BCEEREE]
UBEBRENEBHREMBEEAEA
R #894,288,0007T (20224 : AR
#5704,935,0007T) U E B B ER ©
RERE IR - BUSERZ IR/ EIH

HRNF—ZEXEAR - REFEER
BX WZETEZRITED - M

HERRBEREANGREEHERE
ZE(HE2HR]) -EFRAR K
%@Eﬂﬁﬂy/ﬁﬁquﬁmz@KﬁB 7
Rk & B HRER - iz EEUEER
EBRVEEBENEERR - RE
RZEZBEARIT(RRIZFHH
BARTRTPEEMEERIFNS
BB R - Bk - HEBUHHE
REVEEREBERIEEE 5 BT
MEEREE AEERFE2 N
HUHER R R N FE D2 S BUH
REBMNARBRRESREMATH
EaEERRESENEREE - &
ERR AEEFE2HEIUEER
EENAFELTERK -

HZE2023F12A31HIEFE - A&
BN E RO ERER 2 B g
AL B E (20224 « ) - NEE
2023F 12 A31HILFEH KT -
NEETERSESEERRE -

FERDAHNEERE(EAXN
AERAREEXASHE) RHER
B RRRBRANTEF AR MBS
E A E - ARBERRNMER
BHR—FREIH -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁiﬁﬁ H:J"E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKTIR)

21 Prepayments, other receivables and other 21 AN HttEWRRHAM
assets BE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARBTIT
Current assets nEEE
Prepayments to third-party suppliers 81 758 = A (R 2 25X 179,523 147,140
Deposits B 19,978 58,159
Input VAT recoverable AU E 2z HE TR E 117,605 83,608
Prepaid expenses SCANE=353 16,251 6,700
Other receivables H b R 30,012 41,995
Amounts due from related parties FEULEEE A L FIE
(Note 37(b)) (H17£37(b)) 18,064 54,792
381,433 392,394
Less: Impairment B ORE (6,257) (6,285)
375,176 386,109
Non-current assets FRBEE
Prepaid expenses BHX 43,572 44,299

The movements in the impairment of prepayments, other
receivables and other assets are as follows:

AR - HtbEUGR RE & R
EEBHIT -

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBT T

At 1 January ®1B1H 6,285 4,032
Impairment losses (reversed)/ (B[R, HERHREEE

recognised, net (Note 8(c)) TR (F17#8(c)) (8) 2,253

Amounts written off as uncollectible  #i§5-~r] U [l > 4 %8 (20) -

At 31 December M12A31AH 6,257 6,285

Prepayments, other receivables and other assets mainly
represent prepayments to third-party suppliers and input
VAT recoverable. As there were no comparable companies
with credit ratings can be identified, expected credit
losses are estimated by applying a loss rate approach with
reference to the historical loss record of the Group. The
loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate.
The 12-month ECL loss rate applied for which there are
no comparable companies as at 31 December 2023 was
2.82% (2022: 2.29%).

Except for the above impaired other receivables, the
financial assets included in the above balances related
to receivables for which there was no recent history of
default. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the loss
allowance was assessed to be minimal.

CPMC Holdings Limited Fig BEZERER AR

AR Bt ERG R EMEEE
BB NE=Z T ERAE
KATU e 7 HETEIRE R o AR R EE
HABEEEFANTELEA
A AEEK2EBRAEBBRER
BRFEREBEEBRAGIEHREES
B BEEREREERERELAR
LA J2 Bt 3 B 155 50, B T8 B oK R 4 1
S oo ¥R 2023F12A31H £
BB RRINER - FTEAN12ME
REHEEEERR2.82%(2022
1 2.29%) °

BRUA EE R EE Y RSN - bl
EHRANBEN S RE EMTREE
IRADERH FEIGR A B - R2023F
2022512 831H » EBBETIEA
HIERE °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

22 Cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits
and restricted deposit

(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\j%iﬁ% MisE

UAARKESIR)

22 RERATEHEY  2ER
FRRBERFEFR

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBTT
Cash and bank balances R RIBITER 1,501,737 1,490,075
Deposits in COFCO Finance TR AR B 75 B0 1 3K

(Note 37(b)) (B17£37(b)) 890,000 890,000
Time deposits EHER 65,719 115,735
2,457,456 2,495,810

Less: Pledged deposits and B BEEEERRERS

restricted deposit: Tk

Pledged for letters of credit FLIEAFEDEE (1,433) (29,472)
Pledged for bills payables (Note 23)  #tFEfT 24 B #18 (i 5£23) (64,286) (86,263)
Restricted deposit BR BT - (8)
(65,719) (115,743)
Cash and cash equivalents HeMReEEY 2,391,737 2,380,067

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and three
months, depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term
time deposit rates. The bank balances, pledged deposits
and restricted deposit are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

All of the above deposits in COFCO Finance are held
for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitment
and have a short maturity of less than three months with
a determinable return when acquired. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, these deposits in COFCO
Finance are readily convertible to a known amount of cash
and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

RITHESRE B RITHERF RN
HEBME - REAKEHREFX
2 - FEEE S
—HE=ZEATE  DHIREBZ
72 A TE HA 1 AR R BRERM B, o $RAT
iEer - CHEWERRBRBITFERTY
FROMERFLCHEEEERTZ
BRTT e

N ERBRT R BHTFRTIRBE
TRBREARNSE AHRERE
(TR=@A) r ENBAKHEAR
EHEER - KRRAREERR  ZF
T FRRE U 75 1O 17 5K R BE B 3R ]
MgBENReAEELIART
x o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%é/ﬂ\j’ﬁ%ﬁ% M:J"E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKTIR)

23 Trade and bills payables

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date,
is as follows:

23 BEFRANRRENRE

R|ERR  REZAHFENE
5 FE T 30 B FE A< R B | BR e 5 AT n
-

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

Within 3 months 3E A A 1,832,215 1,849,725
3 to 12 months 321218 A 461,878 565,169
Over 1 year 1F A E 5,951 7,584
2,300,044 2,422,478

Trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and the
credit terms are normally 30 to 90 (2022: 30 to 90) days.

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s bills
payables were secured by the Group’s bank deposits
amounting to RMB64,286,000 (2022: RMB86,263,000)
(Note 22).

As at 31 December 2023, among the trade and bills
payables, trade payables of RMB403,000 (2022:
RMB246,000) were due to ORG Technology and its
subsidiaries, which are related parties to the Group,
and trade payables of RMB101,075,000 (2022:
RMB32,658,000) were due to CPMC Barrel Production
(Yantai) Co., Ltd. (“Yantai Barrel”), which is a joint venture
of the Group. These balances were payable within 90
(2022: 90) days, a credit term similar to those offered to its
major customers (Note 37(b)).

CPMC Holdings Limited Fig BEZERER AR

B HENA R EMNZERET A
ZEHAEE B30E2 90K (20224 -
30E90K) °

R2023F12A31H * AEENET
EREBRUAAREENRITTERAR
#564,286,0007T (20224 : AR
86,263,0007T) YEHE R (I 5E22) ©

HR2023F12A31H - ESEMNK
N 215 B 1R R AN 5 (B R g
TRESHMEENBARNES
JEF 7R A R #5403,0007T (20224
ANRB246,0007T) & fE 2N &= F
EETEREERMIES)BRAA
(EaBHNEZEGTAAR
#5101,075,0007T (20224 : AR
32,658,0007T) ° #ZFEFKIAHEMN0
K (2022F 1 QOR) N AT - H4E T
HXZ2RP ZEEGRFALG =T
37(b)) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) %é/ﬁ\j‘ﬁiﬁ% H:J‘%‘I

UAARKESIR)

24 Other payables and accruals 24 HthENARRESTER
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
Contract liabilities AHERE 51,941 40,952
Refund liabilities RFAEE 40,498 20,338
Salaries and welfare payables B TE REF 139,201 135,077
Accrued expenses fEZTE A 58,602 65,001
Guarantee deposits from suppliers ~ HIERRE S 20,664 26,186
Payables for purchases of equipment £ =% & & < 208 145,953 141,084
Amounts due to related parties JEfTRBE A LRIR
(Note 37(b)) (Bt5%37(b)) - 1,952
Other tax payables EMEMATRIE 31,844 53,250
Others EHfth 21,060 21,054
509,763 504,894

Other payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing and
have an average term of three months.

As at 1 January 2022, contract liabilities were
RMB42,135,000. Revenue recognised during the year
ended 31 December 2023 related to contract liabilities
at the beginning of the year was RMB40,952,000 (2022:
RMB42,135,000).

Hip R R B HE X TEE
FHFEHRR=MEA -

R2022F1 A1 » GHAEBARAR
#42,135,0007T ° B E2023F 12 A
S1HIEFE st AFHEHEEDN
BRI B AR A40,952,0007T
(20224 : AR ¥42,135,0007T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Fade)

25

26

/E\y_l‘i%iﬁ% H:j‘%} (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

Lease liabilities 25 HEAE
The following table shows the remaining contractual TREIAEB 2 HEBERNHT
maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities: BHVEARR
2023 2022
Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
BI& BIK =i &IE
HevhE HelE  HezBE ik
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT  AR®TR ARETT ARETR
Within 1 year —FR 13,084 13,197 12,002 13,478
After 1 year but within 2 years —FLBRERERA 10,407 10,731 6,755 7,998
After 2 years but within 5 years MENBBRFIAR 25,562 28,186 16,967 19,564
After 5 years TEE 38,379 43,662 41,130 44,047
74,348 82,579 64,852 71,609
87,432 95,776 76,584 85,087
Less: total future interest expenses  J, : 7 A S 8% (8,344) (8,233)
Present value of lease liabilities HEEBEZHE 87,432 76,854
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied BRANREEEBEZIMETHES
to lease liabilities is 2.52% (2022: 2.39%) per annum. BEREME B2 52%(20224F ¢
2.39%) °
Derivative financial instruments 26 fTHES@mI A

The Group has entered into various commodity futures
contracts to manage its market price risk arising from
the fixed unit price of aluminium to certain of the Group’s
customers conducted in the normal course of business.
These commodity futures contracts are measured at
fair value through profit or loss. A net fair value gain on
derivative financial instruments of RMB25,056,000 (2022:
RMB5,183,000) was recognised in cost of sales in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss during the year (see
Note 8(a)).

CPMC Holdings Limited F1gBEZR AR AR

NEBEVZERPBREL
AREBEEEBBREPASES
T & 5 85 7 88 M BB AL Ak AN T B B
MMmiZERRAR - ZSEHEM
AHELATFEFAEBR - FRET
EeBMITEMAFAFERIAR
#25,056,0007T (20224 : AR
5,183,0007T) B R AL A B &
RS E AR (R 5E8(a)) °



27

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁﬁﬁ MTJ‘%I

UAARKESIR)

Interest-bearing bank borrowings 27 FTEBITER
2023 2022
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
BERHE (%) HE  ARETT BEBEF®E%) HE ARETL
Fixed-rate - secured B - BHA 1.26-1.48 2029 2,155  1.26-148 2029 2,386
Floating-rate - secured %8 - 5## 5.55-5.68  2024-2026 258,113 352-385  2023-2026 253,160
Floating-rate - unsecured /3.8 - EH 3.55-6.62 2024-2026 5,020,393 2367545 2023-2026 4,955,902
5,280,661 5,211,448
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBET T
Bank borrowings are repayable in  JER N3 HAREERITHE R
the following intervals:
Within one year FE—FA 5,033,996 3,824,249
In the second year E-F 60,309 1,226,413
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=-ZFNF BEBEMRF 186,138 160,204
Beyond five years BRAF 218 582
5,280,661 5,211,448
Less: Amounts due within one year & : BN BEE T ATHIR—F
shown under current liabilities N EI BB~ 3B (5,033,996) (3,824,249)
Amounts shown under non-current  JERB)BEIB T ATHI A
liabilities 246,665 1,387,199

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s borrowings
amounting to RMB260,268,000 (2022: RMB255,546,000)
had been secured by the Group’s property, plant and
equipment with an aggregate net carrying amount
of RMB344,370,000 (2022: RMB325,100,000) (Note
14). The Group’s secured borrowings amounting to
RMB115,530,000 (2022: RMB109,117,000) had also
been guaranteed by a non-controlling shareholder of a

subsidiary.

MR2023%F12A31H » "EBER
AR#260,268,0007T (20224 :
AR #255 546,0007T) LA BREF
BEAARM344,370,0007¢ (2022
& . AR#325,100,0007T) 47 &
BETYE BE&BEEER
(FizE14) - AEEMNERERAR
#:115,530,0007T (20224 : AR
109,117,00070) IRE B — KM B A
BRI FEIE AR IR R AEAR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁ%iﬁi H:J‘%I (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

28 Deferred Tax 28 EEBIE
CONSOLIDATED
i;’;LEI“:"LEg‘VTVSOF The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during FRELEREBEEERBENE SN
BABSRER the year are as follows: N
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHBEEE
Accelerated
Accelerated tax  Accelerated
tax  depreciation tax
amortisation  of property, amortisation
NOTES TO THE of lands plantand of intangible Right-of-
e userights  equipment assets  use assets Total
STATEMENTS iiﬁ’,ﬁﬁﬁg %¥ N ﬁ%
REMHRRM Z & ke BEEEZ
BEBE MERERE MNEREEE CREEE EoHY
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETR ARETRT ARETT ARETEH
At 1 January 2022 #2022F151H 3,702 54,823 2,345 17,998 78,868
Deferred tax credited to REERETA
profit or loss (Note 11) ERHB A1) (309) (8,253) (252) (1,833) (10,647)
o Gross deferred tax liabilities 7820226 12331 H £
SUMMARY at 31 December 2022 BETHEAR 3,393 46,570 2,093 16,165 68,221
AEMHHE
At 1 January 2023 2023F 17 1H 3,393 46,570 2,093 16,165 68,221
Deferred tax (credited)/ RBEAGIA),/ ik
charged profit or loss ERRB(WE11)
(Note 11) (495) 22,633 - (7,809) 14,329
Gross deferred tax liabilities 720234124318
at 31 December 2023 BETHERR 2,898 69,203 2,093 8,356 82,550
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28 Deferred Tax (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁﬁﬁ MTJ‘%I

UAARKESIR)

28 EZEBLIR ()

Deferred tax assets BELEHBEE
Losses
available
for
Provisionfor  Provision for offsetting
Provisionfor  impairmentof  impairment of against
impairment  prepayments property, future
of trade and other plant taxable Lease Others
receivables  receivables and equipment profits liabilities (Note) Total
BARR 0% BER  TRREH
U] DE A Rz RRERR -0
AERE  RAERR AERE  AEZER HEAE () @it
RMB1000 RMB1000 RMB1000 RMB1000 RMB1000 RMB(000 RMB1000
ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2022 1202251718 586 1,008 813 6,357 17998 26,794 53,556
Deferred tax crecited/ WEREMEA/
(charged) toprofitorloss  (0B) ELAE
(Note 11) () 191 563 (291) (6,169) (1833) (5,041) (12580)
Gross deferred taxassels 2022041273184
at 31 December 2022 BEREER m 1571 522 188 16,165 2753 40976
At 1 January 2023 R023E1A18 m 15M 522 188 16,165 21,753 40,976
Deferred tax crecfl/ WBERMEA/
(charge) o profit o loss (B ERRA
(Note 11) (W) 110 1] (202) 5372 (8,190) (2434) (5,351)
Grogs deferred taxassels 12023 12A318H)
at 31 December 2023 BEEREERE 887 1,564 320 5,560 1975 19,319 35,625

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
HaBERER

NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
REM BRI

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
AFMBHE

Note: Others mainly represent deferred tax a
liabilities and provision for miscellaneous

For presentation purpose, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement
of financial position. The following is an analysis of the

Wret - AfhE 2 E2E/RAE BREM
B A1 E AR FOR -

rising from refund
expenses.

RERZY  BETELERBEER
BECREAMBARRKRFEH -
TERARNEERM B2 HMERD

deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting EERIB &R DT -
purposes:
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
Net deferred tax assets recognised 4R A BTG A i R FE SR Y
in the consolidated statement of BT IE B EIF 58
financial position (24,643) (24,811)
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised H4r4 BN R R Y
in the consolidated statement of EETIE B EFHE
financial position 71,568 52,056
Net deferred tax liabilities EEIEB EFE 46,925 27,245
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% MisE (Expressed in Renminbi)

AARKTIR)

28 Deferred Tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, no deferred tax assets have
been recognised in respect of the unused tax losses for
approximately RMB572,838,000 (2022: RMB288,049,000),
which included in the tax losses of approximately
RMB424,073,000 (2022: RMB197,147,000) that will expire
within five years, and other losses may be carried forward
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets
have not been recognised in respect of the above items
as it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the above items can be utilised.

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in the PRC in
respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. The
applicable rate is 5% or 10% for the Group.

Pursuant to the approvals received by the Company
from the State Administration of Taxation of the PRC, the
Company and certain of its subsidiaries are regarded as
CREs and relevant enterprise income tax policies shall be
applicable to the Company and these subsidiaries starting
from 1 January 2013. As a result, the Company and these
subsidiaries are therefore no longer liable for withholding
taxes on dividends distributed by their subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of retained
earnings generated.

For those subsidiaries not approved as CREs, the Group
is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in the Mainland China
in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.
Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary
differences attributable to accumulated profits of the
PRC subsidiaries amounting to RMB394,306,000 (2022:
RMB351,979,000) as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

CPMC Holdings Limited Fie B FIZRER AR

28

i A B 7H (48)

FERIBEE ()
R2023F12A318 » BHEF KRS A
HIEEEYHARES72,838,0007T
(20224 : AR #288,049,0007T)
MRELERIEEE - HEEERLY
ANE#424,073,0007T (20224F : A
R#197,147,00070) R EF N E
W HaEEraERAE - AR
HIHE A BB A BB AR R EFRH
B - ARTRAEE AR ERM
FEARKETESAN LMIEE
MR ERAEEECTHIBEE -

RE BB ZE N A B &I B
A FIR20084F 1 A 18 #EBELE & F
FIE kB IREBBMTEIIR - BEAS
Eiffs @ @AHEA5%10% °

BIEA QB EPBRBRRERHEE
RS KRR RERETHE QR
WREATEHERDE - RE2013
F1AIRRERBEELCEMEM
& o AL ARBI R ENE AR
15 42 Z8 b EL R FR B O AR S22 B B
NEIEAMNRE ARS8
IR

HRZEREHEATBEERME
ZHBARIME @ ALEBEARKT
B P 3 B 7 FY 5% BT B A B 2008
F1ARBREAZEAMREZ
B B BANTEINT - BEEIELRE 75
®EARERPEMB AR ZEH
H e RS = 2 A R%394,306,0007C
(2022%F : AR#¥351,979,0007T)
FHREETIEERE  AALAEERE
T C R E R AR
ZERRAETNA] RARKED -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁiﬁ% MisE

UAARKESIR)

29 Share capital 29 R
2023 2022
No. of No. of
shares RMB’000 shares RMB'000
BHEE AR®TR BEE ARBTL
Ordinary shares, issued and Tk BETRAR
fully paid 1,113,423,000 2,730,433 1,113,423,000 2,730,433
30 Reserves 30 f#fE
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements REBRAKAFEE RBEFE 2 HHE
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the HERREEDENGREERED
consolidated statement of changes in equity. RE25 -
Capital reserves BERFE

The capital reserves represent: 1) additional contribution
made by the non-controlling shareholders of the
Company’s subsidiaries; 2) in the case of an acquisition
of an additional equity interest in a non-wholly owned
subsidiary, the difference between the cost of acquisition
and the non-controlling interests acquired; and 3) in
the case of a settlement of a shareholder’s loans, the
difference between the carrying amount of loans and the
consideration.

Statutory reserve

Subsidiaries of the Company established in the PRC are
required to make appropriations to a certain statutory
reserve, namely the reserve funds, from their statutory
profit for the year after offsetting accumulated losses as
determined under the PRC accounting regulations from
prior years and before profit distribution to equity holders.
The percentage to be appropriated to such statutory
reserve funds is determined according to the relevant
regulations in the PRC at 10% or at the discretion of the
boards of directors of the respective companies.

BERRERE  )ARBMERA
ZIEBRBREH ZREINER ¢ 2)
B IR A M B A BB IM
BT - WEKARCWEEIRE
BrEzmz =8 RIRBFERRE
RME EFEKREEEEZE
B

EERE
ARABRFBEIK I BRRER
HFRZEEMBEEREPHE
FHEARETEMBATE Rt EE%
R AR A A AELFE S IRAT)
ME T EERMEGHES) B -
BrRZEEERESELNBERL
BIAR 1% BIAR B A AR A 10% &9t &
FHSTHAGNEZTSMIEET -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%%E\jﬁiﬁ% MTJ'EI (Expressed in Renminbi)

31

UAARKETIR)

Partly-owned subsidiaries with material non- 31

controlling interests

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-

controlling interests are set out below:

ERERFERER 2D
BENELR

BAESAFEREE 2 AR ENE
RRESIIT

2023 2022
Percentage of equity interests held  JEIRRRERFTIFRAET DIt -
by non-controlling interests:
Wuxi Huapeng NS 15.52% 15.52%
Harvest Epoch L4 31.20% 31.20%
Benepack Hong Kong Limited BEMpEEEBRAFR
and its subsidiary (“Benepack”) EMBARITESH]D 49.00% 49.00%
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥EF T ARBFT
Profit/(loss) for the year allocated to 2 At & FE AR HE 25 £
non-controlling interests: FEFE(B8)
Wuxi Huapeng mIHZENS 3,265 2,880
Harvest Epoch AR 5,033 5,840
Benepack 14 569 (11,185)
Accumulated balances of non- IEERE RN WS B ES
controlling interests at the EE S
reporting date:
Wuxi Huapeng fEEH S 62,864 59,599
Harvest Epoch AT A% 184,947 179,914
Benepack B4 69,845 65,487

CPMC Holdings Limited F1gBEZR AR AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Partly-owned subsidiaries with material non-
controlling interests (continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts

(Expressed in Renminbi)

UAARKESIR)

RE M| RMEE

31 AEREXFEREZ 2SO

BREWE QR

TRFA LAKE R B PIBEER
BE - IRESRSKREAARME

disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: IR &5 ¢
Wuxi Huapeng  Harvest Epoch Benepack
EHENR IR % =4
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETR ARETR
2023 2023F
Revenue WA 509,809 1,230,081 618,267
Total expenses F > 85 (488,773) (1,213,949) (617,107)
Profit for the year FEFE 21,036 16,132 1,160
Total comprehensive income FEXANZEE
for the year 21,036 16,132 8,894
Current assets MEEE 303,565 522,647 689,378
Non-current assets FnBEE 197,934 296,957 659,418
Current liabilities nBaG (72,775) (224,310) (1,123,557)
Non-current liabilties FRBAR (15,670) (2,514) (82,654)
Net cash flows from operating activities &2EBEL 2R SR 2 FE 52,557 78,831 380,530
Net cash flows used in investing REEDFR R REFR
activities (10,665) (1,165) (223,268)
Net cash flows used in financing BEEDFR ReREFR
activities (17,110) - (125,191)
Net increase in cash and cash Re kR eEEMEMFE
equivalents 24,782 77,666 32,071
Wuxi Huapeng ~ Harvest Epoch Benepack
mHENR LD % B
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETFT
2022 20226
Revenue WA 577,728 1,508,192 431,770
Total expenses B 83 (559,173) (1,489,473) (454,595)
Profit/(loss) for the year FEFE/ (BB 18,555 18,719 (22,825)
Total comprehensive income/ FE2EMNE/(FY) B8
(expense) for the year 18,555 18,719 (18,647)
Current assets MEEE 310,820 554,531 646,132
Non-current assets FRBEE 188,870 316,348 708,749
Current liabilities mEBE (87,672) (291,664) (925,732)
Non-current liabilities FRBERE (20,000) (2,567) (295,459)
Net cash flows (used in)ffrom LETY(ER) /EE2EE
operating activities TEFE (1,443) 156,588 182,550
Net cash flows used in REFDFER RS
investing activities MEFHE (6,148) (3,727) (240,252)
Net cash flows (used in)/from BEEH(ER)/EEzRS
financing activities MEFH (19,276) - 109,659
Net (decrease)fincrease in cash ReRBReFEMORL)/
and cash equivalents EINFE (26,876) 152,861 51,957
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ﬁé/ﬂ\j’i%iﬁ% H:j‘%} (Expressed in Renminbi)

UAARKETIR)

32 Disposal of a subsidiary 32 HE—XMEBAA
CONSOLIDATED
ELQLEI“:"LECTVTV:F During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group REZE2022F 128318 IEFE - &
AT RER disposed of 100% equity interest in a subsidiary Shanghai SEURSHKEARK97,720,000
Pinguan Plastic Industry Co., Ltd, to an independent third TRABYE=AHEWRBAA L
party for a cash consideration of RMB97,720,000. The BmEERBIEARQF100%M
transaction has been completed on 30 September 2022. o RHEMR2022F9H30H =T
B o
2022
RMB’000
NOTES TO THE AREFIT
:.(:.:izl._,:?_ATED Net assets disposed of: HENTEESE :
STATEMENTS Property, plant and equipment (Note 14) ¥1% ~ = KM & & (Wit 14) 8,385
SRS Cash and bank balances e RIRITHEH 30,041
Prepayments, other receivables and TERR - Bt R R E A & =
other assets 92
Trade and bills payables B RN RENER (121)
Other payables and accruals His Sk R EFTE R (805)
37,592
s Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—KME A RS 60,128
FINANCIAL Total consideration BRAB 97,720
SUMMARY
HEREHE Satisfied by: AT ARSI
Cash B 97,720
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents HE—RMBARNRE RS
in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows: BYRAFEINTLAT
2022
RMB’000
ARBFT
Cash consideration RENRE 97,720
Cash and bank balances disposed of HERE MIRTTHES (30,041)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents & —ZKHBRRNEES X
in respect of the disposal of REZEWMRNEHE
a subsidiary 67,679
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) £ _\éﬂjﬁﬁi H:J'EI

UAARKESIR)

33 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash 33 FEREREKRMTE
flows CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
e CASH FLOWS
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities METHELEZARSH BARSRER

TR AREREZHELZA
BENESFE  BRRE MRS
g MERPELLBERAS
MEBRFRKREREGNAEE
MEERERERTIBABMER

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash
flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash

flow statement as cash flows from financing activities.

PELZHRERENEE -

|nterest' NOTES TO THE
. CONSOLIDATED
bearing FINANCIAL
bank Lease STATEMENTS
borrowings liabilities Total L bl
FRBTHER HEaE B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTR ARETR
At1 January 2023 R2023E151R 5,211,448 76,854 5,288,302
Changes from financing cash flows: BERSREZEE
New bank loans raised MEEMRITER 85,091 - 85,091 Ve YEAR
Repayments of bank loans ERRTER (118,794) - (118,794) FINANGIAL
Capital element of lease rentals paid BERfERE ERES - (14,649) (14,649) SUMMARY
Interest element of lease rentals paid BERfEREZFIESS - (1,621) (1,621) LEHTEE
Total changes from financing cash flows BEREREZYER (33,703) (16,270) (49,973)
Exchange adjustments ERAR 100,266 686 100,952
Other changes: Hin#s
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into new HuFRncREaE
leases 10 - 26,808 26,808
Interest expenses (Note 7) MERZ(H77) 277,285 1,621 278,906
Lease modification ME B - (2,267) (2,267)
Borrowing costs paid classified as operating cash B ALEBLHER
flows BRERAE (276,430) - (276,430)
Others Hity 1,795 - 1,795
Total other changes Lngges 2,650 26,162 28,812
At 31 December 2023 R2023512A318 5,280,661 87,432 5,368,093
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UAARKETIR)

33 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash
flows (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ﬁ{é/ﬂ\j‘ﬁiﬁ% M:J'%I (Expressed in Renminbi)

33

GeaRERERMTE (B

STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
BARSTER Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities RIEEEEE2EERE (E)
(continued)
Loan from a Interest-
non-controlling bearing
shareholder of bank Lease
a subsidiary borrowings liabilities Total
—FHBLE
NOTES TO THE 3?%@%%%
S WER HeEAEE  ERAE s
STATEMENTS RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
kb fa ARETT AREBTT ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2022 #2021 A1A 4,214,282 75,886 4,290,168
Changes from financing cash flows: HERSRECHE:
New bank loans raised HEENRTEN - 1,383,415 - 12383415
Repayments of bank loans BERTEN - (784,109) - (784,109)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BRAERS EXSA - - (15,017) (15,017)
VEEAR Interest element of lease rentals paid BRAERS FEHA - - (1,966) (1,966)
FINANGIAL Loan advanced from a non-controling shareholder of  —ZRHE 2 aIFERKE
SUMMARY a subsidiary BHER 64,895 - - 64,895
nEEERE Loan repaid to a non-controlling shareholder of BE-FHBLAFEER
a subsidiary REMER (69,777) - - (69,777)
Total changes from financing cash flows BEvEane £l b (4,882) 599,306 (16,983) 577 441
Exchange adjustments EXAE 4,882 397,860 1358 404,100
Other changes: A2
Increase in lease liahilties from entering into AUFRSLRERE
new leases )il - - 17,900 17,900
Interest expenses (Note 7) MEFzWH7) 564 101,964 1966 104,494
Lease modification HER] - - (3.273) (3.273)
Borrowing costs paid classified as operating PERIEREEN
cash flows BRERRE (564) (97,267) - (97,831)
Others At - (4,697) - (4,697)
Total other changes AEsEs - - 16,593 16,593
At 31 December 2022 2022512831 - 5,211,448 76,854 5,288,302
34 Pledge of assets 34 EHHEE
Details of the Group’s letters of credit, bills payable and AEEZERE  EBRERKRT
bank loans, which are secured by the assets of the Group, ERAREB 2 BEEER) 2FE
are included in Notes 22, 23 and 27, respectively. D RIE M EE22 ~ 23527 ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) %é/ﬁ\j‘ﬁiﬁ% H:J‘%‘I

(AARER)
35 Operating lease arrangements 35 REHERH
CONSOLIDATED
As lessor EREBEA ST(’;:;“:EE(TWOV;
The Group leases its machineries and individual properties REBERBCERE LG E#EE BAESRER

(which was not qualified as an investment property), under RTEEREREMENMED
operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for o BEEBEN T =2F (2022
terms ranging from three to six years (2022: six months to F:RERAZENF) - HEKTE
eight years). The terms of the leases generally also require BNERBEIZMNRESL @ AR
the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for BEETERLTHARES -
periodic rent adjustments according to the then prevailing

market conditions.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total
future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable

operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

REERREARBEEERPFT
F1 S T 5 BRI B B 2 N AT s A
HEAWE Z KRR KK S L5
™

NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
R BRRME

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBT T
Within one year —FR 3,830 4,680
Between one and two years —FREREMER 3,692 4,058 FIVE-YEAR
Between two and three years MEERE=ZFR 3,540 3,863 :m’:ﬁ:i
Between three and four years —FRENFA 2,492 3,541 REEE
Between four and five years NERERFA 548 2,482
After five years AFRE - 548
14,102 19,172
36 Capital commitments 36 EBEREH
The Group had the following capital commitments at the RIEAR - AEBH 2 EREHDN
end of the reporting period: N
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARMEFIT
Contracted, but not provided for: BRI AERBER :
Property, plant and equipment M - BE kB 225,667 463,023
Capital contribution payable to ERN—REaEhE2
a joint venture EARLE 51,242 -
276,909 463,023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁ%iﬁi H:J‘%I (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

37 Related party transactions 37 BELRS
CONSOLIDATED
ELQLEI“E"LE;‘VTVSOF (a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere (a) KREEFEHBHRIRHEAft
BATSRES in the consolidated financial statements, the FHZRZ 5 AEER
Group had the following material transactions FRERFEALTETHEKR
with related parties during the year: REWMTE :
2023 2022
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
=3 ARBT T ARETT
Transactions with COFCO: HAEHRS
CONSOLIDATED - Repayment of lease liabilities -EEREAR(BELAER
e (including principal and FBED)
STATEMENTS interest elements) (i) 1,503 650
SRS - Purchase of IT software and -BEAARMEERHRER
IT facilities BT (v) 149 268
- Supply of IT services and market -~ REE N R W57
consulting services R v) 529 1,000
- Purchase of products -BEEM (iv) - 55
- Addition to right-of-use assets - FRREELEN (vi) 2,902 -
FIVE-YEAR Transactions with related companies™: SEEEATNRZ*
;m;ig Transactions with COFCO Finance: ~ EAIBHHEMR 5
HENBHE - Interest income (Note 6) - FI B A (HF716) (i) 14,254 15,095

Transactions with COFCO (Hong HARREZRETEED)
Kong), a substantial shareholder RENRBAR(GREHE
of the Company, and its subsidiaries ~ (B/8)£E])HNZ 5
(collectively the “COFCO Hong
Kong Group”):

- Sale of products -HEEm (0 575,504 563,951
- Repayment of lease liabilities -EEHERBERELER
(including principal and FEEH)
interest elements) (i) 444 856
- Addition to right-of-use assets - FRREELEN (vii) 636 1,539
Transactions with ORG Technology, ~ EAAREERFRIEEHL
a substantial shareholder of the REMBAR(HHE Rine
Company, and its subsidiaries BMEEEDNRS
(collectively the “ORG Technology
Group”):
- Sale of products -HEEm (0 11,322 21,744
- Purchase of products -EEEm (iv) 14,703 33,088
Transactions with a joint venture of ~ EAEE—RAENEH
the Group 5
- Purchase of products -EEEm (iv) 292,602 202,479
* Related companies are companies under significant * BHERAZHPIEEX
influence of COFCO. ZH) ] o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁiﬁi MisE

37 Related party transactions (continued)

(a)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere
in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had the following material transactions
with related parties during the year: (continued)

Notes:

(0

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

The sales were made according to the published
prices and conditions offered to the major customers
of the Group.

The lease payments were determined with reference
to the prevailing market rental.

The interest income arising from the deposits placed
at COFCO Finance was determined in accordance
with the prevailing RMB deposit rates promulgated
by the People’s Bank of China with the same terms
and conditions.

The considerations were determined with reference
to the prevailing market prices/rates and the prices
charged to third parties.

The transactions were carried out in accordance
with the terms and conditions mutually agreed by the
parties involved.

The Group entered into a two-year lease with COFCO
in respect of a leased property, commencing from
1 January 2023, with an annual lease payment of
RMB1,500,000, payable in half-yearly basis, and was
determined with reference to amounts charged by
COFCO to third parties.

The Group entered into a three-year lease with the
COFCO Hong Kong Group in respect of a leased
property, commencing from 1 May 2023, with a
monthly lease payment of HK$20,500 (or equivalent
to RMB18,600). The lease payments were determined
with reference to amounts charged by COFCO Hong
Kong Group to third parties.

UAARKESIR)

37 BELRZ @&

(a) HBRZEEFEMBHMRAAMM
FHLZRZ5%  AEER
FREBEATETHEKX
RHBWMT : (&)

et

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

FRHETDRIRE TIEE
BRIER T AEETEE
F AR IFTAETT ©

HENK 2 ZHETHE

ELE T FH T
BMA T 8 P B B R
TR HEITARE R
B 3 12 18 A 15 50 R A 1F
MEE °

N EY Ea sy
15 FIE R FE = MR
EERSEEE -

BFHERXZIRESEET
T A0 FE 49 165K R MR 1
77 °

REFAFEGHEYZ
AT E20234 1 H1H# 5
EEMFNHEE  FHz
ABAR1,500,0007T &
EEL  HEREFE
B8] 3 = 5 YL BR B9 5 I8 14 B

F e

K EEF A NE (FE)EE
FLHEYEET L H2023F
5H1HEE BA = F il
E - Af= 520,500 T
(HIHERARE18,600
L) c M IR ZEh g
(BE)EFHRE =5 IR
BB EE °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ﬁé/ﬂ\j‘i%iﬁ% H:j‘%} (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARMFIR)

37 Related party transactions (continued)

37 BELIRZ (&

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties: (b) HEEALZBEHREERS
-
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AREFT
Trade and bills receivables (Note 20): B S RNG RIEWRE R W iF20) -
The COFCO Hong Kong Group g (BB &E 126,310 75,100
The ORG Technology Group Bl e REEE 3,348 4,965
Benepack Hungary Kift. Benepack Hungary Kift.
(a joint venture of the Group) (REE-REER%) 1,113 -
Prepayments, other receivables BT s R
and other assets (Note 21): BEWH21) -
The COFCO Hong Kong Group g (B8 &E 18,064 54,792
Trade payables (Note 23): B oM (H7223)
The ORG Technology Group Bl e REEE 403 246
Yantai Barrel 1E & B 101,075 32,658
Other payables and accruals (Note 24): H At e R ERTIEE (W iF24) -
COFCO g - 1,952
Deposits placed (Note 22): FRERRHri722) -
COFCO Finance hIgH% 890,000 890,000
Right-of-use assets: BREEE
COFCO (Note 37(a)(vi)) Fig (173237 (a)(vi)) 1,451 1,226
The COFCO Hong Kong Group g (BB &E
(Note 37(a)(vii)) (H15#37(a)(vii)) 486 916
Lease liabilities: HERE:
COFCO (Note 37(a)(vi)) Fig (17237 (a)(vi)) 1,473 2,569
The COFCO Hong Kong Group g (B8 &E
(Note 37(a)(vii) (H15#37(a)(vii)) 493 936
Note: Kt -

(i) Except for the deposits placed to COFCO Finance
which bear interest at prevailing market rates and
repayable on demand, the other balances are
unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of
repayment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁiﬁ% MisE

37 Related party transactions (continued)

(c)

(d)

Transactions and balances with other state-
owned entities

The Group operates in an economic environment
predominated by enterprises directly or indirectly
owned or controlled by the PRC government
through its numerous authorities, affiliates or
other organisations (collectively, “State-owned
Enterprises”). During the year, the Group enters into
extensive transactions, mainly covering purchases of
tinplates with State-owned Enterprises, other than the
COFCO Group, on terms comparable to those with
other non-state-owned entities.

The directors of the Company consider that
transactions with other State-owned Enterprises
are activities in the ordinary course of its business,
and that dealings of the Group have not been
significantly or unduly affected by the fact that
the Group and those State-owned Enterprises
are ultimately controlled or owned by the PRC
government. The Group has also established pricing
policies for products and services, and such policies
do not depend on whether or not the customers are
Stated-owned Enterprises. Having due regard to
the substance of the relationships, the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that none of these
transactions constitutes a related party transaction
that requires separate disclosure.

AAR

H5IR)

37 BELRZ @&

(c)

HEMBEAER2HENRS
)543
AEBELNLHERRERH
CEARZHTEBTEBE
ML R - BB E A
ABEELREEESES
MEE@HEIBEERE] - F
A ANER [ AR AR S B DA S
MBAELEETRERS
TESRRBEOHE KX
HEMIEELEZHRS
MR ARE o

ARREERR  BEAME
BLEZHANRSRERR
EBBRETETNES B
REBE R 5 E KK E
B 5% 5 f R B IR A AR
KEENBEELENRHM
REBEAILERE - AR
B 7T 1 E E m MR B E B
KR - ik F R A FEBUR
REFRERBALE - &
AHEEZEFHENLE
B ARAEERR/ZER
SMTERARITTARE
MBERRS -

Compensation of key management personnel of (d) FTEEFTEEEASNEH
the Group: G
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBTFT
Short-term employee benefits RHEREERET 7,252 8,337
Post-employment benefits BERL 2R A 553 582
Total compensation paidto key S FEEEEBAEH
management personnel e 7,805 8,919

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in Note 9.

EREFEREIZTHRA
MemE—ZHBHEHR
Qo

g2
B &
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%%ﬂj‘ﬁiﬁ%& MTJ‘%I (Expressed in Renminbi)

UAARKETIR)

38 Financial instruments by category 38 ZEREISNERMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial ESBMTEER  NEEERRS
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as BARIAT -
follows:
Financial assets eREE
Financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive
income (Debt instruments)
BRAFEFAEMEZEKEN
cREEEEIR)
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETT
Bills receivables JEW R IE 162,377 180,221
Financial assets
at amortised cost
BREBERATTEZSREE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETT
Trade receivables B 5 UK 2,657,144 2,557,980
Financial assets included in FTATER R - HAbEE R
prepayments, other receivables EMmEENSRMEE
and other assets 64,910 151,782
Pledged deposits and restricted EEBTFREBRSIFR
deposit 65,719 115,743
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEEY 2,391,737 2,380,067
5,179,510 5,205,572
Financial liabilities SRIBE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

REBERAITEZSMAE

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBFT

Trade and bills payables B 5 N RN ik 2,300,044 2,422 478
Financial liabilities included in other  FF A EABRE 5 R ERTEE &

payables and accruals TRBaE 286,777 275,615

Lease liabilities HEAE 87,432 76,854

Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHEIRITER 5,280,661 5,211,448

7,954,914 7,986,395

CPMC Holdings Limited F1gBEZR AR AR
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39 Fair value measurement of financial

instruments

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation
technique(s) and input(s) used).

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

39

UAARKESIR)

TRMTANQAFEFE

AEERBOEBMEENSHERR
BAFEE - TREHROAEE
ZETBMEEZAFEZENG
B R PR A 2z (A B Bty K B A B
) o

BAVEGFARMEEKENSE
BE

Fair value as at

Fair value hierarchy

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)

EEAEN
AFER AVESHERE BEgANEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT
Bills receivables  JEURZZHE 162,377 180,221 Level 2 Discounted cash flow
oy method. The key input is

market interest rate.

BRRLREE - BB
ABHEBTIERE -

Note: The discounted cash flow method uses only observable
market input.

There is no transfer between different levels of the fair
value hierarchy for the current period.

The fair value of financial assets are determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

Wiat - BARBE 2R B E A EET
BEARE -

RERE AR R FERBIE S EE AR
B o

TREENQATENREBEAREE
ERRERBSRONETE -

ARREERR  REEVBHRE
T EREENESRE EREIFENK
AARMEEEREEEN A FER

4+

Eo
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AARKTIR)

40 Financial risk management objectives and 40 HMBEBEEEERBEE
policies
Financial risk factors B RREE
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial AEEREEFEAEBEAEG TR
risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, price MBRRE : mSER(BENER
risk, and interest rate risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk. w - BREREAMERR) - FE
R RREE SRR o
The Group’s overall risk management program focuses REBHBRERRBREEFE SRR
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to SRTISH AT - W k&
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial AR E P RS R E I BRI
performance. BIETNZE -
(a) Market risk (a) MERERE
(iy  Foreign currency risk (iy SNERBR
The functional currency of most of the PiN/NETE: SR 2 QNN
Company’s subsidiaries is RMB since the B EE R AR
majority of the revenues of the subsidiaries ErRzEMB AR 2K
are derived from operations in the PRC. Some ZEIRANR B R R
subsidiaries of the Company have foreign e ARAIETHEBA
currency cash and cash equivalents and AANEBReRREE
bank borrowings, which expose the Group to BEYFBITIER - R
foreign currency risk. Management conducts SEEEINERR o &
periodic review of exposure and settlements of BEETHEMIREE
various currencies, and will consider hedging MR REE  WHE
significant foreign currency exposures should REFERELLHY
the need arise. SREARINERE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign REBEIINBIEHNEYK
currency denominated monetary assets EE@MHeRRAeEE
(representing cash and cash equivalents) W) R E % aEBIRTT
and monetary liabilities (representing bank BRORHE HHARNRE
borrowings) at the reporting date are as follows: (EV NN
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
Assets BE
HK$ (as functional currency of BT (ZREEBEEMNINEE
respective group entities) B AARE
against RMB 611,380 349,605
HK$ (as functional currency of BT (R EETEMNINGE
respective group entities) B¥)RET
against US$ 39,620 124,079
RMB (as functional currency of AR (REBEENE
respective group entities) B HZET
against US$ 4,531 32,330
RMB (as functional currency of AR (SEB TN
respective group entities) B BT
against HK$ 2,725 13,823
EUR (as functional currency of BT (R EETEEMNINEE
respective group entities) B¥)RET
against US$ 602 3,398
Liabilities afE
HK$ (as functional currency of BT (SEE TR/
respective group entities) B HZET
against US$ 2,478,953 2,437,245

CPMC Holdings Limited Fie B FIZRER AR
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AARKTIR)

40 Financial risk management objectives and 40 BIREREEEERBCR (&)
policies (continued) CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
Financial risk factors (continued) B ERSEZE (&) BARSRER
(a) Market risk (continued) (a) BRI (E)
(i)  Foreign currency risk (continued) (i)  HNERRR ()

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 5% (2022: 5%) increase and
decrease in the relevant functional currencies
of the group entities, against the following
foreign currencies. 5% (2022:5%) is the

BURIED AT

DT RFAFINAEER
ESEERABEEY
HUATIINEFEREE
5% (20224 : 5%) B Ky
FRJE » 5% (20224 :

NOTES TO THE

sensitivity rate which represents management’s 5%) R EXRTER CONSORBATED
assessment of the possible change in foreign [& ¥ SN [ 2 A B B ST,TT'LAMNEC,::;
currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes Zatd o BURE ST E GAMBRRAE
only outstanding monetary items denominated BIEAINBFHER KRB
in foreign currencies and adjusts their EEMIEE RRFRI
translation at the year end for the 5% (2022: HNEETE R 5% (20224F
5%) change in foreign currency rates. The 5%)c BBHEHBE#E

sensitivity analysis excludes balances which
are denominated in US$ for an entity with HK$
as its functional currency since US$ is pegged

1THE - RETHEET
B BURESTTE
B—RINEEB AET

FIVE-YEAR

to HK$. BB B AR TRHEN A FINANCIAL

ﬁ% ° SUMMARY

TESHHE
A negative number indicates a decrease in BEXRTESEEREEN
pre-tax profit for the year when the relevant EREEEE M K iE R
functional currencies of the group entities HNEEFHEE% (20224F -
strengthen 5% (2022: 5%) against the relevant 5%) s F [Z BR 50 A1 FE
foreign currencies. For a 5% (2022: 5%) B - EEEENNA
weakening of the relevant functional currencies IR B K AR NS

of the group entities against the relevant
foreign currencies, there would be an equal
but opposite impact on the pre-tax profit for the
year and the balances below would be positive.

B E5% (20224 : 5%)
e @ FEBREAFIH
BZEESEERARNE
2. L TEBEAL
ﬁ °

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®BTT
Pre-tax profit for the year FE R AT
HK$ (as functional currency of BT (ZEETEEMNINEE
respective group entities) BB AARE
against RMB (30,569) (17,480)
RMB (as functional currency of AR (S EBEEANINEE
respective group entities) B AET
against US$ (227) (1,617)
RMB (as functional currency of AR (REBTENTE
respective group entities) B BT
against HK$ (136) (691)
EUR (as functional currency of BT (R &EBEEEEMNINEE
respective group entities) B RET
against US$ (30) (170)

329
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AARKTIR)

40 Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

In management’'s opinion, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent
foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure
does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Price risk

Tinplate and aluminium are the major raw
materials of the Group. The prices for tinplate
and aluminium may be affected by market
demand and supply, domestic government
policies and other economic conditions. In
order to maintain a continued production
cycle, the Group has a policy of maintaining
a certain level of the Group’s tinplate and
aluminium inventories. The level of the Group’s
tinplate and aluminium inventories will depend
on orders on hand, the prices of tinplate and
aluminium in the market and the perceived
future trend of the tinplate and aluminium
prices. To partially minimise the Group’s market
price risk exposure, the Group enters into
commodity futures contracts of aluminium. In
selecting suppliers, the Group usually takes
into consideration the price and quality of
the tinplate and aluminium. The directors of
the Company believe it is not necessary for
the Group to enter into any long-term supply
contracts with its suppliers to ensure stable
material prices as there are various sources
of tinplate and aluminium and the Group has
not experienced any difficulties in securing
a steady source of high quality tinplate and
aluminium.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk mainly arises
from bank deposits and bank borrowings. Bank
deposits with market interest rates and bank
borrowings obtained at variable rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Bank
borrowings and lease liabilities obtained at
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk.

CPMC Holdings Limited i &E AR A A

40
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Prig R ER ()
i g ()

(a)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
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B I 1 BE I Bk 5 A &
B BERES AL
HREREBHIMNER

EiRR
BEO#EMiE R AREEN
FERERME - F O
IRERAIREF B H G H
B BEREBRFBERUE
HEM&BERRTE - A
ERIFEEABBOF
B ANEBESIT B
B AEER —TEKED
BEOEMIEFHE - A%
B #) 55 O =5 80 83 6 5 ER
RN FEERIE M55
H#E A aES A KA 78
BARKZEOEHMEBE
1% o BIRE NS B
ME T ERRE - A%
ErvinmErmms
4o NEEHERR
AEB-—HREEFOHE
MERIEEE - XA
RESZHE AREA
N8R R R % A AR
SEESHKEEESEO
) AN 88 12 7 2ROR 5 T A
mEREH - A ASEENW
TEZARESOEHM
B ZIBE mEaEN
BHE R F T R BB IR
HH) o

X
AEBENMNERARER
KERTEFRKLRBITE
Ko MIHMERITER
FRFRRITERSAE
BASRSREMNER
- ERBITERLA
ERERAKEARZA
FENERR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁiﬁ% MisE

UAARKESIR)

40 Financial risk management objectives and 40 BIREREEEERBCR (&)
policies (continued) CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
Financial risk factors (continued) B ERSEZE (&) BARSRER
(a) Market risk (continued) (a) W5 EE(E)
(i) Interest rate risk (continued) (i) FE=RpR (&)
The Group has not hedged its cash flow and AEETEGARSR
fair value interest rate risks. The interest rates 2 RATFERNERERE
and terms of repayments of bank borrowings TTAEME R o RITIERK
are disclosed in Note 27. FI R 38 SRR 5 B A B
TR o
NOTES TO THE
If interest rates had been increased or WP B & 2R G CONS:;T;;;E;E
decreased by 25 basis points with all other B K Ak T RR25 e
variables held constant, the Group’s profit BEE  AEEREZE BAMBRRAE
after tax for the year ended 31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H ILtF
would decrease/increase by RMB5,640,000 EOREFEERL
(2022: RMB5,542,000). 1# 10 A R¥5,640,000

T (2022F « AR
5,542,0007T) ©

(b)  Credit risk (b) 1=EEE FIVE-YEAR
The Group trades only with recognised and AEEEELRATY - FE FINANCIAL
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that REFWE=FETRS ° & ﬁ;ﬂ;@g
all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are BASERRE  FTHFAAE
subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, EXHEAERAAIRETRS
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing MWEPHETEREZ - 5
basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not LN ST L g e 3
significant. For transactions that are not denominated EITHERT  UBRASE
in the functional currency of the relevant operating ErHHEBRERZRRR -
unit, the Group does not offer credit terms without the HRAARARBABEBESEEMD
specific approval of the Head of Credit Control. M EBEENR S « B

AEBEREHBPIEER
BIALAE - BRIASE MK
ERRX IR -

Annual Report 2023 %[ R4 331




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%%E\jﬁiﬁ% MTJ'EI (Expressed in Renminbi)

UAARKETIR)

40 Financial risk management objectives and 40 BIEEREEEERBCR (&)
CONSOLIDATED policies (continued)
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS -
BARERER Financial risk factors (continued) B EBSEZE (&)
(b)  Credit risk (continued) (b) 1FEREEE)

The table below shows the credit quality and the TEREFR12A31BERK

maximum exposure to credit risk based on the SEEEBCR (FEREBBEH

Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past BR G EEMERESND

due information unless other information is available #A MK AR S 77 B AT BN AS Al

without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging ERRINEREREERE

classification as at 31 December. The amounts ERB&EAMB - 278 ¢
NOTES TO THE presented are gross carrying amounts for financial HERTREENEREIE -
CONSOLIDATED assets.
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
PN e B As at 31 December 2023 2023 12H31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 A
REGEEFR 2HRGEEEE
Simplified

FIVE-YEAR Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach
FINANCIAL o o - .
SUMMARY F-Re FRE E=RE R AE
AERBBE RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR AR®TR ARBTR ARETR AR®TR

Trade receivables* 2 Sk - - - 2,661,117 2,661,117
Bills receivables™ R R 162,377 - - - 162,377
Financial assets included AT »

in prepayments, other HE RIS R

receivables and other HEEENER

assets BiE

- Normal** - [EE™ 68,054 - - - 68,054
Pledged deposits and BEERAERR

restricted deposit BRHIET

- Not yet past due™** - WA 65,719 - - - 65,719
Cash and cash equivalents B4 KB EEY

- Not yet past due™** - WABE 2,391,737 - - - 2,391,737

2,687,887 - 2,661,117 5,349,004
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AARKTIR)

40 Financial risk management objectives and 40 BIREREEEERBCR (&)
policies (continued) CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
Financial risk factors (continued) B EMREE () ﬁc;\;g;;ﬁ
(b)  Credit risk (continued) (b) 1FEREREE)
As at 31 December 2022 2022F 12 H31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12(8 A o
BHEERSR 2HBRHEEHE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach N:TEf_E\::E
F-RB  E-RR 0 F-RBR B2AF SONS8

FINANCIAL

RVMBO0O ~ RMBOOO  RMBO0O  RMBOOO  RMBIO0O A reuEnTe
ARETR ARETR AREBTT ARETT ARET: e

Trade receivables* B YR - - 2561515 2561515
Bills receivables™ YRS E 180,221 - - - 180,221
Financial assets included T AFEM L~
in prepayments, other H A YR &
receivables and other HiEENER
assets BE
- Normal™* - EE™ 154,946 - - - 154,946
Pledged deposits and EERTRR
restricted deposit BRHTER o
~ Not yet past due*** - R A 115,743 - - - 115,743 SUMMARY
Cash and cash equivalents R & RBEEEEY REEE
~ Not yet past due*** - mARBH 2,380,067 - - - 2,380,067
2,830,977 - - 2,561,515 5,392,492

*k

*kk Kk

For trade receivables to which the Group applies
the simplified approach for impairment, information
based on the provision matrix is disclosed in Note 20.

The Group only accepts bills issued or guaranteed by
reputable PRC banks if trade receivables are settled
by bills. Therefore, the management of the Group
considers the credit risk arising from bills receivables
as insignificant.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is

Y BRAEERAE S5
TTR B HY B 5N K - 2
BT 18 40 R 4 B I
2057

v O WEZERIAERAE
H AEBEZAHEE
RAFH & B 1R 77 8772 &
REVZIR o B KK EE
BEERRENRZETEL
By = BRI TEX -

AT A NS B EK

considered to be “normal” when they are not past P K8 B A SRR
due and there is no information indicating that the ZEEHMEENEEER
financial assets had a significant increase in credit B 736 1 58 X K 7 &

risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit
quality of the financial assets is considered to be
“doubttful’.

As at 31 December 2023, all pledged deposits,
restricted deposit and bank balances were deposited
with licensed financial institutions without significant
credit risk. The Group has concentration of credit risk
as 36% (2022: 37%) of the Group’s bank balances
was due from COFCO Finance. Management does
not expect any losses from non-performance of these
counterparties.

w0 BB A E KGRI
[IEZE) - ZR - ZFLH
BEMEEEXRBIEF
52/ °

s R20283F 12H31H 0 AT
BEEHAGFERRERHT7
FAFNIRTT 45 R 1T TZA 5 HE
CEHEE NEEXEE
B - AEEERBEEE
R R A E B R
TTA 8 2 836% (20224
37%)KEHIEET T - B
B THEASHZELS
I F 1T E A T B KA (]
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AARKTIR)

40 Financial risk management objectives and 40 BIEEREEEERBCR (&)
CONSOLIDATED policies (continued)
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
BARSRER Financial risk factors (continued) B EBSEZE (&)
(b)  Credit risk (continued) (b) 1FEREEE)
Since the Group trades only with recognised and AR ASEEREERAN -
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement EERINE=ZFETR
for collateral. Further quantitative data in respect 5 W HBAEFERS -
of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from HASEEYEE S EWR
trade receivables are disclosed in Note 20 to the MEANEERBRBEBEMNE
consolidated financial statements. ZEERBEEEE M BmE
NOTES TO THE B 5E20FR # 55 o
CONSOLIDATED
AT (c) Liquidity risk (c) nBEDER
GAMBRENE Prudent liquidity risk management includes HENRDESRAKRERED
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the FHwFEHANReRESE
availability of funds through adequate amounts of BY - BBRRERAHE &
committed credit facilities and the ability to close out EEEREEENERTE
market positions. AESNEEMISET 28t
$ o
FIVE.YEAR Except for non-current interest-bearing bank BRIEMBIET ERITEREME
FINANCIAL borrowings and lease liabilities, all the Group’s EaEN  BREHRSHRD
s financial liabilities will be settled within one year or on BRTIBHEOBMRTE - &
. demand based on the remaining contractual maturity SEMBYMBRERN —F
date at the end of the reporting period. NHIREFFH o
The maturity profile of the Group’s interest-bearing BEBEELHRMRNERE - K
bank borrowings and lease liabilities as at the end SERJmERARDNG BRIT
of the reporting period, based on the contractual ERREEERENIBER
undiscounted payments, is as follows: U
6to
Lessthan less than 1to After
6 months 12 months 5 years 5 years Total
6%
DR6ER HR128A 1258 5% &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETR
2023 20234
Interest-bearing bank FERITER
borrowings 4,557,060 542,675 274,518 219 5,374,472
Lease liabilities HERE 2,801 10,396 38,917 43,662 95,776
4,559,861 553,071 313,435 43,881 5,470,248
2022 20225
Interest-bearing bank FEBRITER
borrowings 3,765,373 105,212 1,483,943 589 5,355,117
Lease liabilities HEEE 3,866 9,612 27,562 44,047 85,087
3,769,239 114,824 1,511,505 44636 5,440,204
334 CPMC Holdings Limited #rig @4 AR A7)
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40 Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net interest-bearing bank borrowings
divided by total equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company, in which the net borrowings are calculated as
total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

The Group’s strategy is to maintain a moderate gearing
ratio. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting

(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁiﬁ% MisE

AARKTIR)

40 HBEREEBERBER (&)

PtigERRER ()

EXEHE
AEEERERNTIZANRRE
AR BB ERE TR
EERMEARLL R feW s HEK
R AEBREE -

AEERESERAEE RIE@EE
EZRBREE  EEENEBTE
LI - BUEFRFARERNERE -
AEFETARMBREZFREN
S8 MREREERRBTITHR
5 o REBI KR Z EMERINREE R
HIEBRE - H{E2023F12A318 1
FE - BEEAMNBE - BURIE

HEEAEMAT 5K - ARERE
BARL REIRHEN o X THR
FTERTITE FUFBERR AR R BIIRA
FEARGEERFTE  EPREX
FESBRRERERCHAREE

A g 2 SR R S AR R A R
BHRKT o RIS HIR 2 IR %

periods were as follows: o
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
Total interest-bearing bank STRBITERERE W 227)
borrowings (Note 27) 5,280,661 5,211,448
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RERBRSEEY
(Note 22) (Hiet22) (2,391,737) (2,380,067)
Net borrowings B F5E 2,888,924 2,831,381
Equity attributable to equity holders AN QA G IR A B A FE(G
of the Company 5,555,226 5,378,744
Gearing ratio BB E 52% 53%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%%E\jﬁiﬁ% MTJ'EI (Expressed in Renminbi)

41

UAARKETIR)

Statement of financial position of the

Company

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

41 KD E B MR R R

BRAARANRE BRI BHMAE

ZEREIT

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T AREFT
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Right-of-use assets EREEE 486 916
Investments in subsidiaries NG NGRS 4,037,878 4,113,094
4,038,364 4,114,010
Current assets REBEE
Due from subsidiaries FEM KB A RIFRIA 2,621,035 2,806,563
Prepayments, other receivables and B3k + E fth fE U K2
other assets HEmEE 38 416
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREEEY 703,668 478,256
3,324,741 3,285,235
Current liabilities REEE
Due to subsidiaries AN NGIEEE 1,298,263 1,312,012
Other payables and accruals Hib 3k R EETER 3,463 8,071
Lease liabilities HERRE 205 862
Interest-bearing bank borrowings STEIRITER 3,156,663 2,098,093
4,458,594 3,419,038
Net current liabilities REEEFE (1,133,853) (133,803)
Total assets less current liabilities AEERTEBEE 2,904,511 3,980,207
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTEIRITER - 1,007,355
Lease liabilities HEaE 289 74
Total non-current liabilities HWIERBEE 289 1,007,429
Net assets FEE 2,904,222 2,972,778
Equity =
Share capital (N 2,730,431 2,730,433
Reserves (Note) e (M at) 173,791 242345
Total equity R 2,904,222 2,972,778
Zhang Xin Zhang Ye
RE R EE
Director Director
BE EE

CPMC Holdings Limited F1gBEZR AR AR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) %é/ﬁ\j‘ﬁiﬁ% Bﬂ'%}
(AAREZ|R)
41 Statement of financial position of the 41 KA T AR R TR (FE)
Company (continued) CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
Note: Mt - BARSRBE
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARELZ E AT
Share-based Exchange
payment fluctuation Retained
reserve reserve profits Total
DYy
ERZAE ERRBRE BRI Akt NOTES TO THE
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 °°"S:;f'j‘;i'z
Bz ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR o ATENENTS
As at 1 January 2022 720221 A1R 18,780 57,461 117,506 193,747 SRR R
Profit and total comprehensive & ;8 & 2 E 28
income for the year Fk] - 48,355 239,629 287,984
2021 final dividend declared B & E20214F K £, - - (105,775) (105,775)
2022 interim dividend 2022 R EIRR & 12 - - (133,611) (133,611)
As at 31 December 2022 and 120229 124318 &
1 January 2023 2023F1 718 18,780 105,816 117,749 242,345
Profit and total comprehensive % [E I8 & 2 B W zE ;L‘ﬁg;ﬁ
income for the year e - 34,608 141,791 176,399 SUMMARY
2022 final dividend declared BEIR2022FRBIKE 12 - - (109,115) (109,115) DFEHHEE
2023 interim dividend 2023 R HIIE A 12 - - (135,838) (135,838)
As at 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31H 18,780 140,424 14,587 173,791
42 Approval of the consolidated financial 42 HLEFREMEREK
statements
The consolidated financial statements were approved and EEZGR2024F3 208 #hfE K%
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 March TR E B mEk -
2024.
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Five-Year Financial Summary
hEHBEE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the published audited consolidated financial
statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is as below:

R

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A3101 £

TRENAEERBEREATBFEZ
¥E BE - BENRFERESEMR
HEERIDREEA S TIE
FHHE YEBEHEHHENE

7 == =)
BEIZIGE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT  AR®TT AREFTT AR®TT ARETR
Revenue WA 10,265,310 10,255,225 9,566,382 7,344,747 7,287,271
Cost of sales R (8,660,013) (8973085  (8,236,171)  (6,181,523)  (6,189,886)
Gross profit ER 1,605,297 1,282,140 1,330,211 1,163,224 1,097,385
Other income, gains and losses  EHUA ~ Wz K EE 105,070 224,853 142,245 107,290 61,389
Selling and marketing expenses ~ $HEREHER (392,930) (393,955) (409,853) (323,161) (315,794)
Administrative expenses THER (455,147) (431,206) (431,922) (341,344) (320,200)
Finance costs BB (238,489) (87,717) (65,590) (99,063)  (135,878)
Share of results of joint ventures  [EIGA S EEE 2,491 1,978 1,568 91 -
Profit before income tax BRETEHATRE 626,292 596,093 566,659 507,037 386,902
Income tax expense FEmEY (140,814)  (111,415) (93200)  (113,004) (80,363)
Profit for the year EEFE 485,478 484,678 473459 394,033 306,539
Attributable to: 1L
Equity holders of the Company ~ RNAQRRAHFH A 474,760 486,512 462,498 389,388 302,090
Non-controlling interests RS 10,718 (1,834) 10,961 4,645 4,449
485,478 484,678 473,459 394,033 306,539
Assets, liabilities and BE - B
non-controlling interests FERER
Total assets HwEE 14,242,759 14,074,506 12,991,814 11,796,365 11,317,531
Total liabilities peE (8,314,867)  (8,346,104)  (7,172,775)  (6,293,402)  (6,102,538)
Non-controlling interests FEE RS (372,666) (349,658) (341,341) (285,283) (279,289)
5,555,226 5,378,744 5,477,698 5,217,680 4,935,704
CPMC Holdings Limited F1gBEZR AR AR
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